Protein-Protein Interactions Mediating Hypoxia Inducible Factor-1 Complex Function

by

Julienne Jagdeo

B.Sc. (Hons.), Simon Fraser University, 2009

Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science

> in the Master of Science Program Faculty of Health Sciences

© Julienne Jagdeo 2012 SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY Spring 2012

All rights reserved. However, in accordance with the *Copyright Act of Canada*, this work may be reproduced, without authorization, under the conditions for "Fair Dealing." Therefore, limited reproduction of this work for the purposes of private study, research, criticism, review and news reporting is likely to be in accordance with the law, particularly if cited appropriately.

Approval

Name: Degree: Title of Thesis:

Examining Committee:

Julienne Jagdeo

Master of Science (Health Sciences)

Protein-Protein Interactions Mediating Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1 Complex Function

Chair: Dr. Angela Kaida, PhD

Dr. Timothy Beischlag, PhD Senior Supervisor Associate Professor

Dr. Gratien Prefontaine, PhD Supervisor Assistant Professor

Dr. Frank Lee, PhD Supervisor Assistant Professor

Dr. Jonathan Choy, PhD External Examiner Assistant Professor, Department of Molecular Biology and Biochemistry Simon Fraser University

Date Defended:

April 11, 2012

Partial Copyright Licence

The author, whose copyright is declared on the title page of this work, has granted to Simon Fraser University the right to lend this thesis, project or extended essay to users of the Simon Fraser University Library, and to make partial or single copies only for such users or in response to a request from the library of any other university, or other educational institution, on its own behalf or for one of its users.

The author has further granted permission to Simon Fraser University to keep or make a digital copy for use in its circulating collection (currently available to the public at the "Institutional Repository" link of the SFU Library website (www.lib.sfu.ca) at http://summit/sfu.ca and, without changing the content, to translate the thesis/project or extended essays, if technically possible, to any medium or format for the purpose of preservation of the digital work.

The author has further agreed that permission for multiple copying of this work for scholarly purposes may be granted by either the author or the Dean of Graduate Studies.

It is understood that copying or publication of this work for financial gain shall not be allowed without the author's written permission.

Permission for public performance, or limited permission for private scholarly use, of any multimedia materials forming part of this work, may have been granted by the author. This information may be found on the separately catalogued multimedia material and in the signed Partial Copyright Licence.

While licensing SFU to permit the above uses, the author retains copyright in the thesis, project or extended essays, including the right to change the work for subsequent purposes, including editing and publishing the work in whole or in part, and licensing other parties, as the author may desire.

The original Partial Copyright Licence attesting to these terms, and signed by this author, may be found in the original bound copy of this work, retained in the Simon Fraser University Archive.

Simon Fraser University Library Burnaby, British Columbia, Canada

revised Fall 2011

Abstract

The hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (HIF1) complex, comprised of a HIF1α and aryl hydrocarbon receptor translocator (ARNT/HIF1β) heterodimer, regulates the transcription of genes promoting tumour progression under hypoxia. Preliminary data suggests that the retinoblastoma protein (RB) attenuates HIF1-mediated transcription directly through interaction with the co-activator thyroid hormone receptor/retinoblastoma interacting protein 230 (TRIP230) to inhibit invasiveness of MCF7 human breast cancer cells. The objective of this study was to further characterize the invasive phenotype in MCF7 cells following loss of RB. Loss of RB resulted in a hypoxic-dependent increase in expression of HIF1 target genes involved in tumour progression. Protein-protein interaction analysis demonstrated that RB exists in complex with ARNT and TRIP230. Moreover, this complex dissociated in the presence of an ARNT-interacting peptide. Lastly, the C-terminal region of the TRIP230 RB-interaction domain has been identified as the minimal interaction domain. Altogether, these results further establish RB as an attenuator of HIF1-mediated transcription.

Keywords: hypoxia-inducible factor 1α, aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator, retinoblastoma, thyroid hormone receptor/retinoblastoma interacting protein 230, tumour progression

To my Aunt Betty and Chris.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my senior supervisor Dr. Timothy Beischlag for providing me this incredible opportunity. His advice and insight has helped me grow as a scientist and has given me the confidence to continue on in my graduate studies. I extend this thank you to my committee members, Dr. Gratien Prefontaine and Dr. Frank Lee. You have always welcomed my interuptions to ask questions, and provided me with thoughtful advice and support. I would also like to thank Dr. Jonathan Choy for taking the time to sit on my committee as my external examiner and to Dr. Angela Kaida for chairing my defense.

I cannot thank enough the remaining members of the '10750' labs, both past and present. You have all made the lab so much more enjoyable to come to everday. To Kevin Tam, Mark Labrecque, Mandeep Takhar, Nikita Soares and Reuben Meyers, thank you so much for all help, support and laughter. To Shazina Khan and Beryl Luk, thank you for sharing your support and grief over my pull-down assays. To Shabnam 'Shaborama' Massah, thank you for your endless encouragment and support - your optimism and spirit is contagious. To Kelly Sakaki, Hadi Esmaelisabzali and Samane Khakshour, thank you for all of the words of wisdom, coffee runs and pub nights. I have found myself a life-long friend in all of you.

Lastly, thank you to my parents for you unconditional love and support that has helped me grow into the person I am today. To June, you have always served as a reminder to me that there is no limit on what you can achieve. And to Jeremy – thank you for always believing in me, even before I could believe in myself.

Table of Contents

Approval ii Partial Copyright Licence iii Abstract iv Dedication v Acknowledgements vi Table of Contents vii List of Tables ix List of Acronyms xii		
4 1	ntraduction	1
1. 1	Ovugen homeostosia	ו ר
1.1.		∠ ?
1 2	The bul U/DAS family of protoine	د ۸
1.2.	1.2.1 The HIE1 transcription factor complex	4
		J 6
	1.2.2. This full	0 10
	1.2.3. HIF 20 and TIT 50	11
13	Tumour metastasis	12
1.0.	1.3.1 Angiogenesis	14
	1.3.2 Epithelial-mesenchymal transition	17
14	HIF1 and tumour metastasis	19
1.5.	Retinoblastoma protein	21
-	1.5.1. Retinoblastoma protein and cancer	24
	1.5.2. Retinoblastoma protein and HIF1	26
1.6.	TRIP230	27
1.7.	Objectives	29
	,	
2. I	Materials and Methods	33
2.1.	Cell Culture, transfection and nuclear extraction preparation	33
	2.1.1. Cell culture	33
	2.1.2. siRNA transfection	34
	2.1.3. pCMV-RB expression plasmid transfection	34
	2.1.4. Nuclear extraction preparation	34
2.2.	GST pull-down assays	35
	2.2.1. GST construct preparation	35
	2.2.2. GST protein expression	40
	2.2.3. Protein determination assays	40
	2.2.4. Pull-down assay and peptide construction	41
2.3.	Quantitative Real Time-Polymerase Chain Reaction	45
	2.3.1. Statistical analysis	47
2.4.	Western blotting	47

3.	Results	48	
3.1.	Loss of RB leads to enhanced expression of HIF1-regulated genes involved		
	in angiogenesis and EMT	48	
	3.1.1. Assessment of RB-specific knockdown efficiency	49	
	3.1.2. Effect of RB knockdown on angiogenesis master regulator VEGF	49	
	3.1.3. Effect of RB knockdown on expression of metastatic markers E-		
	cadherin, CXCR4 and vimentin	52	
	3.1.4. Effect of RB knockdown on VEGF, CXCR4 and vimentin expression		
	in MDA-MB-231 and LNCaP cells	55	
3.2.	ARNT, TRIP230 and RB exist as part of a multi-meric complex	58	
	3.2.1. Generation and expression of GST-ARNT fusion moiety constructs	58	
	3.2.2. Assessment of GST-PAS B pull-down of TRIP230 and RB	58	
	3.2.3. An ARNT-interacting peptide blocks GST-PAS B pull-down of		
~ ~	TRIP230 and RB.	61	
3.3.	The C-terminal region within the RB-interaction domain of TRIP230		
	contains the minimal interaction domain	64	
	3.3.1. Generation and expression of GST-TRIP230 fusion molety deletion		
		64	
	3.3.2. Assessment of GST-TRIP230 deletion construct pull-down of RB	69	
4.	Discussion	80	
4.1.	Establishing EMT in tumour cells is complex	80	
4.2.	Characterizing EMT through loss of E-cadherin	82	
4.3.	Establishing a general mechanism for HIF1-mediated tumour progression		
	processes regulated by RB	84	
4.4.	The role of RB in HIF1 transcriptional regulation	85	
4.5.	Existence of an ARNT-TRIP230-RB multi-meric complex supports a role for		
	RB in HIF1-mediated transcription	86	
4.6.	Establishing an ARNT-interacting peptide as an inhibitor of the HIF1-		
	mediated hypoxic response	88	
4.7.	Establishing the C-terminal portion as the minimal RB-interaction domain of		
	TRIP230	89	
5.	Concluding remarks	91	
Defe		02	
Refe	erences	93	
Арр	endices	118	
App	endix A	119	
App	endix B	120	
App	Appendix C		
App	endix D	122	
App	endix E	123	

List of Tables

Table 1.	List of primer pairs for PCR amplification of TRIP230 deletion constructs	37
Table 2.	List of primer pairs for PCR amplification of GST-ARNT constructs	39
Table 3.	List of ARNT- and TRIP230-interacting peptides	43
Table 4.	List of primer pairs for RT-PCR analysis	46

List of Figures

Figure 1.	Regulation of the HIF1 transcription factor activity8
Figure 2.	The role of RB in HIF1-mediated transcription
Figure 3.	Schematic of the GST-TRIP230 deletion fusion moiety constructs
Figure 4.	Schematic of the GST-ARNT fusion moiety constructs
Figure 5.	Schematic of the ARNT- and TRIP230-interacting peptides44/62
Figure 6.	RB-specific siRNAs siRB4 and siRB5 demonstrate efficient knockdown of <i>RB1</i> gene expression
Figure 7.	Loss of RB results in a hypoxic-dependent increase in VEGF mRNA accumulation51
Figure 8.	Loss of RB does not result in an additional hypoxic-dependent decrease in E-cadherin protein expression
Figure 9.	Loss of RB results in a hypoxic-dependent increase in CXCR4 mRNA accumulation and protein expression
Figure 10	. Loss of RB results in a hypoxic-dependent increase in vimentin mRNA accumulation but no change in protein expression
Figure 11	. Loss of RB results in a hypoxic-dependent increase in HIF1 target gene mRNA accumulation in MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer and LNCaP human prostate cancer cells
Figure 12	. TRIP230 and RB from MCF7 nuclear extract interact with a GST-PAS B construct60
Figure 13	. An ARNT-interacting peptide is capable of blocking ARNT-TRIP230-RB complex formation
Figure 14	. GST-TRIP230 protein recovery following multiple freeze cycles of bacterial cell pellets and high salt bacterial cell lysing conditions
Figure 15	. GST-TRIP230 protein expression following IPTG induction at different concentrations, exponential growth phases and temperature
Figure 16	. RB-interaction with GST-TRIP230 deletion constructs using MCF7 nuclear extract demonstrates inconsistent results70
Figure 17	. RB-interaction with GST-TRIP230 deletion constructs using cell lysate from 293T cells transfected with an RB expression plasimid demonstrates inconsistent results

Figure 18.	RB-interaction with TRIP230 deletion constructs using purified RB demonstrates inconsistent results	74
Figure 19.	Pull-down assay with GST-TRIP230 deletion constructs repeated using a mouse monoclonal antibody	75
Figure 20.	RB interacts with unbound glutathione agarose beads	76
Figure 21.	Expression of TRIP1236 and TRIP1247 constructs	77
Figure 22.	RB-interaction with TRIP230 deletion constructs demonstrates consistent interaction with the TRIP1247 construct	78
Figure 23.	The TRIP230 RB-interaction domain does not extend past amino acid 1264	79
Figure 24.	TRIP230 is required for RB recruitment to ARNT	.87

List of Acronyms

Abl	Ableson tyrosineprotein
AhR	Aryl hydrocarbon receptor
ARNT	Aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BCL	B-cell lymphoma
bFGF	Basic fibroblast growth factor
bHLH	Basic helix-loop-helix
BNIP3	BCL2/adenovirus E1B 19 kDa protein-interacting protein 3
BRG	Brm-related gene
BRM	Brahma
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
СВР	CREB-binding protein
CDK	Cyclin-dependent kinase
СООН	Carboxylic acid
CREB	cAMP response element-binding
CXCR4	C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DNMT	DNA methyltransferase
dNTP	Dinucleotide triphosphate
DTT	Dithiothreitol
E	Embryonic
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EGTA	Ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid
elF	Eukaryotic initiation factor
EMT	Epithelial-mesenchymal transition
EPO	Erythropoietin
EPAS	Endothelial PAS domain protein
E2F	E2 family of transcription factors
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
FIH	Factor-inhibiting HIF

G ₀	Gap 0/resting phase
G ₁	Gap 1/post-mitotic phase
G ₂	Gap 2/pre-mitotic phase
GST	Glutathion-s-transferase
HDAC	Histone deacetylase
HEK	Human embryonic kidney
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid
HIF	Hypoxia-inducible factor
HRE	Hypoxia responsive element
ID	Inhibitor of DNA binding protein
IPAS	Inhibitory PAS domain protein
IPTG	Isopropyl β-D-1-thiogalactopyranoside
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
KCI	Potassium chloride
КОН	Potassium hydroxide
LNCaP	Lymph node carcinoma of the prostate
MAPK	Mitrogen-activated protein kinase
MCF7	Michigan cancer foundation 7
MDA-MB-231	M.D. Anderson-metastatic breast
MgCl ₂	Magnesium chloride
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinases
MMTV	Mouse mammary tumour virus
mRNA	Messanger ribonucleic acid
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
MyoD	Myogenic differentiation antigen
NaCl	Sodium Chloride
Nfl	Neurofilament
p300	protein 300
p53	protein 53
PAS	Per-ARNT-SIM
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction

Per	Period circadian protein
PDGF	Platelet derived growth factor
PHD	Prolyl hydroxylase
PP1	Protein phosphatase 1
PPI	Protein-protein interaction
PU1	Purine box factor 1
PVDF	Polyvinylidene fluoride
PyMT	Polyoma virus-middle T antigen
RACK1	Receptor of activated protein kinase 1
RB	Retinoblastoma
RIPA	Radioimmunoprecipitation assay
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute
RUNX2	Runt-related transcription factor
S	Synthesis phase
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
SIP1	Smad-interacting protein 1
SIM	Single-minded protein
SRC1	Steroid receptor co-activator 1
SWI/SNF	Switching defective/sucrose non-fermentable
SUV39H1	Suppressor of variegation 3-9 homologue 1
TAD	Transactivation domain
ТАТ	Trans-activator of transcription
TGF	Transforming growth factor
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor
TR	Thyroid hormone receptor
TRIP15	Thyroid hormone interacting protein 15
TRIP230	Thyroid hormone receptor/retinoblastoma interacting protein 230
Tris	2-Amino-2-hydroxymethyl-propane-1,3-diol
VHL	Von Hippel Lindau
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VEGFR	Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor

1. Introduction

The development of cancer is a multistep process involving dynamic changes within the cancer cell genome that activates oncogenes and/or silences tumour suppressor genes, which ultimately drive unregulated cell growth (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). Tumourigenesis was initially thought of as a cell autonomous process, where a tumour cell's ability to sustain hyperproliferation and promote invasion were acquired solely through genetic mutation within the tumour cell itself. There is a growing body of evidence demonstrating an additional level of complexity directing tumour cell behaviour that is influenced by the context of its external environment. On the one hand, an infiltration of immune cells to the immediate surroundings, or microenviroment, of the tumour can initiate a host immune response against tumour-specific antigens and suppress tumour progression (Tanaka et al., 1986). Conversely, as genetic mutations accumulate over time, tumour cells can adapt to evade the host response and create an environment that promotes tumour growth and invasion (O'Byrne and Dalgleish, 2001). As a result, it is necessary to understand how tumours interact with their external environment to gain further insight into the molecular mechanisms of tumour progression.

The tumour microenvironment promotes growth and invasion either directly, through the release of factors, or indirectly, through the inherently hypoxic tumour microenvironment. All solid tumours develop regions of hypoxia, where oxygen availability is limited due to the uncontrolled growth of tumour cells which exceeds that of the existing vasculature, coupled with an increase in oxygen consumption by tumour cells to support tumour growth (Tannock, 1972). In response, tumour cells release angiogenesis-stimulating factors to induce growth of new blood vessels that penetrate the tumour and sustain tumour growth by supplying oxygen and nutrients (Folkman *et al.*, 1989). In addition, hypoxia activates mechanisms for cell motility to promote invasion and metastasis of tumour cells. Without adequate vascularization, most tumours will not exceed a few cubic millimetres in volume and remain clinically silent

(Folkman, 1966). Targeting factors required for angiogenesis has long been an attractive target for anti-cancer therapies, but current therapies eventually become ineffective or worse, promote a more metastatic phenotype (Ebos *et al.*, 2009; Paez-McCaw *et al.*, 2009). Once metastasis occurs, the cancer becomes increasingly difficult to treat and the disease prognosis worsens. Thus, targeting hypoxic-responsive factors that promote invasion, rather than angiogenesis, may be more effective at combating tumour progression.

This study focuses on the activity of the hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (HIF1) transcription factor complex, the primary transcriptional regulator activated in response to hypoxia. HIF1 activity is typically up-regulated in several types of cancer in response to tumour hypoxia and regulates transcription of genes involved in both angiogenesis and metastasis (Zhong *et al.*, 1999). Of particular interest was the protein-protein interactions within the HIF1 complex, and how these interactions contribute to angiogenesis and invasiveness. By addressing the importance of these specific protein-protein interactions, this work will not only contribute to our basic understanding of HIF1 transcriptional regulation in response to hypoxia, but will also provide further insight into the role of hypoxia in tumour progression and help identify potential novel therapeutic targets.

1.1. Oxygen homeostasis

All organisms possess mechanisms for regulating oxygen homeostasis to maintain proper cellular oxygen concentrations and are essential for survival (Semenza, 1999). In mammals, development of the cardiovascular and respiratory systems ensures that oxygen delivery is maintained throughout the body to sustain energy production through oxidative metabolism. Oxygen is metabolized within the mitochondria to produce adenosine triphosphate (ATP), the main source of energy required for several cellular and systemic functions, including protein synthesis, protein degradation, sodium/potassium pumping, urea synthesis, and glucose metabolism (Wilson *et al.*, 1988; Bailey and Driedzic, 1996; Hellstrand *et al.*, 1984; Kashiwagura *et al.*, 1984). Normal physiological concentrations of oxygen, or normoxia, vary among adult cells, from 21% in the upper respiratory tract to 1% within the bone marrow (Simon,

2008). Too much oxygen within a cell can result in excess ATP production that leads to an accumulation of oxygen metabolism by-products, called reactive oxygen species, which can damage the cell and cause disease (Galanis, 2008). Conversely, when oxygen availability is limited, cells would not be able to produce enough ATP to maintain essential functions, which can lead to cell death and eventually tissue necrosis. Thus, maintaining appropriate physiological levels of oxygen throughout the body is essential.

1.1.1. Hypoxia

Hypoxia refers to an oxygen deficiency within cells, tissues or whole organisms. Hypoxic environments occur under normal physiological conditions in both the developing embryo and adult. Embryogenesis typically begins within a relatively low oxygen environment prior to development of the circulatory system (Mitchell and Yochim, 1968; Fischer and Bavister, 1993). Local hypoxic microenvironments within the embryo serve as a signal to stimulate and guide the growth of cells that will eventually give rise to various components of the body, including the nervous, cardiovascular and pulmonary systems, as well as the placenta and bone (Ruijtenbeek *et al.*, 2000; Tomita *et al.*, 2003; Adelman *et al.*, 2000; Wang *et al.*, 2007). In a similar manner, hypoxia serves as a stimulus for wound healing in adults. Disruption of vessels initiates an acute hypoxic response that helps initiate an inflammatory response and stimulates the growth of new tissue and surrounding blood vessels (Knighton *et al.*, 1981). More recently, hypoxic conditions have been identified within the microenvironment, or 'niches', of stem cells, and appears to influence their proliferation and differentiation (Grayson *et al.*, 2006; Santilli *et al.*, 2010).

Hypoxia develops in response to disease as well, such as anemia, hemorrhages and pneumonia (Weiskopf *et al.*, 1998; Jones *et al.*, 1968; Ferstenfeld *et al.*, 1975). Acute forms of hypoxia, for example during wound healing, can initiate an adaptive response that promotes healing. Chronic exposure to hypoxia that develop in response to disease, however, can initiate an inappropriate response that impairs processes necessary for healing, which includes excess production of reactive oxygen species, elevated blood pressure, and enhanced production of signalling factors due to the persistant recruitment of inflammatory cells. As a result, exposure to chronic hypoxia can have severe negative consequences, including heart failure within chronic lung disease patients, and stroke in patients with obstructive sleep apnea (Yu *et al.*, 1999; Kline *et al.*, 2002; Brizel *et al.*, 1996; Lesske *et al.*, 1997). Longevity, in combination with poor lifestyle choices, have specifically put humans at risk for exposure to more chronic forms of hypoxia that can arise from tobacco-related lung diseases, artherosclerosis, cardiovascular disease and cancer.

Over time, exposure to hypoxia has favoured the establishment of an evolutionary conversed adaptive hypoxic response at the cellular level. When oxygen availability is too low, cells will adapt to survive by suppressing energy turnover and upregulating efficient ATP-producing pathways (Hochachka et al., 1996). This adaptation occurs as a two step process: (1) the initiation of transcription of key hypoxiasensitive transcription factors, which are then required for (2) the initiation of a second cycle of gene expression to regulate the synthesis of glycolytic enzymes to survive oxygen deprivation (Semenza et al., 1994; Semenza and Wang, 1992). Research has identified the HIF1 complex as a key transcription factor within the adaptive hypoxic response that directly regulates the transcription of several genes, including those involved in cell proliferation, cell motility, angiogenesis and glucose metabolism. HIF1 activity is essential under conditions of hypoxia that arise during development and wound healing, however, research has now uncovered a role for HIF1 activity under conditions of hypoxia associated with disease, such as cancer. Nevertheless, the molecular mechanism behind the adaptive hypoxic response mediated by HIF1 has yet to be completely defined.

1.2. The bHLH/PAS family of proteins

The basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH)/Per-ARNT-SIM (PAS) proteins are a family of transcriptional factors whose activity is typically regulated through the detection of signals from the external environment (Kewley *et al.*, 2004). Members of this family are characterized by a helix-loop-helix domain adjacent to a PAS domain consisting of two degenerate repeats of amino acids, referred to as PAS A and PAS B. Members of this family are divided into two classes; class I factors, which detect and respond to specific signals, and class II factors, which act as general binding partners for class I factors. Members of the class I factors include the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR), single-

minded proteins (SIM), and hypoxia-inducible factors (HIF), including HIF1 (Ema *et al.*, 1996; Wang *et al.*, 1995; Lindebro *et al.*, 1995). Upon stimulation, class I proteins heterodimerize with a member from class II, to form a transcriptionally active complex that recognize variant forms of the classic E-box core enhancer sequence. The most well characterized class II factor is the aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator (ARNT), which is capable of forming a heterodimeric complex with AhR, SIM and HIF proteins (Hoffman *et al.*, 1991; Wang *et al.*, 1995; Swanson *et al.*, 1995). Both the bHLH and PAS domains act as interfaces for dimerization, however, it is the bHLH domain that favours interaction with other PAS proteins, rather than forming a homodimer (Jiang *et al.*, 1996).

1.2.1. The HIF1 transcription factor complex

Higher metazoans, including humans, have three isoforms of hypoxia-inducible factors: HIF1 α , HIF2 α /Endothelial PAS domain protein (EPAS) 1, and HIF3 α /Inhibitory PAS domain protein (IPAS), encoded for by the *HIF1\alpha*, *EPAS1*, and *HIF3\alpha* genes, respectively (Semenza, 1999). The HIF1 transcription factor is a heterodimeric complex comprised of a HIF1 α subunit and an ARNT subunit, also referred to as HIF1 β (Wang *et al.*, 1995). Upon dimerization, HIF1 initiates transcription through hypoxia response elements (HRE), which are enhancer elements that contain the consensus core sequence RCGTG (Semenza *et al.*, 1996). HIF1 specifically interacts with the guanine residues, which lie within the major groove of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA), and selectively induces gene expression at HREs upstream of promoters under conditions of hypoxia (Okina *et al.*, 1998). There are more than 70 direct target genes of HIF1, which encode for proteins involved in several cellular processes, including proliferation, survival, angiogenesis and glucose metabolism (Wenger *et al.*, 2005).

In response to hypoxia, HIF1 mediates an adaptive response that can be both cell autonomous and tissue restricted. Acute exposure to hypoxia throughout the entire body can occur during ascents into high altitude or in response to pneumonia, which can induce HIF1 activity to maximize oxygen uptake while minimize energy usage (Forster *et al.*, 1974; Tissot van Patot *et al.*, 2004; Tzouvelekis *et al.*, 2007). Hypoxia stimulates specialized cells within the kidney to produce erythropoietin (EPO), a glycoprotein hormone that stimulates the production of red blood cells and is a direct target of HIF1

transcription (Schuster *et al.*, 1987; Wang and Semenza, 1993). Transferrin and the transferrin receptor are up-regulated by HIF1 as well, to facilitate an increase in iron transport to the bone marrow, where the production of red blood cells occur (Tacchini *et al.*, 1999; Rolfs *et al.*, 1997). Cells must also undergo several changes in their metabolism to reduce energy consumption. Among these changes include an increase in pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase, which directs pyruvate away form the mitochondria to reduce the synthesis of ATP through oxidative metabolism (Kim *et al.*, 2006). A reduction in oxidative metabolism is then compensated for by an increase in glycolysis, a process that synthesizes ATP from glucose. HIF1 activates expression of several glycolytic enzymes, including glucose transporter proteins, glyceraldehyde-3-P-dehydrogenase, and lactate dehydrogenase (Graven *et al.*, 1999; Semenza and Wang, 1992; Iyer *et al.*, 1998).

Local environments of hypoxia also arise in cases where wounds sever blood vessels, restricting blood flow to a limited population of cells. HIF1 initiates synthesis of new blood vessels, or angiogenesis, by enhancing expression of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), stromal-derived factor 1 and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) (Forsythe *et al.*, 1996; Hitchon *et al.*, 2002; Yoshida *et al.*, 2006). HIF1 also induces expression of the C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4 (CXCR4), the receptor for stromal-derived factor 1, and vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR), the receptor for VEGF (Gerber *et al.*, 1997; Elvert *et al.*, 2003; Staller *et al.*, 2003). Both receptors are involved with the mobilization and recruitment of mesenchymal stem cells, bone marrow-derived angiogenic cells, and endothelial progenitor cells, all of which are required for remodelling of both vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells.

1.2.2. ΗIF1α

HIF1 α is the most extensively studied isoform of the hypoxia-inducible factors. HIF1 α was first identified as a nuclear factor bound to the enhancer region of the *EPO* gene in response to hypoxia (Semenza and Wang, 1992). It is a 120-130 kD protein consisting of both an N-terminal and C-terminal nuclear localization signals and two transactivation domains, the N-TAD and the C-TAD, both of which serve as an interaction surface for co-activator proteins (Semenza, 1999). HIF1 α also contains a central oxygen-dependent degradation domain, which overlaps with the N-TAD and mediates the oxygen-dependent degradation of HIF1 α . Expression is detected in mouse embryos as early as embryonic day (E) 8.5 and is an essential for development, as *HIF1\alpha -/-* mice die at E9.5-10.5 (lyer *et al.*,1998a, Ryan *et al.*, 1998). These mice demonstrate severe defects in blood vessel formation within the yolk sac, bronchial arches, cranium, somites and placenta.

Activity of HIF1a is largely dependent on oxygen availability and primarily occurs at the post-translational level (Figure 1). Under normoxia, HIF1 α is constitutively expressed but is then rapidly degraded. Prolyl hydroxylases (PHDs) utilize oxygen as a substrate to hydroxylate HIF1 α at two specific proline residues, P564 and P402, located within the oxygen degradation domain (Ivan et al., 2001; Jaakkola et al., 2001). Hydroxylation of the oxygen degradation domain creates a docking site for Von Hippel Lindau (VHL) tumour suppressor protein binding, which then recruits elongins B and C, cullin 2, and RING-box protein 1 to form a functional E3-ubiguitin ligase complex (Iwai et al. 1999). VHL-E3 ubiquitin ligase complex ubiquitinates HIF1 α , targeting it for proteosomal degradation by the 26S proteasome. Factor-inhibiting HIF (FIH) provides an additional level of post-translational control by hydroxylating a specific asparagine (N803) residue within the C-TAD domain of HIF1a, which blocks the binding of the coactivator CREB-binding protein (CBP)/protein 300 (p300) (Lando et al., 2002; Lando et al., 2002). Like PHDs, FIH activity is oxygen dependent. FIH has a higher affinity for oxygen compared to PHD and would thus require more severe hypoxia to become inactive (Koivunen et al., 2004).

HIF1 α can be targeted for proteosomal degradation through VHL-independent mechanisms of HIF1 α proteosomal degradation. Receptor of activated protein C-kinase (RACK1) competes with heat-shock protein-90 for binding with HIF1 α . Binding of RACK1 to HIF1 α displaces heat-shock protein-90 and initiates recruitment of the E3-ubiquitin ligase complex (Liu *et al.*, 2007). Similar to the VHL-dependent pathway, HIF1 α undergoes ubiquitination and is then targeted for proteosomal degradation. Glycogen synthase kinase-3 has also been reported to target HIF1 α for degradation through ubiquitination in a prolyl-hydroxylation- and VHL-independent manner (Flugel *et al.*, 2007).



Figure 1. Regulation of the HIF1 transcription factor activity

Under normoxic conditions, the enzymes prolyl hydroxylase (PHD) and factor-inhibiting HIF (FIH), utilize oxygen as a substrate to hydroxylate HIF1 α at two specific proline residues. These hydroxylated sites then serve as a docking site for the Von Hippel Lindau (VHL) E3 ubiquitin ligase complex, which then targets HIF1 α for proteasomal degradation. Under hypoxic conditions, PHD and FIH can no longer hydroxylate HIF1 α , allowing HIF1 α protein to accumulate and translocate into the nucleus, where it will dimerize with ARNT and recruit co-activators to activate target genes through their hypoxia responsive elements (HRE).

Under hypoxia, oxygen is no longer available to serve as a substrate for both PHD and FIH activity. HIF1a can no longer undergo hydroxylation and results in an accumulation of HIF1 α protein. HIF1 α will then translocate into the nucleus, where it will dimerize with ARNT and recruit co-activators to activate transcription through the recognition of HREs in the regulatory regions of target genes. Expression of HIF1 α is detected within 30 minutes of hypoxia with maximal expression occurring at 0.5% O₂ and half-maximal expression occurring between 1.5%-2% O₂ (Jiang et al., 1996). HIF1 transcription is dependent on the recruitment of several co-activators that help stabilize the general transcription factors associated with ribonucleic acid (RNA) polymerase II. CBP/p300 is an essential co-activator that directly interacts with HIF1 α and helps recruit other co-activators such as steroid receptor co-activator 1 (SRC1), or brahma (BRM)/Brm-related gene (BRG1) (Wang et al., 2004; Arany et al., 1996; Carrero et al., 2000). SRC1 and transcription intermediary factor 2 are a part of the SRC1/p160 family of transcriptional co-activators that have histone acetyltransferase activity. These factors are recruited to the HIF1 complex in a hypoxic dependent manner to enhance transcription through acetylation of specific residues on histone tails, making the DNA more accessible to RNA polymerase II (Wang et al., 2010).

Regulation of HIF1 α activity can also occur through oxygen-independent mechanisms in a cell type-specific manner in response to growth factor stimulation. This allows cells to initiate HIF1 activity in response to other conditions of cellular stress, such nutrient deprivation. Both the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) and mitrogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways activate HIF1 α translation through the phosphorylation of translational repressors eukaryotic initiation factor (eIF) 4E-binding proteins (4E-BP1, 4E-BP2, and 4E-BP3). The mTOR signaling pathway is activated through stimulation by either growth factors, oncoproteins or cytokines, and results in the phosphorylation of 4E-BP proteins by extra-cellular-signal-regulated kinases (Magagnin *et al.*, 2008; Zhu *et al.*, 2009). Phosphorylation of 4E-BP decreases its affinity for eIF4E and enables complex formation with eIF4F. The eIF4F-complex is then allowed to interact with the 5' cap of HIF1 α messanger RNA (mRNA) and initiate translation. Similarly, activation of the MAPK signal-integrating kinase through the MAPK pathway phosphorylates eIF4E, enabling eIF4F complex formation and initiation of HIF1 α mRNA translation (Kasuno *et al.*, 2004). Calcium availability has also been reported to inhibit

HIF1α degradation. An increase in calcium increases activity of calcimeurin A, which in turn dephosphorylates RACK1 and decreases RACK1 affinity for HIF1α (Liu *et al.*, 2007).

1.2.3. HIF2 α and HIF3 α

In addition to HIF1 α , metazoan genomes encode for two other HIF1 α isoforms, HIF2 α and HIF3 α . HIF1 α and HIF2 α are the most structurally and functionally similar in that they can both dimerize with ARNT and mediate transcription through HREs (Semenza and Wang 1999). Both contain an central oxygen degradation domain and the two transactivation domains, N-TAD and C-TAD. Several human tissues express both HIF1 α and HIF2 α , however, HIF2 α is preferentially used over HIF1 α in the endothelium, kidney, lung, heart and small intestine (Ema et al., 1997; Tian et al, 1997; Wiesener et al., 2003). Both share similar target genes, such as VEGF, but also have a distinct set of target genes and transcriptional co-activators. For example, HIF1a is responsible for the transcription of genes encoding enzymes for the glycolytic pathway, but oct4, cyclin D1 and transforming growth factor(TGF)- α are predominantly expressed under HIF2α (Hu et al., 2003; Covello et al., 2006; Raval et al., 2005). The N-TAD serves as an interaction domain for HIF2q-specific co-activators and appears to contribute to target gene specificity of HIF2a, whereas the C-TAD interacts with several common co-activator proteins and promotes the expression of common target genes of both HIF1α and HIF2α (Hu et al., 2007). Unlike HIF1α null mice, HIF2α -/- mice can survive until mid to late gestation, but eventually die due to severe defects within the pulmonary and cardiovascular systems.

The role of HIF3 α is the least well characterized. Multiple isoforms of HIF3 α exist, which all lack a C-TAD and therefore can not bind with the co-activator protein CBP/p300. Most contain an oxygen degradation domain but contain only one of the two conserved proline residues, which is targeted for ubiquitination in the presence of VHL and PHD in an oxygen-dependent manner (Maynard *et al.*, 2003; Heikkila *et al.*, 2011). HIF3 α expression is even more limited compared to HIF1 α and HIF2 α , as it is only detected in the adult thymus, lung, brain, heart and kidney (Gu *et al.*, 1998). HIF3 α variants are capable of interacting with both HIF1 α and HIF2 α , and appears to repress HIF1 transcription by preventing translocation of either HIF1 α or HIF2 α into the nucleus

(Heikkila *et al.*, 2011). The most well characterized splice variant of HIF3α, referred to as IPAS, is particularly unique in that it does not contain an oxygen degradation domain and functions in a oxygen-independent manner. Moreover, IPAS acts as a negative regulator of HIF1 transcription by interfering with HIF1 binding activity to HREs (Jang *et al.*, 2005; Maynard *et al.*, 2005). When expressed in VHL null clear-cell renal carcinoma cells, a decrease in HIF1 target gene expression is observed and suppresses tumour growth in a tumour xenograft mouse model, suggesting that HIF3α may have therapeutic potential.

1.2.4. ΗΙF1β/ARNT

Similar to HIF1α, there are three paralogues of ARNT (ARNT/HIF1β, ARNT2/ARNT-like 2, and ARNT3/ARNT-like 3) (Takahata *et al.*, 1998; Hoffman *et al.*, 1991; Hirose *et al.*, 1996). ARNT was originally identified as a binding partner with AhR following treatment with the AhR ligand 2,3,7,8 tetracholorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (Hoffman *et al.*, 1991). ARNT is now classified as a class II bHLH/PAS domain protein that serves as a general transcription factor binding partner for class I bHLH-PAS domain proteins, including AhR, HIF1α and SIM. ARNT is both constitutively and ubiquitously expressed, and remains within the nucleus through its N-terminal nuclear localization signal (Hirose *et al.*, 1996). *ANRT-/-* mice are not viable past E10.5 and show similar defects as *HIF1α* -/- mice, such as decreased vascularization of the placenta, yolk sac, bronchial arches, cranium, somites and placenta (Maltepe *et al.*, 1997; Kozak *et al.*, 1997). ARNT transcriptional activity is likely mediated through its C-TAD that serves as a platform for recruiting co-activator proteins and chromatin remodelling factors, including CBP/p300, SRC1/2, gyrA C-terminal domain-63, and coiled-coil co-activator-A (Whitelaw *et al.*, 1994; Beischlag *et al.*, 2002; Kobayashi *et al.*, 1997).

While ARNT serves as a general binding partner for other bHLH/PAS proteins, ARNT is also capable of forming a homodimer that can mediate reporter gene transcription through a CACGTG E-box element. While the role of an ARNT-ARNT transcription factor is still unclear, DNA microanalysis has revealed several genes upregulated in response to ARNT-ARNT, include those involved in cell growth, metabolism and apoptosis (Wang *et al.*, 2006). Furthermore, none of these genes were reported

targets of AhR-ARNT regulation, suggesting that these may be unique targets for ARNT homodimers.

1.3. Tumour metastasis

Metastasis refers to the physical displacement of tumour cells from the primary tumour site into the surrounding tissue and blood stream, towards a secondary site that facilitates growth of new tumours. According to the Canadian Cancer Society, approximately 177,800 new cases of cancer arise each year in Canada and one in every four persons diagnosed with cancer will die. Metastasis accounts for close to 90% of cancer-related deaths as these forms of cancer are particularly aggressive and develop rapid resistance to therapy (Chaffer and Weinberg, 2011).

Following analysis of over a century of cancer research, Douglas Hanahan and Robert Weinberg established the six hallmarks of cancers observed in tumour cells that are considered necessary for the acquisition and ultimately mestastasis of tumours (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000).

- 1. Self-sufficient and sustained proliferation
- 2. Insensitivity towards anti-proliferation signals
- 3. Evade signals for apoptosis
- 4. Acquisition an infinite replication potential
- 5. Sustained angiogenesis
- 6. Acquisition of a more mobile phenotype

While subsequent research within more recent years has revealed an even greater level of complexity dictating a cancer cell phenotype, these six hallmarks still hold as an accurate foundation for the onset of cancer.

The primary hallmark of cancer is the ability to sustain cellular proliferation through the production of growth signals required for entry into the cell cycle. Normal cells respond to exogenous signals that allow for entry into the cell cycle. Cancer cells acquire the ability to produce their own growth signals, which eliminates the dependence on exogenous signals for proliferation. This is typically acquired through genetic mutation, which up-regulates expression of growth signals or disrupt negative feedback loops of growth factor signal production.

Normal cells also rely on exogenous signals to exit from the cell cycle and terminate cell proliferation (Perona *et al.*, 2006). Cancer cells become insensitive to such signals by evading mechanisms of contact inhibition or becoming unresponsive to tumour suppressor protein activity. Tumour suppressors are a class of proteins responsible for inhibiting cell cycle progression, particularly in response to DNA damage or cellular stress (Curto *et al.*, 2007; Partanen *et al.*, 2009). Classical examples of tumour suppressor proteins include RB, which inhibits cell cycle progression in response to DNA damage, and the protein 53 (p53) protein, which responds to conditions of cellular stress or abnormal cellular conditions (Burkhart and Sage, 2008; Bieging and Attardi, 2012).

The third hallmark is the ability to evade signals of cell death. The process of programmed cell death, or apoptosis, can act as a natural defence against the development of cancer in response to excess DNA damage or cellular stress. For example, p53 can elicit apoptosis if cellular conditions become intolerable through the up-regulation of the pro-apoptotic factor bax (Selvakumaran *et al.*, 1994; Gao *et al*, 2001). In turn, bax activates additional pro-apoptotic factors through the release of cytochrome C, which coordinates the degradation of cellular components. When mutations accumulate and render proteins like p53 inactive, cancer cells acquire the ability to evade this process either through the up-regulation of apoptosis inhibitors or inactivation of proteins required for apoptosis.

Cell autonomous proliferation, insensitivity towards anti-proliferative signals and evading apoptosis signals are altogether not sufficient for tumour growth. Cancer cells must also overcome internal factors that limit replication potential. Healthy cells typically undergo a finite number of cell cycles before entering a state of senescence or apoptosis to prevent unhealthy cells from continuing replication or to limit growth of tissues and organs (Hayflick, 1997). Programs involved in regulating these processes work independently from those required to inhibit cell cycle progression and initiate apoptosis. Thus, cancer cells must manipulate such programs in order to develop the ability to undergo limitless replication, rendering them immortal. For example, telomerase is the enzyme which protects against erosion of chromosome ends following each round of DNA replication and is essential maintaining cells in an immortalized state (Counter *et al.*, 1992). Cancer cells have significantly increased telomerase activity, enabling them to evade senescence and apoptosis, thus providing a means for limitless replication (Jong *et al.*, 1999; Sommerfeld *et al.*, 1996; Murakami *et al.*, 1997; Aue *et al.*, 1998).

Induction of angiogenesis and acquisition of a more mobile phenotype are the final two hallmarks of cancer as defined by Hanahan and Weinberg. Similar to normal cells, tumour cells require nutrients and oxygen to sustain growth and proliferation. Thus, tumour cells acquire mechanisms to release signalling factors and attract an influx of immune cells to induce growth of new vasculature, or angiogenesis, to support tumour growth (Lorusso and Ruegg, 2008). While angiogenesis facilitates metastasis, cancer cells must become mobile in order to invade surrounding tissue and vasculature in order to metastasize. An increasing amount of evidence has demonstrated that this is primarly achieved through a process called epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) (Thiery, 2002). EMT is a multistep process in which cells transition from a sendentary epithelial state towards a more mobile mesenchymal-like phenotype, in which cell surface molecules and the actin cytoskeleton are re-arranged to favour loosely adherent interactions with the extra-cellular matrix. Both angiogenesis and EMT are particularly important for tumour progression, and will be discussed in more detail.

1.3.1. Angiogenesis

The circulatory system is comprised of a complex network of arteries, veins and capillaries that ensures sufficient distribution of oxygen throughout the body. Creating an intricate and organized network of vessels involves multiple steps that are tightly regulated. Development of the circulatory system in humans begins at approximately E30 and begins with vasculogenesis, the production of *de novo* vessels that arise from endothelial precursers (Hirakow, 1983; Carmeliet and Jain, 2011). In response to stimuli, endothelial cells undergo a series of steps involving proliferation, migration, and differentiation to organize themselves into tube-like structures. The sprouting of new vessels from existing ones, or angiogenesis, follows vascularization to continue growth of a network of arteries and veins.

Angiogenesis is primarily induced by VEGF, however, multiple signals are involved in this process, including angiopoietin, placental growth factor-1, and PDGF. Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and plasminogen activator inhibitors are also required to support angiogenesis by facilitating the breakdown of the extra-cellular matrix (Page-McCaw *et al.*, 2007; Pepper, 2001). Local hypoxic environments during embryogenesis stimulate the production of VEGF, which binds to tyrosine kinase receptors VEGFR1 and VEFGR2 (Lee *et al.* 2001; Parast *et al.*, 1998). VEGFR2 is the predominant mediator of the VEGF cellular response, which involves regulating proliferation, survival, migration and permeability of vessels. The role of VEGFR1 stimulation still remains unclear, however, VEGFR1 appears to facilitate angiogenesis by recruiting bone marrow derived cells towards the site of angiogenesis or by inducing the release of MMPs into the extra-cellular matrix (Rafii *et al.*, 2003; Hiratsuka *et al.*, 2002). Angiogenesis also requires the removal of pericytes from surrounding endothelium that helps destabilize and mobilize vessels for proliferation and growth of new branches. Mesenchymal cells then migrate and differentiate along the new vessel into mature pericytes for stability.

In adults, vessels remain guiescent and rarely form new branches, except under circumstances of tissue regeneration and wound healing. In cancer, the induction of angiogenesis is often referred to as 'turning on a switch' that continuously sprouts growth of new vessels (Folkman, 1995). As a result, the organization of new blood vessels is aberrant, where capillary sprouting occurs too soon and there is excess branching of distorted and enlarged vessels, which are often leaky (Nagy et al., 2010; Baluk et al., 2005). Induction of tumour angiogenesis occurs during the early stages of cancer development in response to tumour hypoxia and nutrient deprivation (Shweiki et al., 1992; Izuishi et al., 2000). As with embryogenesis, tumour angiogenesis is primarily induced through increased expression of several factors, such as VEGF, that help sustain tumour angiogenesis. Moreover, the leakiness of tumour vessels initiates an inflammatory response and recruits several bone marrow derived cells, such as macrophages and myeloid cells. Recruitment of these cells often exacerbate angiogenesis by secreting more growth factors, including VEGF and PDGF, into the tumour microenvironment (Pander et al., 2011; Lin et al., 2006; Shojaei et al., 2007). Fibroblasts within the external environment contribute to angiogenesis as well, through

the release of extra-cellular matrix proteins, such as MMPs, into the extra-cellular matrix (Forough *et al.*, 2006).

Activation of endogenous mechanisms that inhibit angiogenesis have been reported as well, to prevent excess proliferation of new blood vessels. Up-regulation of thrombospondin 1 within tumours down-regulates the VEGF-induced cellular response by interacting with endothelial receptors, including VEGFR2 (Rodriguez-Manzaneque *et al.*, 2001). Secreted factors that breakdown extra-cellular matrix components can also support inhibition of angiogenesis. Tumstatin and endostatins are both by-products of collagen breakdown that interacts with integrins. Tumstatin inhibits angiogenesis through interaction with integrins, preventing their association with other growth factors that promote angiogenesis (Sudhakar *et al.*, 2003).

Not surprisingly, inhibiting angiogenesis has been the focus of many therapeutic developments. Without adequate vascularization, most tumours will not exceed a few cubic millimetre in volume and remain clinically silent (Folkman, 1966). Avastin is a monoclonal antibody that specifically targets VEGF and was first approved by the Food and Drug Administration in 2001 for use in combination with chemotherapy for metastatic colon cancer (Zondor and Medina, 2004). Initial usage demonstrated decreased vascular proliferation and permeability that ultimately helped decrease tumour growth. This approval was extended for use in metastatic breast cancer but has since been revoked in 2011 as results from subsequent studies not only demonstrated resistance, but appeared to support a more aggressive tumour behaviour (Ebos et al., 2009; Paez-Ribes et al., 2009). While the mechanism of resistance is still not well understood, it appears as though inhibiting one angiogenic factor simply promotes the activity of other pro-angiogenic factors, and may ultimately act as a mechanism for the positive selection of more malignant transformed cells. For example, inhibition of VEGF leads to an up-regulation of placental growth factor 1, which in turn leads to an influx of bone marrow derived cells to the site (Fischer et al., 2007). Bone marrow derived cells can then continue supporting angiogenesis through release of their own growth factors, including VEGF and PDGF.

1.3.2. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition

During development, multicellular organisms undergo a series of processes involving the delamination, invagination, branching and multilayering of cells. This requires epithelial cells to undergo several inter- and intracellular changes to transition towards a more mobile mesenchymal phenotype, or EMT (Thiery and Sleeman, 2006). EMT first occurs at the blastula stage, where the epithelial epiblast gives rise to the mesoderm and continues at several subsequent stages, including formation of the primitive streak, gastrulation and neural crest development. A number of factors activate EMT through a variety of signaling pathways, and each event requiring EMT is regulated by a particular subset of factors. For example, TGF- β is the primary activator for EMT events during development of the circulatory system, whereas hepatocyte growth factor is primarily involved in somatogenesis, and the fibroblast growth factor (FGF) is an inducer of EMT in gastrulation (Wang *et al.*, 2005; Mizuno *et al.*, 1998; Yamaguchi *et al.*, 1994).

Loss of E-cadherin is considered a hallmark of EMT. E-cadherin is a cell adhesion protein that mediates interactions between the extra-cellular matrix and the intra-cellular cytoskeleton through α -catenin or β -catenin complexes (Ozawa and Kemler, 1992). E-cadherin also mediates contact between adherin junctions and the cytoskeleton, which promotes formation of junctions in between cells, called desmosomes (Gosavi *et al.*, 2011). Few transcriptional repressors have been identified as direct factors that down-regulate E-cadherin. The zinc finger transcriptional repressors snail and smad-interacting protein 1 (SIP1) inhibit E-cadherin transcription by directly binding to E2 boxes located near the transcriptional start site (Batlle *et al.*, 2000; Comijn *et al.*, 2001). Snail appears to have a more prominent role in the initiation of EMT, while SIP1 and other repressors, including E12/E47 and Zeb1, are important for maintaining the mesenchymal state (Perez-Moreno *et al.*, 2001).

Concurrent with the down-regulation of epithelial cell markers, such as Ecadherin, is an up-regulation of mesenchymal cell markers. Acquisition of a mesenchymal phenotype requires the reorganization of the actin cytokeleton and cell surface molecules. This enables cells to lose contact with their neighbouring cells and increase plasticity to allow for mobility. The intermediate filament vimentin is a typical

mesenchymal cell cytoskeletal protein, and is an important regulator of cell motility and for maintaining structural integrity of the mesenchymal phenotype (Mendez *et al.*, 2010). Up-regulation of vimentin is dependent on expression of other factors, such as snail or SIP1. vimentin also appears to be required for induction of cell migration and it may do so through the up-regulation of axl, a tyrosine receptor kinase previously identified as regulator of cell migration (Fridell *et al.*, 1998; Vuoriluoto *et al.*, 2011).

EMT has now been recognized as a mechanism that potentiates pathophysiological processes, including the metastasis of cancer, and much of the evidence stems from changes in E-cadherin expression. A correlation between decreased levels of E-cadherin expression and increased incidences of metastasis have been observed in many types of human cancers (Rasbridge, 1993; Oka, 1993; Zhou, 2002; Lim, 2010; Lewis-Tuffin, 2010). Moreover, a significant down-regulation of E-cadherin is observed within the dissociated cells of adenocarcinomas, compared to solitary cells within the originating tumour site (Hlubek *et al.*, 2001). Lastly, the specific manipulation of E-cadherin cDNA into E-cadherin null carcinoma cells prevents invasiveness, whereas anti-E-cadherin antibodies that render E-cadherin non-functional induce invasiveness (Perl *et al.*, 1998; Imhof *et al.*, 1983).

Interestingly, several parallels have been observed between the molecular mechanisms of EMT in development and in tumour progression. While the complete range of EMT activators in tumour cells have not been completely identified, several growth factors appear to be responsible for induction of EMT. TGF- β , a key regulator in development of the circulatory system, is also a prominent mediator of EMT in tumours. In both development of the embryonic heart and in carcinoma cells, the up-regulation of slug through activation by TGF- β down-regulates E-cadherin expression (Wang *et al.*, 2005; Romano and Runyan, 2000; Janda *et al.*, 2002). Induction of the Ras-MAPK pathways through FGF signalling activates either snail or slug to inhibit E-cadherin expression, similar to the FGF-induced EMT that occurs during gastrulation. Other activators of EMT aside from growth factors have been reported, such as factors within the immune system and microRNAs (Reiman *et al.*, 2010). The miR-429 promotes inhibition of E-cadherin, thus maintaining a mesenchymal cell phenotype (Chen *et al.*,

2011). Altogether, there is an increasing amount of evidence that supports a role for EMT in the progression of cancer.

1.4. HIF1 and tumour metastasis

All solid tumours develop regions of hypoxia, where oxygen availability is limited due to the uncontrolled growth of tumour cells which exceeds that of the existing vasculature, coupled with an increase in oxygen consumption by tumour cells to support tumour growth (Tannock, 1972). Similar to its role in development, hypoxia also coordinates molecular mechanisms directly involved in angiogenesis, cell survival, glucose metabolism and invasion of tumours. Not surprisingly, the cellular response to hypoxia is predominately translated through the HIF1 transcription factor. Over-expression of HIF1 α is common in several types of cancer, including breast, prostate, gastrointestinal, bladder, malignant melanoma, colon, esophageal, non-small cell lung and pancreatic cancers (Zhong *et al.*, 1999; Talks *et al.*, 2000). Moreover, an increase in HIF1 α is associated with increased mortality with some cancers. Thus, HIF1 has been the subject of a significant amount of research to uncover the mechanistic details behind the cellular response to tumour hypoxia.

A number of consequences have been identified as a result of increased HIF1 α expression and HIF1 activity. The most notable consequence of HIF1 activity is the regulation of angiogenic factors to increase tumour vascularization. HIF1 regulates angiogenesis, either directly, through VEGF, VEGFR1 and VEGFR2, or indirectly, through PDGF (Forsythe *et al.*, 1996; Gerber *et al.*, 1997; Elvert *et al.*, 2003; Yoshida *et al.*, 2006). VEGF was first described as a direct HIF1 target in a liver carcinoma cell line and was directly associated with increased vascularity and tumour growth within a xenograft mouse model (Forsythe *et al.*, 1996, Maxwell *et al.*, 1997). EPO and transferrin are also direct targets of HIF1 transcription involved in regulation of red blood cell production and iron transport, respectively (Wang and Semenza, 1993; Rolfs *et al.*, 1997).

Increased HIF1 activity also directly associated with increased invasiveness and metastasis of tumour cells. Snail is a direct target of the HIF1 transcriptional complex,

which provides an indirect mechanism for HIF1 regulation of both vimentin and Ecadherin (Imai et al., 2003). Twist, a bHLH transcription factor that regulates gastrulation and mesoderm during development, is also directly up-regulated by HIF1 transcription in tumour cells (Yang et al., 2008). Over-expression of HIF1a promotes EMT through a decrease in E-cadherin and an increase in vimentin. Moreover, an increase in cellular migration and invasiveness was observed in tumour cells, both in vivo and in vitro. Knockdown of twist demonstrated contrasting results, where a decrease in vimentin and increase in E-cadherin expression were observed, as well as a decrease in cellular invasiveness and migration. There is also increasing evidence for the role of CXCR4 in facilitating metastasis, whose physiological role is to direct migration of leukocytes towards sites of inflammation or tissue injury (Fulton, 2009). HIF1 directly regulates both CXCR4 and its chemokine ligand stromal derived factor 1 (Staller et al., 2003; Hitchon et al., 2002). Exposure of MCF7 human breast cancer cells to stromal derived factor 1 induces actin filament rearrangement and pseudopodia formation (Mueller et al., 2001). Moreover, constitutive activation of CXCR4 in MCF7 cells and in a mouse mammary tumour model promotes tumour growth and metastasis (Rhodes et al., 2010).

In addition to angiogenesis and invasion, HIF1 activity also up-regulates genes involved in metabolism. Hypoxia favours the transition from oxidative metabolism towards glucose metabolism as a more efficient means of producing ATP when oxygen availability is limited. HIF1 directly up-regulates expression of hexokinase, phosphofructokinase and pyruvate kinase, all of which are enzymes required for glycolysis (Riddle *et al.*, 2000; Semenza *et al.*, 1994). While glycolysis yields less ATP per molecule of glucose compared to oxidative metabolism, cells can adujust to compensate for this decrease by enhancing glucose up-take. HIF1 also directly up-regulates expression of the glucose transporter to facilitate glucose transport into the cell. Interestingly, glycolysis remains active in tumour cells, even after oxygen levels increase. This may be in part due to the increased activity of oncogenes, including cMyc and Ras, that also promotes glycolysis (Osthus *et al.*, 2000; Yalcin *et al.*, 2009). Increased glycolysis also suppresses the release of apoptosis-initiating factors from the mitochondria, which may also explain why glycolysis is maintained in tumour cells

(Bonnet *et al.*, 2007). Whether or not tumour cells rely soley on glycolysis for energy production still remains unclear.

Resistance to apoptosis is another hallmark of cancer in which HIF1 activity appears to be involved. While some studies suggest that HIF1 induces apoptosis, either through stabilization of p53 or up-regulation of the pro-apoptotic gene BCL2/adenovirus E1B 19 kDa protein-interacting protein 3 (BNIP3), others suggest that HIF1 may provide resistance to apoptosis (Chen *et al.*, 2003; Hansson *et al.*, 2002; Sowter *et al.*, 2001; Akakura *et al.*, 2001). Whether HIF1 activity either promotes or represses apoptosis, appears to depend on the pre-existing genetic background of the cell.

Tumour growth and invasion is a complex and multistep process, and HIF1 appears to regulate a number of processes that support this. Thus, targeting the response to hypoxia itself, rather than the consequences that result from hypoxia, may be a better approach to treating cancer. Inhibiting angiogenesis through treatment with anti-angiogenic therapy eventually fails and ultimately enhances the hypoxic response by increasing regions of tumour hypoxia that may support an even more aggressive phenotype (Ebos *et al.*, 2009; Paez-Ribes *et al.*, 2009). Thus, targeting factors that promote both invasion and angiogenesis may be more effective at combating tumour progression. HIF1 α itself has been the target of therapeutic development. Two HIF1 α inhibitors, PX-478 and YC-1, have demonstrated promising therapeutic results in laboratory studies, however, the Food and Drug Administration has yet to approve any therapy that directly inhibits HIF1 activity (Welsh *et al.*, 2004, Koh *et al.*, 2008).

1.5. Retinoblastoma protein

RB was identified in 1986 as the first tumour suppressor whose inactivation directly results in development of retinoblastoma cancer (Friend *et al.*, 1986). RB is a member of the 'pocket' family of proteins, which also includes p107/RB-like protein 1 and p130/RB-like protein 2 (Du and Pogoriler, 2006). All members share some structural and functional similarities, however, p107 and p130 are more similar to each other compared to RB. Each member has a defined 'pocket' region comprised of two domains, domain A and domain B, separated by a spacer region. This domain

specifically interacts with LXCXE motifs that were originally identified in viral oncoproteins from the adenovirus, SV40 large T antigen and human papilloma virus (Vousden, 1993; Moran, 1993). RB also interacts with the LXCXE motif of endogenous proteins including cyclin D, histone deacytelase (HDAC) 1, HDAC2, BRG1 and AhR (Dowdy *et al.*, 1993; Dunaief *et al.*, 1994; Singh *et al.*, 1995; Brehm *et al.*, 1998). RB is an essential protein as RB null mice die at E13.5, displaying aberrant cell cycle progression patterns, increased apoptosis and defects in differentiation (Jacks *et al.*, 1992).

The most well characterized function of RB is its role in cell cycle progression through regulation of the E2 family of transcription factors (E2F) (Cobrinik, 2005). E2F transcription factors primarily regulate transcription of genes required for cell division, including those for DNA replication and repair. Activation of RB itself is regulated through cycling between hypo- and hyper-phosphorylated states, mediated by protein phosphatase 1 (PP1) and cyclin/cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) complexes, respectively (Lees *et al.*, 1991). In the G_0/G_1 stage of the cell cycle, prior to DNA replication, RB exists in its hypo-phosphorylated state and is able to interact with E2F, preventing transcription. The p130 and p107 pocket proteins are also involved at this stage, forming a complex with other E2F transcription factors and repress E2F-mediated transcription (Smith *et al.*, 1998). As the cell cycle progresses toward the G_1/S checkpoint, cyclin-kinases become active and phosphorylate RB, dissociating E2F-RB-interaction and freeing E2F for transcription. Release of E2F transcription factors by RB appears to be temporally regulated as well, since over-expression of E2F or loss RB results in a prolonged S phase and shortened G_1/S checkpoint, respectively.

Several mechanisms for repression of E2F activity by RB have been proposed. RB was first suggested to physically interfere with E2F interaction with the transcriptional machinery (Ross *et al.*, 1999). This was originally demonstrated *in vitro* with purified RB and naked DNA promoter sequences, however, this method has never been demonstrated *in vivo*. Interestingly, the RB-interaction domain overlaps with the transactivation-domain of E2F, thus RB-binding may prevent co-activator association with E2F (Helin *et al.*, 1993). There is also considerable evidence suggesting that RB mediates repression of E2F transcription through the recruitment of chromatin modifiers. The hypo-phosphorylated form of RB interacts with HDAC1 within the switching
defective/sucrose non-fermentable (SWI/SNF) complex and recruits HDAC1 to E2F promoters, resulting in increased affinity of DNA to histones through histone deacetylation (Zhang *et al.*, 2000). Conversely, E2F transcription factors bind to the histone acetylase p300/CBP (Morris *et al.*, 2000). RB-interaction with DNA methylation enzyme suppressor of variegation 3-9 homologue 1 (SUV39H1) and DNA methyltransferase (DNMT) 1 have also been reported (Nielsen *et al.*, 2001; Roberston *et al.*, 2000)

RB also suppresses programs for apoptosis, as extensive cell death is observed in the central nervous system, skeletal muscles and lens of RB -/- mice (Clarke et al., 1992, Jacks et al., 1992). Moreover, several genes involved in apoptosis pathways are direct targets of E2F transcription, including apoptotic protease activating facor 1, a key regulator of p53-induced apoptosis pathways. RB can suppress apoptosis through inhibition of E2F-mediated transcription of apoptotic protease activating factor 1, decrease the amount of p53-induced apoptosis. This mechanism appears to be tissue specific, as apoptotic protease activating facor 1 knock-out in an RB null mice rescues apoptosis within the central nervous system but not within the peripheral nervous system or in skeletal muscle cells (Guo et al., 2001). RB itself is a target of caspase cleavage, which promotes tumour necrosis factor (TNF)-induced apoptosis in fibroblasts (Chau et al., 2002). Moreover, RB can also repress apoptosis through a caspase-independent mechanism through a direct interaction with Ableson tyrosine kinase 1 (ABL1) in mouse embryonic liver and central nervous system, and through c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) in human embryonic kidney cells (Borges et al., 2007; Shim et al., 2000). Altogether, this demonstrate a clear role for RB-dependent control of apoptosis, however, it appears to be both tissue and lineage specific.

A role for RB in differentiation has also been observed, as RB null mice display defects in both muscle and hematopoiesis differentiation (Jacks *et al.*, 1992). The inhibitor of DNA binding (ID) family of bHLH transcription factors negatively regulates other bHLH transcription factors involved in differentiation. ID2 forms a complex with purine box factor 1 (PU1) to prevent transcription of genes for macrophage differentiation. RB will promote macrophage differentiation by physically interacting with ID2, preventing formation of a PU1-ID2 complex and allowing PU1-mediated expression of macrophage specific genes (lavarone *et al.*, 2004). RB can also promote

23

differentiation through the regulation of chromatin modifiers. In undifferentiated myoblasts, a myogenic differentiation antigen (MyoD)-HDAC1 complex prevents transcription of muscle-specific genes. Induction of differentiation results in HDAC1 association with RB, liberating MyoD for activation of muscle specific genes (Puri *et al.*, 2001).

In addition to the canonical roles of RB in cell cycle regulation, apoptosis and differentiation, a role for RB has been indentified a variety of other cellular functions. RB interacts with regulators of chromatin structure to promote cellular senescence, a permanent exit from the cell cycle to prevent the continued use of aging cells. During a state of senescence, an increase in heterochromatin is observed at the promoter regions of E2F genes. Moreover, a decrease in heterochromatic regions is observed following removal of RB (Narita et al., 2003). RB may also promote silencing of E2F transcription during senescence through its association with DMNT1 in complex with E2F1 (Robertson et al., 2000). In relation to its role in differentiation, RB appears to control many aspects of stem cell function. Embryonic stem cells are in a continuous state of cell proliferation for the purpose of self-renewal and propagation of differentiated cells that give rise to a broad range of cell types. RB exists in its hyper-phosphorylated state within stem cells, thus allowing for transcription of E2F-responsive genes independently of cell cycle progression (Stead et al., 2002; White et al., 2005). The rate of cell division also occurs at a faster rate in stem cells, and has a much shorter G₁ phase. In a similar manner, hyper-phosphorylation of RB may also help prevent stem cells from entering a state of senescence. In addition to cell cycle arrest in response to DNA damage, RB also appears to initiate mechanisms of DNA repair. A variety of DNA damaging agents induce RB de-phosphorylation and promote RB-dependent cell cycle arrest (Harrington et al., 1998; Knudsen et al., 2000). Moreover, RB de-phosphorylation appears to be a result of attenuated cyclin D activity, which is dependent on expression of mismatch repair proteins (Lan et al., 2001).

1.5.1. Retinoblastoma protein and cancer

RB was first identified in retinoblastoma tumours, which are malignancies of the retina (Friend *et al.*, 1986). Onset of this cancer follows the 'two hit' hypothesis: one RB null allele is inherited followed by loss of function of the other copy. Heterozygous mice

for RB are susceptible to development of pituitary and thyroid tumours (Hu *et al.*,1994; Jacks *et al.*,1992). Furthermore, tissue specific loss of RB in mice results in tumour development in the brain, prostate and lung, demonstrating that loss of RB plays a key role in tumour development (Marino *et al.*, 2000; Marino *et al.*, 2003; Mayhew *et al.*, 2005; Meuwissen *et al.*, 2003). With respect to humans, loss or inactivation of RB has been reported in several types of cancer, including cervical, liver, small cell lung, melanoma, and breast, among others. Although a considerable amount of research has uncovered a variety of roles for RB in normal cell function, how each function contributes to tumourigenesis has yet to be clearly defined.

In mice, inactivation of RB is essential for initiation of small cell lung carcinoma (Meuwissen *et al.*, 2003). Considering the role of RB in proliferation and differentiation, loss of RB might promote cancer development through a de-differentiation process and allowing for re-entry into the cell cycle. It may do so through chromatin remodelling, since loss of RB decreases the amount of heterochromatin and up-regulates expression of cell cycle genes. Loss of RB in liver cells allows for cell cycle re-entry, however this does not hold true for neuronal and muscle cells (Mayhew *et al.*, 2005; Slack *et al.*, 1998; Camarda *et al.*, 2004). Tumour development following loss of RB may also depend on the pre-existing cellular content. When RB function is maintained in mesenchymal progenitors in a p53 mutant background, RB functions with runt-related transcription factor 2 (RUNX2) to potentially give rise to osteoblastoma (Walkley *et al.*, 2008). When RB function is lost in p53-mutant mesenchymal progenitors, an up-regulation in the E2F-repressed peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma subunit is observed, which may then potentially give rise to hibernomas (Calo *et al.*, 2010).

While loss of RB occurs within the early stages of some cancers to promote tumour development, other cancer types display loss or inactivation of RB at later stages. Maintenance of Rb function may be beneficial for some tumours since RB suppresses apoptosis, which would support survival of cancer cells. Moreover, repression of E2F target genes involved in DNA repair may promote genomic instability, which is another favourable trait of tumour cells. Nevertheless, maintenance of RB can still maintain tumour suppressive function in terms of cell cycle arrest and maintenance

25

of a de-differentiation or senescence state, and loss of RB at later stages may participate in mechanisms of tumour progression.

1.5.2. Retinoblastoma protein and HIF1

Not surprisingly, hypoxia induces cell cycle arrest in an effort to conserve energy when oxygen availability is limited (Ludlow *et al.*, 1993; Amellem *et al.*, 1996; Krtolica *et al.*, 1996; Seim *et al.*, 2003). Hypoxia decreases cyclin A and cyclin D levels, resulting in increased hypo-phosphorylated RB and G₁ cell cycle arrest in both normal and cancer cells (Ludlow *et al.*, 1993; Krtolica *et al.*, 1996). Moreover, HIF1 α is required for an increase in hypo-phosphorylated RB, as *HIF1\alpha* -/- cells show a significant decrease in CDK activity and subsequently a decrease in hyperphosphorylated RB (Goda *et al.*, 2003). When cells are placed back under normoxic conditions, cyclin levels increase concomitant with an increase in hyper-phosphorylated RB. Thus, RB activity appears to be hypoxia sensitive and potentially inhibit growth of tumours by promoting cell cycle arrest.

There is also evidence to suggest that RB is involved in modulating angiogenesis, a process that facilitates tumour growth and invasion. As previously described, hypo-phosphorylated RB binds to E2F proteins, inhibiting transcription of E2F target genes. E2F transcription factors regulate several genes associated with angiogenesis, either directly or indirectly, which include basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), FGF receptor 3, MMP16 and VEGFB (Stanelle et al., 2002). RB appears to be indirectly involved in expression of these genes, as over-expression of cyclin D results in an increase in hyper-phosphorylated RB and a subsequent increase in bFGF Thus, the active hypo-phosphorylated RB may negatively regulate expression. angiogenesis by repressing transcription of E2F target genes that promote angiogenesis. RB also promotes angiogenesis through other transcription factors, including ID2. As previously mentioned, ID2 is a regulator of differentiation of the macrophage cell lineage (lavarone et al., 2004). In pituitary tumours, loss of ID2 in an RB mutant background results in aberrant VEGF expression, and subsequent aberrant vascularization (Lasorella et al., 2005).

26

Recent evidence suggests that RB can modulate angiogenesis through direct association with the HIF1 transcription factor complex. In some cancers, such as hepatocellular and astrocytoma carcinomas, a correlation has been observed between the loss of RB and an increase in invasiveness and metastasis. In the case of astrocytomas, loss of RB in low grade anaplastic astrocytomas occurs before or near the same time as activation of the HIF1 target gene VEGF, increased hyperplasia, and increased progression towards glioblastoma multiforme, the highest grade of astrocytoma (Brat *et al.*, 2002).

RB has previously been identified as a negative regulator of thyroid hormone receptor transcription through interaction with the thyroid receptor/retinoblastoma interacting protein 230 (TRIP230) (Chang *et al.*, 1997). TRIP230 has also been identified as a co-activator for the HIF1 transcription complex (Beischlag *et al.*, 2004). TRIP230 is recruited to the promoter regions of HIF1 target genes VEGF and EPO in a hypoxic-dependent manner and is essential for transcription, as TRIP230 knockdown significantly reduces VEGF expression. Thus, TRIP230 may serve as a mediator for RB regulation of HIF1 transcription of angiogenic gene programs under hypoxia, and as a result, may ultimately contribute to increased metastasis of tumours.

1.6. TRIP230

The TRIP230 (GMAP210/TRIP11) protein was first identified from cellular extracts of patients with Sjögrenis syndrome, an autoimmune disease in which antibodies are produced against the golgi complex (Rios *et al.*, 1994, Rodriguez *et al.*, 1982). Structural analysis reveals TRIP230 is made up of an extended coil-coiled domain, comprised of two leucine zippers and a basic proline/glycine rich COOH terminal (Infanti *et al.*, 1999). Prior to it's cloning and characterization, activity of a putative 210 kDa protein thought to be TRIP230 was first identified in the golgi body, where TRIP230 co-localizes with the golgi body through its N-TAD (Rios *et al.*, 1994, Infanti *et al.*, 1999). Over-expression of TRIP230 leads to enlargement of the golgi apparatus and fragmentation throughout the cytoplasm, suggesting that TRIP230 plays a role in reformation and repositioning of the golgi apparatus. Moreover, TRIP230 recruits γ -tubulin and has also been found to bind to lipid-associated protein, which may

explain how TRIP230 stabilizes the golgi apparatus (Rios *et al.*, 2004). Stabilization of the golgi apparatus is required due to the continous transport of membrane vessicles. TRIP230 associates with microtubules as well, serving as a link between the golgi apparatus and the ends of microtubules, and to help establish polarity by organizing the distribution of organelles within the cell (Ramos-Morales *et al.*, 2001). This also helps for intracellular transport of secretory protein, as over-expression of TRIP230 blocks transport between the endoplasmic reticulum and the golgi apparatus (Pernet-Gallay *et al.*, 2002). A role for TRIP230 has also been recognized in motility within cilium motors and spermatoid tail development (Follitt *et al.*, 2008, Kierszenbaum *et al.*, 2011).

TRIP230 has also been associated with disease, including cancer. А translocation within chromosome 14 creates a fusion protein between PDGF receptor β and TRIP230, which has been observed in hematologic malignancies (Abe et al., 1997). Mouse models for skeletal dysplasia show increased swelling and stress in the endoplasmic receptor, which may be due to a deficiency in TRIP230 (Smits et al., 2010). TRIP230 also interacts with alien/thyroid hormone-interacting protein 15 (TRIP15), a corepressor protein of factors involved in cell cycle regulation and thyroid hormone receptor-mediated expression (Kab et al., 2007, Tenbaum et al., 2003). Up-regulation of alien inhibits endogenous expression of the E2F1 gene, whose expression is primarily up-regulated during the G₁, G₁/S and G₂ phase, resulting in reduced cell proliferation (Tenbaum et al., 2007). Alien also interacts with RB, however, it has yet to be demonstrated whether all three work together in complex and whether it plays a role in disease (Escher et al., 2007). Previous work has established TRIP230 as a necessary co-activator for thyroid hormone receptor-mediated gene transcription, where TRIP230 translocates from the golgi complex to the nucleus in response to hormone stimulation (Lee et al., 1995; Chen et al., 1999). This transcriptional activity is repressed by RB through a direct interaction with TRIP230 (Chang et al., 1997). TRIP230 has also been established as an ARNT-interacting protein and a necessary co-activator for ARNTmediated transcription of both HIF1a and AhR target genes (Beischlag et al., 2004). As previously mentioned, TRIP230 may then serve as a mediator for RB regulation of HIF1mediated transcription of angiogenesis under hypoxia, and as a result, may ultimately contribute to increased metastasis of tumours.

1.7. Objectives

The role of HIF1 $\alpha/2\alpha$ as master regulators of the hypoxic response is well established, as is it's role in tumour progression. HIF1 activity is typically up-regulated in several types of cancer in response to tumour hypoxia and activates transcription of genes involved in both angiogenesis and metastasis (Zhong et al., 1999; Talks et al., 2000; Forsythe et al., 1996; Gerber et al., 1997; Elvert et al., 2003; Yoshida et al., 2006; Imai et al., 2003; Yang et al., 2008; Staller et al., 2003; Hitchon et al., 2002). Little is known about the mechanisms behind HIF1-mediated transcription, however, evidence demonstrates a role for RB in the regulation of HIF1 target genes associated with both angiogenesis and cell invasion through a direct interaction with TRIP230 (Appendix A-D). Both Hepa-1 and MCF7 cells transfected with RB and TRIP230 showed a significant decrease in hypoxia-responsive reporter gene activity, compared to cells transfected with RB and a TRIP230 mutant lacking the RB-interaction domain (Appendix B). Furthermore, RB is recruited to the regulator regions of HIF1 target genes VEGF and EPO, in addition to HIF1 α , ARNT and TRIP230, in a hypoxic-dependent manner (Appendix D). Lastly, knockdown of RB in non-invasive MCF7 cells leads to a dramatic increase in hypoxia-dependent cell invasion, as demonstrated in a matrigel invasion assay (Appendix C). Altogether, this data suggests that loss of RB promotes hypoxiainduced tumour metastasis. It is therefore hypothesized that RB attenuates HIF1mediated transcription through a direct interaction with TRIP230 and that loss of RB supports the deregulation of HIF1 target genes involved in tumour progression, which ultimately contributes to increased invasiveness and metastasis of tumour cells (Figure 2).

The objective of this study was to better define the role of RB in HIF1-mediated transcription in response to hypoxia. This study specifically focused on the protein-protein interactions within the putative ARNT-TRIP230-RB complex, and how these interactions contribute to angiogenesis and invasiveness. To achieve this objective, the following specific aims were explored:

1. To further characterize the invasive phenotype following loss of RB in MCF7 human breast cancer cells using siRNA knockdown techonology. Small interference RNAs (siRNA) are short RNA duplexes that selectively target mRNA for degradation

29

through an associated RNA Induced Silencing Complex, resulting in reduced expression of a gene of interest. In this study, siRNA complimentary to regions within RB1 messenger RNA were used to knock down expression of the *RB1* gene in cell culture. Briefly, double stranded RB-specific RNA was transfected into cells and was targeted for degradation by the RNAse II class endoculclease Dicer to produce smaller fragments of double stranded RNA, or siRNA. A complex is formed between siRNA and an RNAinduced Silencing Complex, which then specifically annealed to and degraded transcripts of the *RB1* gene.

2. To perform a comprehensive analysis of the RB-TRIP230 interaction using glutathione-s-transferase (GST) pull-down analysis to identify the essential amino acids within TRIP230 required for RB-interaction. First, the minimal RB-interaction domain was identified using successive truncations of the defined TRIP230 RB-interacting domain expressed as glutathione-s-transferase fusion proteins. The minimal RB-interaction domain was then subjected to site-directed mutagenesis to indentify the individual amino acids essential for RB-interaction. Assuming the interaction between RB and TRIP230 was charge-dependent, individual residues would be mutated to non-polar amino acids which should disrupt protein-protein interactions. The information gleaned from this study would then allow for the design of a transgenic TRIP230 mutant mouse that does not interact with RB in order to establish the role of RB in hypoxia-dependent processes in an animal model.

3. To establish the existence of an ARNT-TRIP230-RB multi-meric complex using GST pull-down analysis with a GST-ARNT fusion moiety. TRIP230 has previously been identified as a component of the HIF1 complex through a direct interaction with ARNT, and not HIF1 α (Beischlag *et al.*, 2004). Moreover, RB attenuates HRE reporter gene activity through a direct interaction with TRIP230 (Appendix B). It has yet to be established, however, whether or not ARNT, TRIP230 and RB exist as part of a multi-meric complex. Identification of an ARNT-TRIP230-RB trimeric complex would provide additional support to the hypothesis that RB attenuates HIF1 transcription through interaction with TRIP230.

Addressing these specific aims will further our understanding of hypoxia-induced HIF1-regulation of gene expression and establish a role for RB within this pathway. This

research will increase our understanding of gene regulation and the biological significance of co-regulators involved in this process, which are essential for the appropriate and controlled regulation of transcription. Furthermore, this research will provide further insight into the molecular mechanisms required for tumour progression and may yield potential novel therapeutic targets. RB is lost or inactivated in 20-30% of all breast tumours, and as a result, may contribute to the malignancy of a large proportion of breast cancers (Pietilainen *et al.*, 1995, Borg *et al.*, 1992). HIF1-mediated transcription is also active during the progression of cardiovascular disease, and thus this work may uncover a role for RB in a number of other biological processes.



Figure 2. The proposed role of RB in HIF1-mediated transcription

RB attenuates HIF1-mediated transcription through a direct interaction with TRIP230. When RB is lost, expression of HIF1 target genes becomes deregulated.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Cell Culture, transfection and nuclear extraction preparation

2.1.1. Cell culture

MCF7 and MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer cells were maintained in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium with 4.5 g/L glucose and 4.5 g/l L-glutamine (DMEM; BioWhittaker, Lonza, Cat. No. 12-604F) with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS HyClone, PeRBlio, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Cat. No. SH30396), 100 units/ml potassium penicillin-100 µg/ml streptomycin sulphate (BioWhittaker, Lonza, Cat. No. 17-602E), at 37°C, 20% O₂ and 5% CO₂. MCF7 cells were additionally supplemented with 0.01 µg/ml bovine pancreas insulin solution (Sigma Aldrich, Cat. No. 10516-5ML). LnCAP human prostate cancer cells were maintained in Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI) Medium with L-glutamine (BioWhittaker, Lonza, Cat. No. 12-702F12) with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS HyClone, PeRBlio, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Cat. No. SH30396), and 100 units/ml potassium penicillin-100 µg/ml streptomycin sulphate (BioWhittaker, Lonza, Cat. No. 17-602E), at 37°C, 20% O₂ and 5% CO₂.

Human embryonic kidney (HEK)-293T cells for transient transfection were maintained in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium with 4.5 g/L glucose and 4.5 g/l L-glutamine (DMEM; BioWhittaker, Lonza, Cat. No. 12-604F) with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS HyClone, PeRBlio, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Cat. No. SH30396), 100 units/ml potassium penicillin-100 μ g/ml streptomycin sulphate (BioWhittaker, Lonza, Cat. No. 17-602E), at 37°C, 20% O₂ and 5% CO₂

2.1.2. siRNA transfection

Cells were cultured in the conditions described above until approximately 70% confluent prior to siRNA transfection. Cells were reverse transfected with 10 - 30 nM of either scrambled (SCX) siRNA (DS Scrambled negative control siRNA, Integrated DNA Technologies Inc.) or RB siRNA (HSC.RNAI.N000321.9.1 for siRB1, HSC.RNAI.N000321.9.4 for siRB2, HSC.RNAI.N000321.9.6 siRB3, for HSC.RNAI.N000321.10.8 for siRB4, HSC.RNAI.N000321.10.9 for siRB5, Integrated DNA Technologies Inc.) using 0.3% (v/v) Lipofectamine RNAiMAX (Invitrogen Inc.) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Cells were allowed to incubate in transfection mix for 5 h at 37°C, 20% O_2 and 5% CO_2 , after which the transfection mix was removed and replaced with complete media for a total of 24 h.

2.1.3. pCMV-RB expression plasmid transfection

HEK-293T cells were maintained in conditions described above until approximately 50% confluent for a 100 mm plate prior to transfection. Approximately 20 μ g of pCMV-RB expression plasmid was precipitated with 2M CaCl₂ in 600 μ l 2x 4-(2hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid (HEPES) Buffered Saline solution (140 mM NaCl, 1.5 mM Na₂PO₄, 50 mM HEPES) and added drop wise directly to cells in media. Cells were maintained at 37°C, 20% O₂ and 5% CO₂ for 48 h prior to harvesting.

2.1.4. Nuclear extraction preparation

Nuclear extractions were performed as previously described (Andrews and MCF7 cells were maintained in conditions described above until Faller, 1991). approximately 90% confluent prior to harvesting. Cells were pooled into 2 ml cold Dulbeccos Phosphate Buffered Saline (DPBS, BioWhittaker, Lonza, Cat. No. 17-512F) and centrifuged for 10 min at 3200 rpm at 4°C. Pellets were resuspended in 400 µl cold Buffer A solution (10 mM HEPES-KOH pH 7.9, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 10 mM KCl, 0.5 mM Dithiothreitol (DTT), 0.5 mM 4-(2-Aminoethyl) benzenesulfonyl fluoride hydrochloride, 0.3 µM Aprotinin, 10 µM Bestatin, 10 µM E64, 10 µM Leupeptin) and allowed to swell on ice for 10 min. Cells were then vortexed for 10 sec and centrifuged for 15 min at 4400 rpm at 4°C. Pellets were resuspended in 2-3x pellet volume of cold Buffer C solution (20 HEPES-KOH pH 7.9, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 420 mΜ NaCl, 0.2 mΜ mΜ

Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), 0.5 mM DTT, 0.5 mM 4-(2-Aminoethyl) benzenesulfonyl fluoride hydrochloride, 0.3 μ M Aprotinin, 10 μ M Bestatin, 10 μ M E64, 10 μ M Leupeptin, 25% glycerol) and incubated on ice for 20 min. Nuclear extracts were then separated from cellular debris by centrifugation for 2 min at maximum speed and protein concentration was estimated by the Bradford assay (see below).

2.2. GST pull-down assays

2.2.1. GST construct preparation

GST-TRIP230 deletion constructs were prepared by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplification (0.2 mM deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate (dNTP), 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 0.25 mM per primer, 1x PCR reaction buffer) from a full length TRIP230 clone. A total of 10 ng of DNA template was used in a 100 µl reaction amplified by cycling between 95°C for 15 sec, 54°C for 15 sec, and 72°C for 2 min (Veriti 96 Well Thermal Cycler, Applied Biosystems). Eleven deletion constructs were amplified from amino acids 1091 to 4493, each of which removed nucleotides encoding for approximately 20 amino acids deleted from the RB-interaction domain (Figure 3). Constructs were named in reference to the N-terminal TRIP230 amino acid that each construct was amplified with primer pairs used to generate each construct (Table 1). The amplified regions were each cloned into pGEX-5X-1 within BamH1 and Xhol restriction sites (Appendix A). All GST-TRIP230 constructs were confirmed by sequencing.

Four GST-ARNT constructs were generated: GST-PAS A encodes amino acids 157 – 252, GST-PAS B encodes amino acids 343 – 479, GST-PAS A-B encodes amino acids 157 – 479, and GST-N-PAS A-B encodes amino acids 2 – 479 (Figure 4A). Each region was amplified by PCR as described above from a full length mouse ARNT cDNA clone using primer pairs listed (Table 2). The amplified regions were each cloned into pGEX-5X-1 in the BamHI and XhoI restriction sites (Appendix A).

35



Figure 3. Schematic of the GST-TRIP230 deletion fusion moiety constructs

A total of 11 successive 20-amino acid deletion constructs of the TRIP230 RBinteraction domain were amplified from full-length TRIP230 and cloned into pGEX-5X-1. Constructs were named in reference to the N-terminal TRIP230 amino acid that each construct was amplified from. The full length TRIP230 schematic depicts the RBinteraction domain (RB), the ARNT interaction domain (ARNT), and the thyroid receptor interaction domain (TR).

Table 1.	List of primer pairs for PCR amplification of TRIP230 deletion
	constructs

GST-TRIP230 Construct	Primer Pair
TRIP1091	Forward: 5' CGGGGATCCTGCAGGCTTATGCTATGGAA 3' Reverse: 5' CCGCTCGAGGTGGCAGCAATCGAATC 3'
TRIP1120	Forward: 5' CGGGGATCCACAAAATGATGGATATTGTT 3' Reverse: 5' CCGCTCGAGGTGGCAGCAATCGAATC 3'
TRIP1144	Forward: 5' CGGGGATCTCCACTAGATTTGAAAGTAGTGGC 3' Reverse: 5' CCGCTCGAGGTGGCAGCAATCGAATC 3'
TRIP1166	Forward:5' CGGGATCATTCGAGAAAAAGACATCGAA 3' Reverse: 5' CCGCTCGAGGTGGCAGCAATCGAATC 3'
TRIP1188	Forward: 5' CGGGGATCCAAACATCCAGCACTGGTAAT 3' Reverse: 5' CCGCTCGAGGTGGCAGCAATCGAATC 3'
TRIP1211	Forward: 5' CGGGGATCCGTGACAAGTTAAAACAGCAA 3' Reverse: 5' CCGCTCGAGGTGGCAGCAATCGAATC 3'
TRIP1241	Forward: 5' CGGGGATCCAGCTTCAGGAAGAGCTTCAC 3' Reverse: 5' CCGCTCGAGGTGGCAGCAATCGAATC 3'
TRIP1236	Forward: 5' CGGGGATCCAACACGAGTCAGCCCAGCTT 3' Reverse: 5' CCGCTCGAGGTGGCAGCAATCGAATC 3'
TRIP1247	Forward: 5' CGGGGATCCACCAACTTCAAGCACAGGTT 3' Reverse: 5' CCGCTCGAGGTGGCAGCAATCGAATC 3'
TRIP1264	Forward: 5' CGGGGATCCAACTGGACTATACTGGCCTG 3' Reverse: 5' CCGCTCGAGGTGGCAGCAATCGAATC 3'
TRIP1290	Forward: 5' GCGGATCCCACAAGTTCAGCACAGCATTGGG 3' Reverse: 5' CCGCTCGAGGTGGCAGCAATCGAATC 3'



Figure 4. Schematic of the GST-ARNT fusion moiety constructs

(A) The PAS A, PAS B, PAS A-B, and N-PAS A-B domains were PCR amplified from full-length ARNT cDNA and cloned into pGEX-5X-1. The full length ARNT schematic of depicts the bHLH, PAS A, PAS B, and TAD domains. (B) Coomassie-stained gel of expressed GST constructs eluted from a 10 μ l aliquot of glutathione agarose beads. (C) Protein concentrations were estimated by comparing to bovine serum albumin (BSA) standards as shown.

Table 2.List of primer pairs for PCR amplification of GST-ARNT constructs

GST-ARNT Construct	Primer Pair
PAS A	Forward: 5' GCGGATCCCTTTCCTCACTGATCAGGAACTG 3'
	Reverse: 5' GCCTCGAGGGAAGACTGCTGGCCTTCCTT 3'
PAS B	Forward: 5' GCGGATCCTGGTAACTAGTTCTCCCAACT 3'
	Reverse: 5' GCCTCGAGGATGGTGTTGGACAGTGTAGGCCG 3'
PAS A-B	Forward: 5' GCGGATCCCTTTCCTCACTGATCAGGAACTG 3'
	Reverse: 5' GCCTCGAGGATGGTGTTGGACAGTGTAGGCCG 3'
N-PAS A-B	Forward: 5' GCGGATCCCGACTACAGCTAACCCAGAA 3'
	Reverse: 5' GCCTCGAGGATGGTGTTGGACAGTGTAGGCCG 3'

2.2.2. GST protein expression

GST-TRIP230 constructs and GST alone were expressed in BL21 bacterial cells for 4 h at 30°C with 1 mM isopropyl β -D-1-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) when bacteria cell cultures reached an OD600 between 0.4 and 0.5. Bacteria cultures were then centrifuged and cell pellets were resuspended in Lysis Buffer (50 mM 2-Amino-2hydroxymethyl-propane-1,3-diol (Tris) pH 8, 400 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 10% glycerol, 0.1% lgpal, 1 mM DTT, 0.5 mM 4-(2-Aminoethyl) benzenesulfonyl fluoride hydrochloride, 0.3 μ M Aprotinin, 10 μ M Bestatin, 10 μ M E64, 10 μ M Leupeptin). Bacteria cells were then sonicated on ice for 60 sec with a microtip probe (duty 30%, input 3; Branson Sonifier 450, Branson Ultrasonics Corporation, Model P/S Bio), centrifuged and recombinant proteins were isolated from the supernatant on glutathione-agarose beads (Sigma Aldrich, Cat No. G4510-5ML). Recombinant proteins were then eluted off the beads using 10 mM reduced glutathione and quantified using the RC DC protein assay (see below; BioRad, Cat. No. 500-0121).

GST-ARNT constructs and GST alone were prepared as described above, except recombinant proteins were expressed at 37°C for 4 h but were not eluted from the beads following affinity purification. Concentration of recombinant protein was estimated from a 20 μ l aliquot was boiled off in 30 μ l of 2x sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) sample buffer (100 mM Tris-Cl pH 6.8, 4% SDS, 0.2% bromophenol blue, 20% glycerol, 200 mM β -mercaptoethanol), fractioned by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE) (see below) and stained with Coomassie staining. Briefly, gel was fixed in Fixing solution (50% Methanol, 10% CH₃COOH, 40% H₂O) for 30 min at room tempurature. Fixing solution was removed and gel stained with 10 volumes of Coomassie Blue Stain (50% Methanol, 0.05% Coomassie Brilliant Blue, 10% CH₃COOH, 40% H₂O) for 1 h at room temperature. The gel was destained with 10 volumes of 1x Destain solution (5% Methanol, 7% CH₃COOH, 88% H₂O). Protein concentrations were estimated by comparing to BSA standards (Figure 2C).

2.2.3. Protein determination assays

For the Bradford protein assay, samples were diluted 1:2 and the following seven standards were made from a 2 mg/ml stock solution of BSA (BioRad, Cat. No. 500-0206): 2 mg/ml, 1.5 mg/ml, 1 mg/ml, 0.75 mg/ml, 0.5 mg/ml, 0.25 mg/ml and 0.125

mg/ml. A 20 µl aliquot of each was mixed with 1 ml of 1x Quick Start[™] Bradford Dye Reagent (Biorad, Cat. No. 500-0205) and allowed to incubate for 5 min at room temperature. Absorbance was measured at wavelength 595 nm with a Biorad SmartSpec[™] Plus Spectrophotometer (BioRad, Serial No. 273 BR 04787).

The RC DC protein assay was performed using the RC DC[™] Protein Assay RC Reagents kit (BioRad, Cat. No. 500-0119) following the manufacturer's microfuge tube assay protocol. Briefly, a set of six standards were made from a 2 mg/ml stock solution of BSA: 2 mg/ml, 1.5 mg/ml, 1 mg/ml, 0.75 mg/ml, 0.5 mg/ml, and 0.2 mg/ml. A 25 µl aliquot of each sample and standard was mixed with 125 µl of RC Reagent I and allowed to incubate at room temperature for 1 min. Each sample and standards were then mixed with 125 µl of RC Reagent II and centrifuged for 5 min at max speed at room temperature. Supernatants were discarded and pellets were allowed to dry for approximately 5 minutes. Pellets were then resuspended in 127 µl of Reagent A' (prepared by mixing 5 µl of DC Reagent S (BioRad, Cat No. 500-0115) for each 250 µl of DC Reagent A (BioRad, Cat. No. 500-0113) required) and allowed to incubate for 5 minutes at room temperature. Each sample and standard was then incubated with 1 ml DC Protein Assay Reagent B (BioRad, Cat. No. 500-0114) for 15 min at room temperature and absorbance was measured at wavelength 750 nm.

2.2.4. Pull-down assay and peptide construction

For pull-down assays, 25-50 μ g of GST protein was mixed at 4°C overnight with either 100 ng of purified Rb protein (Prolias Technologies, Cat. No. p2007-1) or 250 μ g nuclear extract harvested from MCF7 cells maintained in 1% O₂ and 5% CO₂ for 5 h at 37°C. Recombinant proteins were isolated from the reaction mixture by mixing with 15 -30 μ l 50% slurry glutathione agarose beads for 2 h at room temperature. Beads were then washed 6x with Protein-protein interaction (PPI) Buffer (20 mM HEPES, 300 mM NaCl, 4 mM MgCl_s, 1 mM EDTA, 10% glycerol, 0.1% Igpal, 1mM DTT, 0.5 mM 4-(2-Aminoethyl) benzenesulfonyl fluoride hydrochloride, 0.3 μ M Aprotinin, 10 μ M Bestatin, 10 μ M E64, 10 μ M Leupeptin), eluted off with 10 mM reduced glutathione and fractioned by SDS-PAGE gel, transferred to polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membrane and analyzed by Western blot for the presence of RB using an anti-RB1 antibody (1:2000; mouse monoclonal IgG; Cell Signaling Techonology; Cat. No. 9309). The detection was done using horseradish peroxidase conjugated anti-mouse IgG (1:10 000; GE Healthcare, Cat. No. RPN2124) and ECL detection kit (Pierce/Thermo Scientific, Cat. No. PIA34075).

For pull-down assays, approximately 50 µl of GST or GST-PAS B beads were mixed with 500 µg of MCF7 nuclear extract in PBS at 4°C for 2 h, washed twice with 0.5x Radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) buffer (10 mM Tris pH 8, 1 mM EDTA, 0.5 mM ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid (EGTA), 140 mM NaCl, 1% Triton-X100, 0.02% Nadeoxycholate, 0.1% SDS), then twice with 1x RIPA buffer, and boiled off in 2x SDS sample buffer. Eluted samples were fractioned by SDS-PAGE, transferred to PVDF membrane and analyzed by Western blot for the presence of RB (as described above) and TRIP230 with an anti-TRIP230 antibody (1:1500; mouse polyclonal IgG; a gift from Dr. Y. Chen, Univ. of Texas, San Antonio). Detection of TRIP230 was done using horseradish peroxidase conjugated anti-mouse (1:2500; GE Healthcare, Cat. No. RPN2124) and ECL detection kit (GE Healthcare, Cat. No. RPN2132). Blots were imaged using a Syngene Dyversity blot imaging system.

For pull-down assay with blocking peptides, one peptide corresponding to critical residues within TRIP230 (TRIP1584), two peptides corresponding to critical residues within ARNT (ARNT392 and ARNT415) for the TRIP230-ARNT interaction, and a SCX negative control peptide were synthesized by GeneScript, and conjugated with a cell membrane transduction trans-activator of transcription (TAT) domain and a fluorescent tag (Table 3; Figure 5). The pull-down assay was done as described above except GST proteins were pre-incubated overnight at 4°C with 50 µM of peptide.

Table 3.List of ARNT- and TRIP230-interacting peptides

Peptide	Amino Acid Position	Sequence
TRIP1584	1584-1596	LRNHLLESEDSYT
ARNT392	392-401	LGKNI V EGFC
ARNT415	415-424	VVKL K GQVLS
SCX	n/a	AHAHKGNVGIELFC
_	·	·

Note: Bold letters refer to critical residues (Partch et al., 2009)



Figure 5. Schematic of the ARNT- and TRIP230-interacting peptides

An ARNT interacting peptide (TRIP1584) corresponds to a specific LRNHLL motif within TRIP230 that is required for ARNT-TRIP230 interaction. Two TRIP230-interacting peptides (ARNT392 and ARNT415) corresponds to important amino acids within ARNT required for the ARNT-TRIP230 interaction. Letters in bold refer to critical residues (Partch *et al.*, 2009).

2.3. Quantitative Real Time-Polymerase Chain Reaction

Cells were incubated under hypoxic conditions (1% O_2 and 5% CO_2) for 24 h at 37°C. Total RNA was isolated using TRI reagent (Sigma, Cat. No. T9424-200ML) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Reverse transcription was performed using High Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Applied Biosystems, Part No.4368814) according to the manufacturer's protocol (1x RT buffer, 1x RT random primers, 4 mM dNTP, 50 units MultiScribe[™] reverse transcriptase). A total of 2 µg of RNA was used to make cDNA in a 20 µl reaction by incubating sequentially at 25°C for 5 min, 37°C for 120 min, then 85°C for 5 min (Veriti 96 Well Thermal Cycler, Applied Biosystems). For realtime-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) experiments, analysis was done using StepOnePlus System (Applied Biosystems, Part No. 4376600) in 15 µl reaction volume per sample (0.3 µM primer pair, 1x ROX reference Dye LSR, 1x SYBR Advantage gPCR Premix). Samples were diluted 1:30 and standards were made from hypoxic SCX treated samples using the following dilutions: 1:10, 1:100, 1:1,000, 1:10,000 and 1:100,000. The primer pairs listed were used to quantify mRNA levels of VEGF, CXCR4, vimentin, RB, and 36B4 (Table 4).

Protein	Primer Pair
VEGF	Forward: 5' AGCTGAGAACGGGAAGCTGTG 3'
	Reverse: 5' ACAGACGTTCCTTAGTGCTGG 3'
CXCR4	Forward: 5' CAGTGGCCGACCTCCTCTT 3'
	Reverse: 5' GGACTGCCTTGCATAGGAAGTT 3'
vimentin	Forward: 5' TTCCAAACTTTTCCTCCCTGAACC 3'
	Reverse: 5' TCAAGGTCATCGTGATGCTGAG 3'
RB	Forward: 5' GCGGGATCCATGCCGCCCAAAACCCCCCGAAAA 3'
	Reverse: 5' GCGACTAGTTCATTTCTCTTCCTTGTTTGA 3'
36B4	Forward: 5' CCACGGTGCTGAACATGCT 3'
	Reverse: 5' TCGAACACCTGCTGGATGAC 3'

Table 4.List of primer pairs for RT-PCR analysis

2.3.1. Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism 4.0. For RT-PCR experiments, statistical significance was determined between using a Two-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-tests comparison under a 95% confidence interval. Comparisons were made between normoxia versus hypoxia and SCX versus siRB groups. Values are presented as means ± standard error of the mean (SEM). A P value < 0.05 was considered to be significant.

2.4. Western blotting

MCF7 cells were incubated under hypoxic conditions (1% O₂ and 5% CO₂) for 48 h at 37°C. Cells were then harvested and protein concentration was quantified using the RC DC protein assay previously describe above. Equal amounts of proteins from each sample were resolved on an 8% SDS-PAGE (8% acrylamide/bis, 1 M Tris, 5 mM SDS, 0.1% ammonium persulfate, 0.01% tetramethylethylenediamine) in 1x Running buffer (1 M Tricine, 1 M Tris-Cl, 50 mM SDS), and then transferred to a PVDF membrane in transfer buffer (25 mM Tris-Cl, 250 mM Glycine, 0.1% SDS). Upon completion of transfer, the membrane was activated with 100% methanol, blocked for 1 h at room temperature with blocking solution (5% powdered milk, 0.1% Triton, 140 mM NaCl, 2.5 mM KCl, 2.5 mM Tris), and then probed with primary antibody in blocking solution overnight at 4°C. The following primary antibodies were used: anti-RB1 (1:3000; rabbit polyclonal IgG; Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc., Cat. No. SC-7905), anti-fusin (1:1500; rabbit polyclonal IgG; Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc., Cat. No. SC-9046), anti-E-cadherin (1:1500; mouse monoclonal IgG; Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc., Cat. No. SC-8426), anti-vimentin (1:1500; rabbit polyclonal IgG; Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc., Cat. No. SC-5565) or anti-tubulin antibodies (1:1500; mouse monoclonal IgG; Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc., Cat. No. SC-8035). Blots were then probed with horseradish peroxidase conjugated anti-mouse or anti-rabbit IgG (1:2500; Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc., Cat No. SC-2004 and SC-2005, respectively) for 1 h in blocking solution at room temperature, and protein was detected with an ECL detection kit (GE Healthcare, Cat. No. RPN2132). Blots were imaged using a Syngene Dyversity blot imaging system.

3. Results

3.1. Loss of RB leads to enhanced expression of HIF1regulated genes involved in angiogenesis and EMT

RB has previously been identified as an attenuator for TR-mediated transcription through a direct interaction with TRIP230 (Chang *et al.*, 1997). There is now evidence to suggest that RB acts as negative regulator of HIF1-mediated transcription through a direct interaction with TRIP230. Both Hepa-1 and MCF7 cells transfected with RB and TRIP230 showed a significant decrease in HRE reporter gene activity, compared to cells transfected with RB and a TRIP230 mutant lacking the RB-interaction domain (Appendix B). Chromatin immuno-precipitation analysis in MCF7 human breast cancer cells revealed that RB, in addition to HIF1 α , ARNT, and TRIP230, associates with the regulatory regions of HIF1 target genes VEGF and EPO in a hypoxic dependent manner (Appendix C, Beischlag *et al.*, 2004). Moreover, siRNA knockdown of RB in MCF7 cells leads to a dramatic increase in hypoxic-dependent cell invasion, as demonstrated in a matrigel invasion assay (Appendix D). This change in cellular phenotype clearly demonstrates a role for RB in the hypoxic response that has yet to be completely defined.

To further characterize the invasive phenotype in MCF7 cells due to loss of RB, changes in expression of HIF1 target genes were examined following siRNA-mediated knockdown of RB, measured at either the mRNA level by RT-PCR or at the protein level by Western blot. Several HIF1 target genes have established roles in angiogenesis and EMT, both of which are processes that promote metastasis (Forsythe *et al.*, 1996; Yang *et al.*, 2008; Staller *et al.*, 2003; Imai *et al.*, 2003). Using siRNA knockdown technology to significantly reduce expression of the *RB1* gene, in combination with RT-PCR and Western blot analysis, would help identify HIF1 target genes involved in either angiogenesis or EMT directly affected by loss of RB. This would ultimately provide insight into how the hypoxic response may contribute to increased metastasis of tumour

cells following loss of RB.

3.1.1. Assessment of RB-specific knockdown efficiency

A total of five RB-specific siRNAs were individually assessed for knockdown efficiency of the *RB1* gene in MCF7 cells (Figure 6). Cells were transfected with either siSCX control or siRB for 24 h, followed by exposure to either hypoxia (2% O₂) or normoxia (20% O₂) for an additional 24 h. Two RB-specific siRNAs, siRB4 and siRB5, demonstrated an 80% and 70% decrease in RB mRNA accumulation, respectively, in both hypoxic and normoxic conditions (Figure 6A). Changes in RB mRNA accumulation, as well as for changes in mRNA accumulation for subsequent RT-PCR experiments, were normalized to constitutively active and non-hypoxia inducible 36B4 gene expression. Both siRB4 and siRB5 also demonstrated a similar decrease in RB protein expression (Figure 6B). Both siRB4 and siRB5 were selected for subsequent knockdown experiments and used simultaneously to eliminate the possibility of mistaking any idiosyncratic responses that may result from one particular siRNA for a bona fide biological effect.

3.1.2. Effect of RB knockdown on angiogenesis master regulator VEGF

Tumour cells release angiogenesis-stimulating factors to induce growth of blood vessels that support tumour growth and metastasis. Without adequate vascularization, most tumours will not exceed a few cubic milimeters and remain clinically silent (Folkman, 1966). VEGF is a primary regulator of angiogenesis and is a direct target of HIF1 transcription (Foresythe *et al.*, 1996). Changes in VEGF mRNA accumulation was monitored by RT-PCR in MCF7 cells following siRNA transfection as described above. Changes in mRNA accumulation were measured after subsequent exposure to hypoxia (2% O₂) for 8 h, 12 h or 24 h. A significant increase in VEGF mRNA accumulation was observed in both siRB treated cells (70% for siRB4 and 62% for siRB5) following a 24 h exposure to hypoxia (Figure 7). Moreover, an increase was not observed under normoxic conditions, demonstrating that these effects are specific to hypoxia. VEGF is a secreted protein, thus changes in expression at the protein level could not be assessed by Western blot.



Figure 6. RB-specific siRNAs siRB4 and siRB5 demonstrate efficient knockdown of *RB1* gene expression

MCF7 cells were transfected with either siSCX or siRB for 24 h, followed by exposure to either normoxic (20% O_2) or hypoxic (2% O_2) conditions for an additional 24 h. (A) A total of 5 RB-specific siRNA were individually assessed for knockdown efficiency of the *RB1* gene by RT-PCR after isolation and reverse transcription of total RNA. Open bars represent normoxia and closed bars represent hypoxia. Error bars represent ± S.E.M. **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, N = 3. (B) RB protein expression levels assessed by Western blot following 24 h exposure to either normoxia or hypoxia.



Figure 7. Loss of RB results in a hypoxic-dependent increase in VEGF mRNA accumulation

MCF7 cells were transfected with either siSCX or siRB4 and siRB5 for 24 h followed by exposure to either normoxic (20% O₂) or hypoxic (2% O₂) conditions. (A) VEGF mRNA accumulation was assessed by RT-PCR following 8 h (N=1), 12 h (N=2) and 24 h (N=3) exposure to hypoxia. Open bars (white) represent normoxia and closed bars (grey) represent hypoxia. Error bars represent ±SEM. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

3.1.3. Effect of RB knockdown on expression of metastatic markers E-cadherin, CXCR4 and vimentin

EMT is a process in which cells transition from a sendentary epithelial-like cellular phenotype towards a more mobile mesenchymal-like phenotype and is also a requirement for metastasis to occur. Loss of epithelial cell marker E-cadherin is considered a hallmark of EMT, and is a process regulated by HIF1 target genes such as twist and snail (Yang et al., 2008; Imai et al., 2003). Expression of E-cadherin was monitored by Western blot in MCF7 cells following siRNA transfection as described above, followed by exposure to hypoxia (2% O₂) for 24 h or 48 h. Interestingly, an increase in E-cadherin protein expression was observed in siRB transfected cells exposed to 24 h of hypoxia, with trace amounts of expression observed under normoxia (Figure 8A). An overall increase E-cadherin protein expression was observed under both normoxia and hypoxia following 48 h compared to 24 h (Figure 8A-B). A slight decrease was observed under hypoxia compared to normoxia samples, but levels did not appear to decrease further in siRB treated cells (Figure 8B). Whether additional exposure to hypoxia was required to observe a greater decrease in E-cadherin in siRB transfected cells compared to siSCX was not addressed. Nonetheless, these results demonstrate that the role of E-cadherin in MCF7 cells still remains unclear.

Increased expression of another HIF1 target gene, the chemokine receptor CXCR4, has also been associated with EMT (Stellar *et al.*, 2003). Expression of CXCR4 was monitored at both the mRNA and protein level in MCF7 cells following siRNA transfection as described above. Changes in mRNA accumulation were measured after subsequent exposure to either hypoxia (2% O₂) or normoxia (20% O₂) at 8 h, 12 h and 24 h time points, whereas changes in protein expression were measured after 48 h exposure to hypoxia. A significant increase in CXCR4 mRNA accumulation was observed in both siRB treated cells (2.5 fold for siRB4 and 2 fold for siRB5) following a 24 h of exposure to hypoxia (Figure 9A). This increase was not observed under normoxic conditions, demonstrating that these effects are also specific to hypoxia. More importantly, a hypoxic-dependent increase was also observed at the protein level following 48 h exposure to hypoxia (Figure 9B)

52



Figure 8. Loss of RB does not result in an additional hypoxic-dependent decrease in E-cadherin protein expression

MCF7 cells were transfected with either siSCX and siRB4 or siRB5 for 24 h, followed by exposure to either normoxic (20% O_2) or hypoxic (2% O_2) conditions. (A) E-cadherin protein expression levels were assessed by Western blot following 24 h exposure to hypoxia, and (B) following 48 h exposure to either normoxia or hypoxia.



Figure 9. Loss of RB results in a hypoxic-dependent increase in CXCR4 mRNA accumulation and protein expression

MCF7 cells were transfected with either siSCX or siRB4 and siRB5 for 24 h, followed by exposure to either normoxic (20% O_2) or hypoxic (2% O_2) conditions. (A) CXCR4 mRNA accumulation was assessed by RT-PCR following 8 h (N=1), 12 h (N=2) and 24 h (N=3) exposure to hypoxia. Open bars (white) represent normoxia and closed bars (grey) represent hypoxia. Error bars represent ±SEM. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001. (B) CXCR4 protein expression levels assessed by Western blot following 48 h exposure to either normoxia or hypoxia.

Concurrent with a decrease in epithelial markers within cells undergoing EMT, is an increase in mesenchymal markers such as vimentin. Vimentin is a member of the intermediate filament family of cytoskeletal proteins that helps maintain the structural integrity of healthy tissue but promotes an invasive phenotype when over-expressed in cancer cells (Mendez *et al.*, 2010). A 3-fold hypoxic-dependent increase in mRNA accumulation was observed in siRB treated cells compared to siSCX following 24 h, however, no obvious increase in protein expression following 48 h exposure to hypoxia (Figure 10A-B). While up-regulation of vimentin expression is associated with HIF1 α activity, the relationship between the HIF1 transcription and vimentin expression in MCF7 cells still remains unclear.

3.1.4. Effect of RB knockdown on VEGF, CXCR4 and vimentin expression in MDA-MB-231 and LNCaP cells

A hypoxic-dependent increase in VEGF and CXCR4 mRNA accumulation (60% and 28%, respectively) was also observed following siRB knockdown and 24 h exposure to hypoxia in RB-positive MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer (Figure 11A). In addition, a hypoxic-dependent increase in mRNA accumulation of VEGF, CXCR4 and vimentin in LNCaP human prostate cancer cells (40%, 80%, and 42%, respectively) (Figure 11B). Changes in expression at the protein level have yet to be investigated, however, these results suggest that the role of RB in the hypoxic response may not be exclusive to MCF7 cells.

Taken together these results further support the hypothesis that RB attenuates the expression of HIF1 target genes that promotes angiogenesis and EMT. Loss of RB supports the hypoxic-dependent up-regulation of the angiogenic factor VEGF and the pro-metastatic factors CXCR4 and vimentin, which may ultimately contribute to increased invasive phenotype that supports metastasis. Furthermore, the concurrent hypoxic-dependent decrease in E-cadherin expression and the increase in vimentin expression following loss of RB, is indicative of EMT.



Figure 10. Loss of RB results in a hypoxic-dependent increase in vimentin mRNA accumulation but no change in protein expression

MCF7 cells were transfected with either siSCX or siRB4 and siRB5 for 24 h followed by exposure to either normoxic ($20\% O_2$) or hypoxic ($2\% O_2$) conditions. **(A)** Vimentin mRNA accumulation was assessed by RT-PCR following 24 h exposure to hypoxia. Open bars (white) represent normoxia and closed bars (grey) represent hypoxia. N=1. **(B)** Vimentin protein expression levels were assessed by Western blot following 48 h exposure to either normoxia or hypoxia.



Figure 11. Loss of RB results in a hypoxic-dependent increase in HIF1 target gene mRNA accumulation in MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer and LNCaP human prostate cancer cells

Cells were transfected with either siSCX or siRB4 and siRB5 for 24 h followed by exposure to either normoxic (20% O_2) or hypoxic (2% O_2) conditions. VEGF, CXCR4 and vimentin mRNA accumulation were assessed by RT-PCR following a 24 h exposure to hypoxia in (A) MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer cells, and (B) LNCaP human prostate cancer cells. Open bars (white) represent normoxia and closed bars (grey) represent hypoxia. N=1.

3.2. ARNT, TRIP230 and RB exist as part of a multi-meric complex

As described earlier, previous work has demonstrated that both RB and TRIP230 are recruited to the regulatory regions of HIF1 target genes VEGF and EPO (Appendix D). TRIP230 associates with the HIF1 transcription factor complex through a direct interaction with ARNT, and does not interact with HIF1α (Beischlag *et al.*, 2004). Moreover, RB attenuates TRIP230-mediated HRE reporter gene activity (Appendix B). It had yet to be established, however, if ARNT, TRIP230 and RB exist as part of a multimeric complex. Establishing the existence of an ARNT-TRIP230-RB complex would further support the hypothesis that RB does not repress HIF1-mediated transcription by preventing TRIP230 interaction, but rather attenuates transcription through a direct interaction with the HIF1 complex through TRIP230.

3.2.1. Generation and expression of GST-ARNT fusion moiety constructs

To assess the possibility of a multi-meric complex, a GST pull-down assay was performed using a GST-ARNT recombinant protein to isolate RB and TRIP230 from nuclear extracts of MCF7 cells exposed to hypoxia. The following regions were amplified from mouse ARNT cDNA and cloned into a GST-5X-1 expression vector: the PAS A domain encodes amino acids 157 - 252, the PAS B domain encodes amino acids 343 - 479, the PAS A-B domains encodes amino acids 157 - 479, and the N-PAS A-B encodes amino acids 2 - 479 (Figure 4A). GST proteins were expressed and purified from bacterial cells using glutathione agarose beads (Figure 4B). Protein concentrations were measured from a 20 µl aliquot of beads against a BSA standard (Figure 4C). High expression levels were achieved with pGEX alone and PAS B, but not with the other constructs. Since the PAS B domain of ARNT has been identified as the primary interaction domain of TRIP230, attempts at increasing expression of the other constructs were not pursued and GST alone was used as the only control in subsequent GST-ARNT pull-down experiments (Partch *et al.*, 2009).

3.2.2. Assessment of GST-PAS B pull-down of TRIP230 and RB

Approximately 30 µl of glutathione agarose beads bound with GST-PAS B and
GST alone bound to gluthatione agarose beads were mixed with 500 µg of MCF7 nuclear extract from cells exposed to hypoxia in PBS overnight at 4°C. Beads were washed twice in 0.5x RIPA (70 mM NaCl), followed by two washes in 1x RIPA (140 mM NaCl). Proteins were eluted off the beads by boiling in 2x SDS sample buffer and resolved by SDS-PAGE. The GST-PAS B fusion moiety was capable of pulling down TRIP230, with trace amounts observed in the GST alone sample (Figure 12A). Under these same conditions, GST-PAS B was also capable of pulling down RB, however, there was considerable amount of RB detected in the pGEX alone sample. Mixing GST protein and nuclear extract in Lysis buffer (400 mM NaCl, Figure 12B) or eluting off protein with 10 mM reduced glutathione (Figure 10C) resulted in no detectable RB in either samples. Increasing the stringency of washes with Lysis buffer (Figure 12D) or using less GST-protein (Figure 12E) reduced the amount RB within both GST-PAS B and GST samples but produced a slightly stronger interaction in the GST-PAS B. Using less GST-protein in combination with less nuclear extract (250 µg), the amount of RB within the GST alone sample was reduced but a weak RB interaction was still maintained with the GST-PAS B construct (Figure 12F). The pull-down repeated again under less stringent washing conditions, to one wash with 70 mM NaCl 0.5x RIPA buffer followed by four washes in 140 mM NaCl 1x RIPA. Also, RB was detected using an anti-RB mouse monoclonal antibody, rather than an anti-RB rabbit polyclonal antibody used in previous experiments. Under these conditions, a strong RB interaction was achieved with GST-PAS B, with minimal non-specific interaction detected with GST alone, as well as simultaneous pull-down of TRIP230 with the GST-PAS B (Figure 12G). These results suggest that TRIP230, RB and ARNT can exist in a single multi-meric complex, however, the role of RB within this complex still remains unclear.



Figure 12. TRIP230 and RB from MCF7 nuclear extract interact with a GST-PAS B construct

(A) Approximately 30 μ l of glutathione agarose beads bound with GST proteins were mixed with 500 μ g of MCF7 nuclear extract from cells exposed to hypoxia in PBS overnight at 4°C. Beads were then washed four times with increasing stringency of RIPA buffer. Protein was eluted off by boiling in 2x SDS sample buffer and resolved by SDS-PAGE. GST-PAS B was capable of pulling down TRIP230, with trace amounts observed in the GST alone sample, however, similar amounts of RB was detected in both GST alone and GST-PAS B samples. (B) GST protein and nuclear extracts were mixed in Lysis buffer. (C) GST proteins were eluted off with 10 mM reduced glutathione. (D) Increased stringent washes with Lysis buffer. (E) Using less GST protein. (F) Using less GST protein in combination with less nuclear extract (250 μ g). (G) Decreased stringent washes with RIPA buffer and detection of RB with a mouse monoclonal antibody.

3.2.3. An ARNT-interacting peptide blocks GST-PAS B pull-down of TRIP230 and RB

In addition to identifying the TRIP230-interaction domain of ARNT, the minimal region of TRIP230 required for ARNT interaction was also identified (Partch *et al.*, 2009). More specifically, an LRNHLL motif located within this region mediates interaction with the ARNT PAS-B domain. Since TRIP230 is a necessary co-activator for HIF1-mediated transcription and specifically interacts with ARNT, presumably disrupting this interaction would result in decreased HIF1 activity. This could potentially minimize the HIF1 response associated with angiogenesis and EMT and thus serve as basis for an anticancer therapy.

A GST pull-down assay using a GST-PAS B fusion moiety to pull-down TRIP230 was performed following the established protocol as previously described, except GSTfusion proteins were first pre-incubated overnight at 4°C with 50 µM of peptide corresponding to the LRNHLL motif of TRIP230 conjugated with a cell membrane transduction TAT domain and a fluorescent tag (TRIP1584) (Figure 5A). The peptide was capable of disrupting the interaction between GST-PAS B and TRIP230, while a negative control peptide had no effect (Figure 13A). Blocking the GST-PAS B-TRIP230 interaction also blocked recruitment of RB to the GST-PAS B construct (Figure 13B). The pull-down assay was repeated using two different TRIP230-interacting peptides, ARNT 315 and ARNT 492, that specifically block essential TRIP230 amino acids required for ARNT interaction (Figure 5B). Neither of these peptides alone were capable of disrupting the GST-PAS B-TRIP230 interaction (Figure 13C). Nonetheless, the TRIP1584 ARNT-interacting peptide establishes the efficacy of a blocking peptide capable of disrupting GST-PAS B-TRIP230 interaction. Moreover, loss of RB recruitment to the GST-PAS B construct now establishes the existence of an ARNT-TRIP230-RB multi-meric complex and that TRIP230 is required for RB recruiment to ARNT.



Figure 5. Schematic of the ARNT- and TRIP230-interacting peptides

An ARNT interacting peptide (TRIP1584) corresponds to a specific LRNHLL motif within TRIP230 that is required for ARNT-TRIP230 interaction. Two TRIP230-interacting peptides (ARNT392 and ARNT415) corresponds to important amino acids within ARNT required for the ARNT-TRIP230 interaction.



Figure 13. An ARNT-interacting peptide is capable of blocking ARNT-TRIP230-RB complex formation

Pull-down of TRIP230 with GST-PAS B construct was performed following the established protocol previously described, except GST proteins were first pre-incubated overnight at 4°C with 50 µM of an ARNT or TRIP230 interaction peptide, or a negative control peptide. (A) The TRIP1584 ARNT-interacting peptide was capable of disrupting interaction between GST-PAS B and TRIP230, while the negative control peptide had no effect. (B) Disruption of ARNT-TRIP230 interaction causes a disassociation between ARNT and RB. (C) Two TRIP230-interacting peptide (ARNT392 and ARNT415), each blocking amino acids essential for ARNT interaction, were unable to disrupt interaction between GST-PAS B and TRIP230.

3.3. The C-terminal region within the RB-interaction domain of TRIP230 contains the minimal interaction domain

The results presented above demonstrate an association between loss of RB and the deregulation of HIF1 target genes involved in angiogenesis and invasion (Figure 7-10). Furthermore, knockdown of RB in MCF7 cells leads to a dramatic increase in hypoxia-dependent cell invasion, as demonstrated in a matrigel invasion assay (Appendix C). Altogether, this work has set the foundation for investigating the role of RB in HIF1-mediated tumour progression in an animal model. To address this, a transgenic mouse expressing a mutant TRIP230 will be created where the specific amino acids of TRIP230 required for RB-interaction will be mutated. This approach should mimic the loss of RB, while minimally disrupting the structure and function of TRIP230, as a mutant lacking the RB-interaction domain still has co-activation capabilities (Appendix B). This mouse will then be crossed with an existing brain cancer mouse model, the *Nfl;p53 cis-/*+ mouse, or breast cancer mouse model, the MMTV-PyMT^{634Mul}, to investigate whether disrupting TRIP230-RB-interaction increases the progression and hyper-vascularization of tumours.

3.3.1. Generation and expression of GST-TRIP230 fusion moiety deletion constructs

A 125 amino acid RB-interaction domain of TRIP230 has already been identified within amino acids 1099 and 1255 (Chang *et al.*, 1997). To identify the specific amino acids required for RB-interaction within this domain, the minimal interaction region was first identified by GST pull-down analysis to create a smaller and more manageable region to perform alanine scanning analysis using site directed mutagenesis. An initial set of six successive 20 amino acid deletion mutants of the RB-interaction domain were PCR amplified from full length TRIP230 up until amino acid 1498, and cloned into a pGEX-5X-1 expression vector: TRIP1120, TRIP1144, TRIP1166, TRIP1188, TRIP1211, and TRIP1241 (Figure 3). In addition, a TRIP1091 construct containing the full-length interaction domain and a TRIP1264 construct lacking the entire interaction domain were developed to serve as controls. Constructs were named in reference to the N-terminal TRIP230 amino acid.

Low levels of GST-TRIP230 proteins were detected following the standard protocol described above for expressing GST constructs (Figure 14A). Bacterial cells are particularly durable due to the additional protection provided by the cell wall and thus optimizing the cell lysing procedure may increase recovery of GST protein from bacteria cells. Multiple freeze thaw cycles of pellets prior to sonication could not increase recovery (Figure 14C), nor could resuspending cell pellets in a high salt Lysis buffer prior to sonication (Figure 14D). GST protein was detected in the pellet of the TRIP1120 sample, which would suggest the possibility of GST proteins forming inclusion bodies, but this may also have been a result of the high salt lysing conditions. Purified GST-TRIP230 protein was not assessed since increased protein expression was not achieved.

Modifications were then applied to enhance expression and increasing GST protein yield. Inducing expression during the exponential growth phase of bacteria is important for achieving high levels of expression but if induced too early, protein may degrade, resulting in low yields. Expression was assessed at the later stages of the exponential growth phase (OD600 of 0.6 and 0.9) using either 0.1 mM, 0.5 mM and 1.0 mM IPTG for either 1, 4 or 8 H. None of these conditions significantly enhanced expression, which suggested that degradation of GST proteins is not occurring (Figure Purified GST-TRIP230 protein was not assessed since increased protein 15A). expression was not achieved. Expression was then assessed when induced at an earlier stage of the growth cycle and at a lower temperature to slow down the bacterial growth rate, providing more time for protein expression. Sufficient levels were achieved for most of the constructs when expression was induced between an OD600 of 0.4 and 0.5 with 1 mM IPTG for 4 hours at 30°C (Figure 15B). GST-TRIP230 protein eluted from a 20 µl aliquot of beads following purification demonstrated a relatively pure yield of protein (Figure 15C). Increased expression was not observed with the TRIP1091, TRIP1144 and TRIP1241 constructs, thus multiple rounds of expression were performed and pooled together to obtain enough protein for pull-down experiments.

65



Figure 2. Schematic of the GST-TRIP230 deletion fusion moiety constructs

A total of 11 successive 20-amino acid deletion constructs of the TRIP230 RBinteraction domain were amplified from full-length TRIP230 and cloned into pGEX-5X-1. Constructs were named in reference to the N-terminal TRIP230 amino acid that each construct was amplified from. The full length TRIP230 schematic depicts the RBinteraction domain (RB), the ARNT interaction domain (ARNT), and the thyroid receptor interaction domain (TR).



Figure 14. GST-TRIP230 protein recovery following multiple freeze cycles of bacterial cell pellets and high salt bacterial cell lysing conditions

Recombinant pGEX-5X-1 plasmids were individually transformed into BL21 bacterial cells. A 2 ml overnight bacterial cell culture was subcultured into 25 ml of LB-amp and allowed to expand. GST proteins were subsequently expressed following IPTG induction for an additional period of time. Bacterial cells were then lysed by sonication and a 20 µl aliquot of bacterial cell lysate from each sample was resolved by SDS-PAGE and protein expression was assessed by Coomassie staining. (A) Bacterial cultures were grown for 4 h at 37°C and protein expression was induced with 0.5 mM IPTG for an additional 1 h at 37°C. Bacterial cells were then lysed by sonication in 1 ml PBS. (B) A 1 µg sample of purified GST-TRIP230 protein resolved by SDS-PAGE and assessed by Coomassie staining. (C) Bacterial cell pellets underwent multiple freeze thaw cycles prior to sonication. (D) Bacterial cells were resusupended in high salt Lysis buffer prior to sonication. GST protein was not lost within the cell lysate pellet following sonication.



Figure 15. GST-TRIP230 protein expression following IPTG induction at different concentrations, exponential growth phases and temperature

(A) Protein expression induced at later stages of the exponential growth phase (OD600 of 0.6 and 0.9) using either 0.1 mM, 0.5 mM and 1.0 mM IPTG. (B) Protein expression induced at earlier stage of the exponential growth phase (OD600 of 0.4-0.5) and at a 30°C. (C) Purified GST-TRIP230 protein was assessed from a 20 μ I aliquot of beads boiled in 2x SDS sample buffer.

3.3.2. Assessment of GST-TRIP230 deletion construct pull-down of RB

Preliminary experiments were performed using TRIP1091, TRIP1120 and Equi-molar concentrations of GST-TRIP230 and GST alone TRIP1264 constructs. bound to gluthathione agarose beads were mixed with 250 µg of MCF7 nuclear extract from cells exposed to hypoxia in PBS overnight at 4°C. Beads were then washed and protein was eluted off by boiling in 2x SDS sample buffer, then resolved by SDS-PAGE. Interaction was observed with TRIP1120 but not TRIP1091 or the pGEX and TRIP1264 controls (Figure 16A). These results suggested that the first 20 amino acids of the RBinteraction domain are not required for interaction, thus TRIP1091 was only used in subsequent experiments when sufficient protein levels could be expressed. When repeated using all GST-TRIP230 constructs, interaction was observed with TRIP1120, TRIP1166, TRIP1188, and weak interaction with TRIP1211 (Figure 16B). No interaction was observed with TRIP1144 and TRIP1241, however, significantly less GST protein was detected in both of these samples. When repeated using 300 mM NaCl Lysis buffer washing conditions, RB-interaction was lost with TRIP1211 (Figure 16C). Again, since interaction was still retained with TRIP1120 and TRIP1166, TRIP1144 was only used in subsequent experiments when sufficient protein levels could be expressed.

In an attempt to enhance RB-interaction and more clearly define the minimal interaction domain, the pull-down was repeated using cell lysate from 293T cells transfected with an RB expression plasmid (Figure 17A). The pull-down was repeated using 300 mM NaCl Lysis buffer washing conditions, revealing a similar interaction pattern as with MCF7 nuclear extract with only a slightly enhanced signal (Figure 16B vs Figure 16C). Using increased amounts of GST protein in addition to 293T cell lysates revealed interaction with both TRIP1211 and TRIP1241 constructs (Figure 17C). Since these results were inconsistent with the TRIP1120/TRIP1166/TRIP1188 interaction pattern previously observed, these interactions were considered non-specific.

69



Figure 16. RB-interaction with GST-TRIP230 deletion constructs using MCF7 nuclear extract demonstrates inconsistent results

GST proteins were mixed overnight at 4°C with MCF7 nuclear extract from cells exposed to hypoxia. Beads were then washed and protein was eluted off by boiling in 2x SDS sample buffer and resolved by SDS-PAGE. (A) TRIP1091, TRIP1120, TRIP1264 and GST alone were mixed with 250 µg of MCF7 nuclear extract in PBS and washed three times with PBS. GST-TRIP1091 was no longer used in subsequent pull-down experiments. (B) RB-interaction was assessed with the remaining TRIP230 constructs under the same conditions. (C) Beads were washed using 300 mM NaCl Lysis buffer.



Figure 17. RB-interaction with GST-TRIP230 deletion constructs using cell lysate from 293T cells transfected with an RB expression plasimid demonstrates inconsistent results

GST proteins were mixed with MCF7 nuclear extract from cells exposed to hypoxia overnight at 4°C. Beads were then washed and protein was eluted off by boiling in 2x SDS sample buffer and resolved by SDS-PAGE. (A) 293T cells were transiently transfected with an RB expression vector. The amount of RB in 30 μ g of MCF7 nuclear extract from cells exposed to hypoxia and 30 μ g of cell lysate from 293T cells were compared. (B) GST-TRIP230 constructs were mixed with cell lysate from 293T cells transfected with an RB expression plasmid. (C) Pull-down was repeated using increased amounts of GST protein.

Purified sources of RB protein were also explored to help reduce the amount of background noise. *In vitro* translation is one tool for synthesizing a pure source of protein within a cell free system. Attempts to *in vitro* translate RB from full-length cDNA were not successful, as a full-length RB protein could not be synthesized (Figure 18A). Purified full length RB was then purchased and the pull-down assay was repeated using 140 mM NaCl RIPA buffer washes as originally described using nuclear extracts. Using 0.1 µg per reaction as recommend by the manufacturer's protocol, produced a significantly weaker RB-interaction (Figure 18B). Increasing this amount to 0.3 µg could produce a clear interaction pattern (Figure 18C). Interestingly, purified RB appeared to interact more readily with the TRIP1264 control. This was a cause for concern, since TRIP1264 does not contain amino acids within the putative RB-interaction domain (Chang *et al.*, 1997).

The question was then raised as to whether or not the antibody was detecting a species of the same size that was being pulled-down. The pull-down was repeated using 300 mM NaCl Lysis buffer washing conditions as previously described using nuclear extracts. Detection using a mouse monoclonal RB antibody significantly reduced background noise, however, RB-interaction was barely detectable (Figure 19A). Decreasing the stringency of washes using 300 mM NaCl PPI buffer improved interaction (Figure 19B), however, results of repeated experiments no longer demonstrated a consistent and logical interaction pattern (Figure 19C).

In order to limit the use of glutathione agarose beads used per reaction, GST proteins remained on the beads throughout the experiment. Since each GST-TRIP230 deletion construct did not express at the same efficiency, the volume of protein-bound beads varied per construct for each pull-down experiment. Interestingly, those constructs that did not express well (for example TRIP1144 and TRIP1241) and thus required more beads per reaction, displayed the strongest interaction with RB in several experiments (see Figure 19). This observation raised the possibility that non-specific interaction of RB was occurring on the beads alone and that the inconsistencies observed might be a result of varying concentrations of protein-bound beads used per reaction. Elutes boiled off from beads alone mixed with nuclear extracts were then assessed by western blot and demonstrated that RB was in fact interacting with the

beads alone (Figure 20). This prompted a modification to the protocol where GSTproteins were eluted off the beads prior to mixing with nuclear extracts overnight at 4°C.

GST proteins were then added back onto fresh beads by mixing for 2 h at room temperature. Modification of the TRIP1241 construct was also prompted upon closer inspection of the unique amino acids found within this construct, which revealed two consecutive negatively charged amino acids located near the N-terminus that could possibly be interfering with folding (Figure 21A). Two modified constructs were then made that were either 6 amino acids longer (TRIP1236) or 6 amino acids shorter (TRIP1247). The TRIP1247 construct that excluded those two amino acids expressed at significantly higher levels compared to TRIP1236 and thus replaced the TRIP1241 construct in subsequent pull-down experiments (Figure 21B).

Pull-down experiments were then repeated following the modified protocol using nuclear extracts and 300 mM NaCl PPI buffer washes. While interaction appeared weak with the longer GST-TRIP230 constructs, strong interaction was consistently observed with TRIP1247 (Figure 22A). Weak interactions observed with the larger constructs may be due to other factors within the extract interfering with RB's ability to bind to the GST construct. Purified RB demonstrated a more consistent banding pattern with the larger fragments in addition to TRIP1247 (Figure 22B), however, this also increased the occurrence of non-specific binding occurring with the pGEX and TRIP1264 controls (Figure 22C). To confirm that TRIP1264 was not a part of the TRIP230 RB-interaction as previously demonstrated, the TRIP1290 construct was constructed and assessed following the same protocol. RB-interaction with the TRIP1264 controls (Figure 23). Taken together, these results suggest that the minimal interaction domain may lie within amino acids 1247 and 1255 of the TRIP230 RB-interaction domain, however, further experiments will be needed for conformation.

73



Figure 18. RB-interaction with TRIP230 deletion constructs using purified RB demonstrates inconsistent results

Pull-down experiments with GST-TRIP230 constructs were repeated using purified sources of RB. **(A)** Attempts to *in vitro* translate RB from full length cDNA were unsuccessful as a full length RB protein could not be synthesized. Pull-down assay was repeated using 0.1 μ g **(B)** and 0.3 μ g **(C)** of purchased purified full length RB.



Figure 19. Pull-down assay with GST-TRIP230 deletion constructs repeated using a mouse monoclonal antibody

(A) Pull-down experiments with GST-TRIP230 constructs were repeated with 6 washes of 300 mM NaCl Lysis buffer washes (6x Lysis buffer). Detection for RB-interaction was assessed by Western blot with an anti-RB mouse monoclonal antibody. (B) Pull-down experiments were repeated except washed either 6 times or 3 times 300 mM NaCl PPI buffer washing conditions (6x or 3x PPI buffer). (C) Results of repeated experiments with 300 mM NaCl PPI buffer washing conditions.



Figure 20. RB interacts with unbound glutathione agarose beads

Elutes from glutathione agarose beads mixed alone with nuclear extracts and washed with 300 mM NaCl PPI buffer. RB-interaction was assessed by Western blot.

Α

В

LQ<u>EE</u>LHQLQAQVLVDSDNNSKL



Figure 21. Expression of TRIP1236 and TRIP1247 constructs

(A) Unique amino acids within the GST-1241 construct. The underlined glutamic acid residues are negatively charged at physiological pH. (B) Recombinant pGEX-5X-1 plasmids were transformed and expressed in BL21 bacteria following the established protocol. A 20 μ I aliquot of bacterial cell lysate from each sample was resolved by SDS-PAGE and protein expression was assessed by Coomassie staining.



Figure 22. RB-interaction with TRIP230 deletion constructs demonstrates consistent interaction with the TRIP1247 construct

Pull-down experiments with GST-TRIP230 constructs were repeated using unbound GST protein mixed with either (A) MCF7 nuclear extract or (B) purified RB. (C) Pulldown experiments using purified RB were also repeated using 10 mM reduced glutathione to elute proteins from beads.



Figure 23. The TRIP230 RB-interaction domain does not extend past amino acid 1264

Pull-down experiments were repeated with MCF7 nuclear extract and the addition of a TRIP1290 construct, cloned and expressed as previously described.

4. Discussion

4.1. Establishing EMT in tumour cells is complex

The process of EMT was first recognized during development, where cells undergo a broad spectrum of changes to organize tissue and give rise to multiple components of the body. Parallels are now being observed between the molecular mechanisms required for EMT in development and those involved in invasion of tumour cells. This would suggest that tumour cells activate a similar EMT process to promote a more mobile cellular phenotype that supports invasion and metastasis into the surrounding tissue. While a number of *in vitro* studies have demonstrated that aberrant regulation of a small number of EMT-associated proteins in tumour cells promote a more invasive phenotype, observing similar patterns of aberrant regulation within human tumours does not conclusively demonstrate the occurrence of EMT (Hlubek *et al.*, 2001; Perl *et al.*, 1998; Janda *et al.*, 2002). Moreover, the ability to identify definitive markers of EMT has been proven difficult due to the genomic instability of tumour cells, thus the occurrence of EMT cannot be simply based on the deregulation of a few EMT-associated proteins alone.

It has been suggested that the acquisition of a metastatic phenotype in tumour cells may simply be a consequence of genomic instability, and not due to the intent activation of EMT. The accumulation of mutations may allow tumour cells to revert back to a de-differentiated state, rather than undergo a trans-differentiation process like EMT, resulting in a more mobile cellular phenotype (Klymkowsky and Savagner, 2009). While the genomic instability of tumour cells can lead to mutations within EMT-associated proteins, it is highly unlikely that mutation alone can account for all the necessary changes in cell morphology and gene expression patterns required for a more mobile phenotype.

It has been well established that external signals from within the tumour microenvironment heavily influence the metastatic potential of tumour cells. Growth factors such as TGF- β and FGF are secreted by neighbouring stromal cells, which activate signalling pathways in tumour cells similar to those required for EMT in development (Wang et al., 2005; Romano et al., 2000; Ciruna et al., 2001; Boyer et al., 1997). Hypoxia is one of many external signals within the tumour microenvironment that promotes tumour growth and invasion. Previous work has provided evidence to suggest that RB attenuates the HIF1-mediated hypoxic response, and that loss of RB supports a more invasive cellular phenotype in MCF7 human breast cancer cells. In this study, siRNA knockdown of RB in MCF7 cells was performed to identify HIF1 target genes involved in angiogenesis and EMT that are directly regulated by RB (Figures 7-10). This would help further characterize the invasive phenotype observed in MCF7 cells due to loss of RB, and ultimately provide insight into how the hypoxic response contributes to metastasis. The HIF1 target gene CXCR4 has been identified as an EMT-associated protein directly up-regulated following loss of RB in MCF7 cells exposed to hypoxia (Figure 9). It has previously been reported that exposure to hypoxia does not increase invasiveness in MCF7 cells (Lundgren et al., 2009). Thus, this data provides a rationale for the increase in invasiveness observed in MCF7 cells exposed to hypoxia following loss of RB. However, to establish that CXCR4 is a contributor to the observed invasive phenotype, this data would have to be supported by a functional assay. Repeating the siRb knockdown invasion assay coupled with the knockdown of CXCR4 should decrease the observed invasive phenotype if either of these proteins are mediators of EMT. If no decrease in invasion is observed, then it is likely that CXCR4 alone is not sufficient for invasion to occur and requires other factors to drive EMT in MCF7 cells.

To demonstrate more conclusively that EMT is occurring, further characterization of the invasive phenotype in MCF7 cells is required. Monitoring for changes in expression of other epithelial cell markers, such as keratin, and other mesenchymal cell markers, such as fibronectin, N-cadherin and fibroblast surface protein 1, will strengthen the argument that loss of RB promotes a hypoxic-dependent EMT. Changes in expression of factors required to breakdown extra-cellular matrix components to facilitate invasion can also be assessed. An increase in factors such as MMPs or collagenase can be assessed using techniques such as in-gel zymography, an SDS-PAGE technique

81

that specifically detects for enzymatic degradation of a substrate co-polymerized with the polyacrylamide gel. An increase in extra-cellular matrix degradation factors following loss of RB in MCF7 cells would result in increased substrate degradation within the polyacrylamide gel that can be visualized by Coommassie staining.

Changes in cell polarity are another primary indicator of EMT, as epithelial cells have a distinct apical-basolateral polarization characterized by the asymmetric organization of cell surface molecules and the actin cytoskeleton. Additional immunohistochemical analysis should be performed to detect for changes in distribution of adherin junction proteins, such as cadherins and integrins, or organization of the actin cytoskeleton between siRB-treated MCF7 cells exposed to either normoxic or hypoxic conditions. If EMT is occurring as a result of RB knockdown, a hypoxic-dependent reorganization in cell polarity proteins should be observed.

4.2. Characterizing EMT through loss of E-cadherin

Decreased expression of E-cadherin is considered a hallmark of EMT, however, the detailed mechanisms involved with down-regulation of E-cadherin during EMT remains unclear. A decrease in E-cadherin expression in response to hypoxia has previously been reported in cancer cells, including human clear cell renal carcinoma (Esteban et al., 2006), LNCaP human prostate cancer cells (Imani et al., 2003), as well as in MCF7 cells (Lundgren et al., 2009). In this study, expression of E-cadherin was monitored by Western blot to determine whether or not loss of E-cadherin was occurring in siRB-treated MCF7 cells. A slight decrease in E-cadherin was observed in cells exposed to 2% O₂ for 48 h, with no additional decrease observed in siRB knockdown samples (Figure 8). This was not expected since several HIF1 targets, such as snail, are direct repressors of E-cadherin expression. Lundgren and colleagues reported a significant decrease in E-cadherin expression in MCF7 cells, however, this was observed following a 72 h exposure to 0.1% O₂. Previously studies have reported that maximal expression of HIF1α occurs at 0.5% O₂, whereas half-maximal expression occurs between 1.5-2% O₂. It could be suggested that exposure to more severe hypoxic conditions may be required for greater loss of E-cadherin in siRB-treated MCF7 cells,

however, personal observation has not established a difference in HIF1 α activity within MCF7 cells between 2% O₂ and 0.5% O₂ (Dr. Beishclag, personal communication)

Interestingly, a recent study reported observing an increase in mesenchymal markers Zeb1, fibroblast-specific protein 1 and slug, prior to observing a decrease in E-cadherin within a pancreatic cancer mouse model (Rhim *et al.*, 2012). This would suggest that perhaps siRB-treated MCF7 cells require exposure to hypoxia for a period longer than 48 h to observe a greater loss in E-cadherin expression. Moreover, it appears as though only a small subset of cells within a tumour metastasize, since not every cell within a tumour has the same genetic background and is exposed to the same external environment. Thus, observing a decrease in markers that are typically expressed in MCF7 cells, like E-cadherin, would be more difficult if EMT is only occurring within a small population of cells, compared to observing an increase in markers not typically expressed, like vimentin. A longer exposure to hypoxia may then provide more time for additional cells to under EMT and allow for a greater decrease in E-cadherin expression to occur.

Clinical data has not consistently observed a loss of E-cadherin with aggressive forms of breast cancer, which makes characterizing EMT through loss of E-cadherin even more complex. Some studies have recognized an association between aberrant E-cadherin expression and a more advanced staged tumour for breast cancer (Rasbridge *et al.*, 1993, Oka *et al.*, 1993), whereas others have observed no such correlation (Bukholm *et al.*, 1997). MCF7 cells used for this study originate from the ductal epithelial cells of breast tissue, which normally express E-cadhrin. Interestingly, loss of E-cadherin has been reported more frequently with infiltrating lobular carcinoma compared to invasive ductal carcinoma (Moll *et al.*, 1993). Thus, taking all these factors into consideration, a minimal decrease in E-cadherin expression observed in siRB-treated MCF7 cells exposed to hypoxia does not necessarily imply that an EMT-like process is not occurring. Additional experiments, such as those described above, will provide further insight into the mechanisms driving invasion in MCF7 cells following loss of RB.

4.3. Establishing a general mechanism for HIF1-mediated tumour progression processes regulated by RB

Expression of HIF1 target genes were assessed following loss of RB in other human cancer cell lines exposed to hypoxia, to determine whether or not the role of RB in the hypoxic response was exclusive to MCF7 cells. A hypoxic dependent increase in VEGF and CXCR4 expression was observed in both MDA-MB-231 and LNCaP cells, as well as in vimentin expression in LNCaP cells (Figure 11). While these results are similar to those observed in MCF7, more data is required to conclusively demonstrate a role for RB in the HIF1-mediated hypoxic response within these cell lines. There are several factor that may render it difficult to establish a general mechanism for HIF1mediated invasion and metastasis regulated by RB. Since the genetic background of each tumour is so diverse, not every cancer will express the same signature of HIF1 target gene or will have the same requirements for inducing cell invasion. For example, in contrast to MCF7 cells, MDA-MB-231 cells do not express E-cadherin but continuously express vimentin, however, exposure to hypoxia alone does not change their invasive potential (Lombaerts et al., 2006; Lundgren et al., 2009). This would suggest that additional genetic alterations may be required to enhance the hypoxic response of MDA-MB-231 cells and increase migration. Interestingly, MDA-MB-231 cells do express RB, which may be involved in regulating process for cell invasion. To test this, the invasive potential of MDA-MB-231 cells in response to hypoxia following loss of RB could be assessed using a matrigel invasion assay.

Not all cells respond to hypoxia in the same fashion, adding an additional level of complexity when establishing loss of RB under hypoxia as a general mechanism for tumour progression (Chi *et al.*, 2006). Oxygen tension and threshold response to hypoxia vary among cells since not every cell is exposed to the same concentration of oxygen. For example, cells within the lung are exposed to far greater concentrations of oxygen compared to cells within the bone marrow (Simone and Keith, 2008). Moreover, inappropriate activation of the hypoxic response may also result from pre-existing genetic or epigenetic alterations. For example, mutations within the VHL tumour suppressor protein in cancer cells is common, resulting in the hypoxic-independent activation of HIF1-mediated transcription (Zhong *et al.*, 1999; Maxwell *et al.*, 1999). Thus, cells that express a non-functional VHL protein, such as ECC-1 human endometrial

cancer cells, will have a decreased hypoxic response (Beischlag lab, unpublished data). Conversely, cells mutant for the p53 tumour suppressor protein and estrogen receptornegative breast cancer cells have increased hypoxia sensitivity.

4.4. The role of RB in HIF1 transcriptional regulation

Results from this study provide additional support to the hypothesis that RB attenuates the HIF1-mediated transcriptional response through a direct interaction with TRIP230. RB is recruited to the HRE regions of HIF1 target gene in a hypoxic dependent manner and loss of RB leads to the significant up-regulation of HIF1 target genes VEGF and CXCR4 (Appendix D; Figure 7; Figure 9). Moreover, both Hepa-1 and MCF7 cells transfected with RB and TRIP230 showed a significant decrease in HRE reporter gene activity, compared to cells transfected with RB and a TRIP230 mutant lacking the RB-interaction domain (Appendix B). A previous study reported that RB interacts with the HIF1 complex through HIF1 α to enhance transcription (Budde et al.,2003). RB is involved with the transcriptional activation of genes required for muscle and macrophage differentation, however, RB does not associate directly with regulatory regions of target genes to enhance transcription (lavarone et al., 2004; Puri et al., 2001). Rather, RB facilitates transcriptional activation by releasing other factors that do associate with regulatory regions of target genes. Budde and colleagues based their conclusions solely on luciferase assays performed with a constitutively active RB expression plasmid. Factors required for transcription that are over-expressed in cells behave differently when initiating transcription within a reporter gene assay. Moreover, these observations were made under normoxic conditions, when HIF1a does not associate with the regulatory of target genes, which makes these results difficult to interpret.

Another study demonstrated that loss of RB contributes to EMT in a hypoxicindependent manner in MCF7 cells (Arima *et al.*, 2008). Loss of RB in MCF7 cells produced a morphological change towards a fibroblast-spindle shape, which is characteristic of EMT, and re-organized the actin filaments to produce filapodia-like and lamellipodia-like structures. Moreover, RB promotes up-regulation of E-cadherin through an associated with E-cadherin promoter, and loss of RB resulted in the translocation of E-cadherin and β -catenin from the cell membrane towards the cytoplasm. Since E-cadherin is not a HIF1 target gene, this would suggest that RB is functioning through a different transcription factor. EMT can be initiated through signals other than hypoxia, such as TGF- β or FGF signaling, thus loss of RB could regulate other factors that influence EMT in a hypoxic-independent manner.

4.5. Existence of an ARNT-TRIP230-RB multi-meric complex supports a role for RB in HIF1-mediated transcription

Initial studies have demonstrated that TRIP230 and RB are recruited to the regulator regions of HIF1 target genes (Appendix D). Moreover, RB attenuates HREreporter gene activity through a direct interaction with TRIP230 (Appendix B). TRIP230 has previously been identified as an ARNT interacting protein, however it had yet to be established whether ARNT, TRIP230 and RB exist as part of a multi-meric complex (Beischlag et al., 2004). This would provide additional evidence supporting RB as an attenuator for HIF1-mediated transcription. A GST pull-down assay revealed the simultaneous pull-down of TRIP230 and RB with a GST-PAS B fusion moitey, which suggests the existence of a ARNT-TRIP230-RB mutlimeric complex (Figure 12G). This alone, however, does not clearly demonstrate relationship between TRIP230 and RB interaction within this complex. While it has previously been demonstrated that RB is not an ARNT interacting protein, this does not rule out the possibility that a protein other than TRIP230 is involved RB recruitment to ARNT (Elferink et al., 2001). Addition of an ARNT-interacting peptide reveals that RB association with GST-PAS B is lost when TRIP230 interaction with GST-PAS B is blocked (Figure 13). If an additional protein was involved with RB association to ARNT, the GST-PAS B would still be capable of pulling down RB (Figure 24). This now demonstrates that TRIP230 is required for RB recruitment to ARNT, thus establishing the existence of an ARNT-TRIP230-RB multimeric complex.



Figure 24. TRIP230 is required for RB recruitment to ARNT

A GST-PAS B construct is capable of pulling down both RB and TRIP230, however, this does not clearly establish the relationship between TRIP230 and RB interaction within this complex. (A) Addition of an ARNT-interacting peptide capable of disrupting the GST-PAS B-TRIP230 interaction blocks recruitment of RB to GST-PAS B. This eliminates the possibility of an additional protein involved in RB recruitment, as RB interaction would still be maintained with GST-PAS B. (B) Altogether, this establishes the existence of an ARNT-TRIP230-RB multi-meric complex.

4.6. Establishing an ARNT-interacting peptide as an inhibitor of the HIF1-mediated hypoxic response

TRIP230 has been established as a necessary co-activator for HIF1 transcription through an interaction with ARNT (Beischlag et al., 2004). Presumably, a decrease in the HIF1-mediated hypoxic response could be achieved by disrupting the TRIP230-ARNT interaction. This study demonstrates that an ARNT-interacting peptide is capable of disrupting ARNT-TRIP230 interaction, causing a dissociation of RB-interaction (Figures 11). This peptide can now be applied to cell culture to demonstrate if loss of TRIP230-ARNT interaction can decrease the HIF1-mediated hypoxic response in vivo following loss of RB. It would be expected that disrupting this interaction in siRB treated MCF7 cells would decrease CXCR4 and VEGF expression under hypoxia. SiRNA knockdown of TRIP230 has already demonstrated a decrease in hypoxic induction of VEGF expression (Beischlag et al., 2004). Moreover, applying this peptide to siRB treated MCF7 cells exposed to hypoxia decreases invasion in a matrigel invasion assay (Appendix E). Thus, it is expected that the TRIP230-interacting peptide will produce a similar cellular phenotype as observed following loss of RB. This peptide can now be applied to animal models for the potential development of a novel therapy to inhibit tumour progression.

Two TRIP230-interacting peptides were applied to the GST-PAS B pull-down assay, but were not successful at disrupting the ARNT-TRIP230 interaction (Figure 11C). Each peptide blocked a previously identified essential amino acid in ARNT required for TRIP230-ARNT interaction (Partch *et al.*, 2009). These essential amino acids are not a part of a previously defined protein-protein interaction motif, unlike the LNRNHLL motif within TRIP230, which is a variant of the LXXLL motif. Mutating these essential amino acids only decreased interaction, rather than eliminate interaction completely, which may explain why these peptides did not disrupt ARNT-TRIP230 interaction. Alternatively, there may have been not enough amino acids within the peptide to form a stable interaction with ARNT. Nonetheless, future studies conducted to assess the consequences of disrupting the ARNT-TRIP230 interaction on HIF1-mediated transcription will be conducted using the ARNT-interacting peptide.

4.7. Establishing the C-terminal portion as the minimal RBinteraction domain of TRIP230

Using a set of GST fusion moieties containing successive deletion mutants of the TRIP230 RB-interaction domain, consistent interaction was observed with the 1247 construct and suggets that minimal RB-interaction domain is within amino acids 1247 and 1255 (Figure 22A-B). Additionally, there was a consistent interaction observed with the TRIP1264 negative control, which was a cause of concern (Figure 22C). To confirm if the minimal RB-interaction domain is within amino acids 1247 and 1255, the pull-down could be repeated using a GST-fusion moiety containing a mutant RB-interaction domain lacking the unique amino acids found within the TRIP1247 construct. If the TRIP1247 construct does contain the true minimal RB-interaction domain, then a disruption in TRIP230-RB-interaction would be expected. Alternatively, the pull-down could be repeated using a peptide that specifically interacts with the unique amino acids found within the TRIP1247 construct.

The purpose of identifying the essential amino acids required for TRIP230-RBinteraction was to eventually make a transgenic mouse model that expresses a TRIP230 mutant for the specific amino acids required for RB-interaction. This mouse will then be crossed with an existing brain cancer mouse model, the Nfl;p53 cis-/+ mouse, or breast cancer mouse model, the MMTV-PyMT^{634Mul}, to investigate whether disrupting TRIP230-RB-interaction increases the progression and hyper-vascularization of tumours. The advantage of using these models is that they are both responsive to hypoxia and the occurrence of tumour progression is modest (Kalliomaki et al., 2008). Thus, an increase in the progression of tumours under a TRIP230 mutant background would be more easily detected. Altering the specific amino acids required for TRIP230-RB-interaction would minimally disrupt the endogenous structure and function of TRIP230. If the minimal interaction domain cannot be identified, a transgenic mouse model could also be constructed with a TRIP230 mutant lacking the entire RB-interaction domain. A blast search performed on the RB-interaction domain identified homology with other centromere interacting proteins, which suggests that this region may also function in centromere positioning. Thus, removal of the entire RB-interacting domain may interefere with other TRIP230 functions. Nonetheless, it could still demonstrate increased invasiveness of tumour cells and ultimately help establish a role for RB in the hypoxic response under a breast or brain cancer mouse model.

RB contains a characteristic 'pocket' region, comprised of an A domain and a B domain, that mediates interaction with other proteins, including E2F transcription factors. The shallow grooves within the B domain interact with an LXCXE motif found within a majority RB-interacting protein, where the X donates any amino acid (Singh *et al.*, 2005). The L and the C typically form H-bonds through their backbone carbonyl group, where the E forms an H-bond through its OH group in its R group. Surrounding amino acids also contribute H-bonds and van der waals forces to the interaction, but are not required. While the LXCXE is conserved in several proteins, there are some LXCXE-like motifs that can also interact with RB. They include the LXFXE motif of tax, the LXSXE motif of protein phosphatase 1 (PP1), and the IXCXE motif of HDAC1 (Singh *et al.*, 2005; Kehn *et al.*, 2005; Dunaief *et al.*, 2002). Other RB-interacting proteins, like plasminogen activator inhibitor-2, contain a PENF motif, however, this domain typically interacts with C-domain outside of the pocket region (Singh *et al.*, 2005).

A yeast two-hybrid assay demonstrated that TRIP230 primarily interacts with the A and B domains of RB's 'pocket' region (Chang *et al.*, 1997). TRIP230 does not contain a conserved LXCXE domain and a blast search did not reveal sequence similarity with any proteins of similar function. It has been observed that the LXCXE and LXCXE-like motifs follow a consensus hydrophobicity pattern: hydrophobic-hydrophobic-hydrophobic-hydrophilic. Within the TRIP1247 construct is a VLVDSD region, where the LXCXE-like motif could potentially be LXDXD. This follows the pattern of hydrophobic-hydrophobic-hydrophobic-hydrophobic-hydrophilic is a very similar, although not exact, to the consensus hydrophobicity pattern. If the subsequent experiments described above can demonstrate that TRIP1247 does in fact contain the minimal interaction domain, alanine scanning will confirm whether or not these are the essential amino acids required for interaction.

5. Concluding remarks

Research has begun to elucidate the molecular mechanisms behind the adaptive response to changes in cellular oxygen concentration, and the HIF1 transcription factor complex has been identified as an essential regulator of oxygen homeostasis. Previous work has demonstrated a role for RB as an attenuator for the HIF1 hypoxic response (Appendix A-D). Furthermore, loss of RB contributes to a more invasive phenotype that promotes invasion in MCF7 human breast cancer cells (Appendix C). In an effort to further characterize this invasive phenotype, siRNA knockdown of RB in MCF7 cells exposed to hypoxia has identified CXCR4 and VEGF as HIF1 target genes involved in metastasis directly regulated by RB (Figure 7 and 9). Moreover, a concomitant increase in vimentin and decrease in E-cadherin was also observed, which reflects the occurrence of EMT (Figure 8 and 10). Similar results were observed in MDA-MB-231 and LnCAP cells, suggesting that the role of RB in HIF1-mediated transcription is not exclusive to MCF7 cells (Figure 11). While additional experiments are required to further establish the occurrence of EMT following loss of RB, these results uncover a potential role for RB in the HIF1 hypoxic response that contributes to increased invasiveness of cancer cells.

Previous characterization of TRIP230 has established it as an essential coactivator for HIF1 transcriptional activity and functions through a direct interaction with the ARNT subunit (Appendix B). An additional focus of this study was on the specific protein-protein interactions within the HIF1 complex, and how these interactions contribute to metastasis. The results from a GST pull-down assay in this study revealed the simultaneous interaction of TRIP230 and RB with the PAS B domain of ARNT (Figure 12G). Furthermore, disrupting the ARNT-TRIP230 interaction with an ARNTinteracting peptide blocks RB-interaction association with ARNT, which establishes the existence of an ARNT-TRIP230-RB multi-meric complex and demonstrates a possible mechanism for inhibiting the HIF1-mediated hypoxic response that can serve as the basis for an anti-cancer therapy (Figure 13). Lastly, a more comprehensive analysis was performed on the specific requirements for the TRIP230-RB interaction. Consistent RB interaction was observed between amino acids 1247 and 1255 of the TRIP230 RB-interaction domain, however, additional experiments are required to confirm these results (Figure 21). Nonetheless, this opens up the possibility for creating a TRIP230-mutant transgenic mouse that does not interact with RB, to further establish the role of RB in hypoxic-dependent mechanisms of tumour progression within an animal model.

References

- Abe, A., Emi, N., Tanimoto, M., Terasaki, H., Marunouchi, T., & Saito, H. (1997). Fusion of the platelet-derived growth factor receptor beta to a novel gene CEV14 in acute myelogenous leukemia after clonal evolution. *Blood, 90*(11), 4271-4277.
- Adelman, D. M., Gertsenstein, M., Nagy, A., Simon, M. C., & Maltepe, E. (2000). Placental cell fates are regulated in vivo by HIF-mediated hypoxia responses. *Genes & Development*, 14(24), 3191-3203.
- Akakura, N., Kobayashi, M., Horiuchi, I., Suzuki, A., Wang, J., Chen, J., Niizeki, H., Kawamura, K., & Asaka, M. (2001). Constitutive expression of hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha renders pancreatic cancer cells resistant to apoptosis induced by hypoxia and nutrient deprivation. *Cancer Research*, 61(17), 6548-6554.
- Amellem, O., Stokke, T., Sandvik, J. A., & Pettersen, E. O. (1996). The retinoblastoma gene product is reversibly dephosphorylated and bound in the nucleus in S and G2 phases during hypoxic stress. *Experimental Cell Research*, 227(1).
- Arany, Z., Huang, L. E., Eckner, R., Bhattacharya, S., Jiang, C., Goldberg, M. A., Bunn, H. F., & Livingston, D. M. (1996). An essential role for p300/CBP in the cellular response to hypoxia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 93(23), 12969-12973.
- Arima, Y., Inoue, Y., Shibata, T., Hayashi, H., Nagano, O., Saya, H., & Taya, Y. (2008). Rb depletion results in deregulation of E-cadherin and induction of cellular phenotypic changes that are characteristic of the epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. *Cancer Research*, 68(13), 5104-5112.
- Aue, G., Muralidhar, B., Schwartz, H. S., & Butler, M. G. (1998). Telomerase activity in skeletal sarcomas. *Annals of Surgical Oncology*, *5*(7), 627-634.
- Bailey, J. R., & Driedzic, W. R. (1996). Decreased total ventricular and mitochondrial protein synthesis during extended anoxia in turtle heart. *The American Journal of Physiology*, 271(6 Pt 2), R1660-7.
- Baluk, P., Tammela, T., Ator, E., Lyubynska, N., Achen, M. G., Hicklin, D. J., Jeltsch, M., Petrova, T. V., Pytowski, B., Stacker, S. A., Yla-Herttuala, S., Jackson, D. G., Alitalo, K., & McDonald, D. M. (2005). Pathogenesis of persistent lymphatic vessel hyperplasia in chronic airway inflammation. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *115*(2), 247-257.

- Batlle, E., Sancho, E., Franci, C., Dominguez, D., Monfar, M., Baulida, J., & Garcia De Herreros, A. (2000). The transcription factor snail is a repressor of E-cadherin gene expression in epithelial tumour cells. *Nature Cell Biology*, 2(2), 84-89.
- Beischlag, T. V., Taylor, R. T., Rose, D. W., Yoon, D., Chen, Y., Lee, W. H., Rosenfeld, M.G., & Hankinson, O. (2004). Recruitment of thyroid hormone receptor/retinoblastoma-interacting protein 230 by the aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator is required for the transcriptional response to both dioxin and hypoxia. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 279*(52), 54620-54628.
- Beischlag, T. V., Wang, S., Rose, D. W., Torchia, J., Reisz-Porszasz, S., Muhammad, K., Nelson, W. E., Probst, M. R., Rosenfeld, M. G., & Hankinson, O. (2002).
 Recruitment of the NCoA/SRC-1/p160 family of transcriptional coactivators by the aryl hydrocarbon receptor/aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator complex. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, *22*(12), 4319-4333.
- Bieging, K. T., & Attardi, L. D. (2012). Deconstructing p53 transcriptional networks in tumor suppression. *Trends in Cell Biology*, 22(2), 97-106.
- Bonnet, S., Archer, S. L., Allalunis-Turner, J., Haromy, A., Beaulieu, C., Thomposn, R., Lee, C. T., Lopaschuk, G. D., Puttagunta, L., Bonnet, S., Harry, G., Hashimoto, K., Porter, C. J., Andrade, M. A., Thebaud, B., & Michelakis, E. D. (2009). A mitochondria-K+ channel axis is suppressed in cancer and its normalization promotes apoptosis and inhibits cancer growth. *Cancer Cell*, 11(1), 37-51.
- Borg, A., Zhang, Q. X., Alm, P., Olsson, H., & Sellberg, G. (1992). The retinoblastoma gene in breast cancer: Allele loss is not correlated with loss of gene protein expression. *Cancer Research*, *5*2(10), 2991-2994.
- Borges, H. L., Hunton, I. C., & Wang, J. Y. (2007). Reduction of apoptosis in rb-deficient embryos via abl knockout. *Oncogene, 26*(26), 3868-3877.
- Boyer, B., Roche, S., Denoyelle, M., & Thiery, J. P. (1997). Src and ras are involved in separate pathways in epithelial cell scattering. *The EMBO Journal*, *16*(19), 5904-5913.
- Bracken, C. P., Whitelaw, M. L., & Peet, D. J. (2005). Activity of hypoxia-inducible factor 2alpha is regulated by association with the NF-kappaB essential modulator. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(14), 14240-14251.
- Brat, D. J., Castellano-Sanchez, A., Kaur, B., & Van Meir, E. G. (2002). Genetic and biologic progression in astrocytomas and their relation to angiogenic dysregulation. *Advances in Anatomic Pathology*, *9*(1), 24-36.
- Brehm, A., Miska, E. A., McCance, D. J., Reid, J. L., Bannister, A. J., & Kouzarides, T. (1998). Retinoblastoma protein recruits histone deacetylase to repress transcription. *Nature*, 391(6667), 597-601.
- Brizel, D. M., Scully, S. P., Harrelson, J. M., Layfield, L. J., Bean, J. M., Prosnitz, L. R., & Dewhirst, M. W. (1996). Tumor oxygenation predicts for the likelihood of distant metastases in human soft tissue sarcoma. *Cancer Research*, *56*(5), 941-943.
- Budde, A., Schneiderhan-Marra, N., Petersen, G., & Brune, B. (2005). Retinoblastoma susceptibility gene product pRB activates hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF1). Oncogene, 24(10), 1802-1808.
- Bukholm, I. K., Nesland, J. M., Karesen, R., Jacobsen, U., & Borresen-Dale, A. L. (1998). E-cadherin and alpha-, beta-, and gamma-catenin protein expression in relation to metastasis in human breast carcinoma. *The Journal of Pathology, 185*(3), 262-266.
- Burkhart, D. L., & Sage, J. (2008). Cellular mechanisms of tumour suppression by the retinoblastoma gene. *Nature Reviews.Cancer, 8*(9), 671-682.
- Calo, E., Quintero-Estades, J. A., Danielian, P. S., Nedelcu, S., Berman, S. D., & Lees, J. A. (2010). Rb regulates fate choice and lineage commitment in vivo. *Nature*, *466*(7310), 1110-1114.
- Camarda, G., Siepi, F., Pajalunga, D., Bernardini, C., Rossi, R., Montecucco, A., Meccia, E., & Crescenzi, M. (2004). A pRb-independent mechanism preserves the postmitotic state in terminally differentiated skeletal muscle cells. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 167(3), 417-423.
- Carmeliet, P., & Jain, R. K. (2011). Molecular mechanisms and clinical applications of angiogenesis. *Nature, 473*(7347), 298-307.
- Carrero, P., Okamoto, K., Coumailleau, P., O'Brien, S., Tanaka, H., & Poellinger, L. (2000). Redox-regulated recruitment of the transcriptional coactivators CREBbinding protein and SRC-1 to hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 20(1), 402-415.
- Chaffer, C. L., & Weinberg, R. A. (2011). A perspective on cancer cell metastasis. Science (New York, N.Y.), 331(6024), 1559-1564.
- Chang, K. H., Chen, Y., Chen, T. T., Chou, W. H., Chen, P. L., Ma, Y. Y., Yang-Feng, T. L., Leng, X., Tsai, M. J., O'Malley, B. W., & Lee, W. H. (1997). A thyroid hormone receptor coactivator negatively regulated by the retinoblastoma protein. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 94(17), 9040-9045.
- Chau, B. N., Borges, H. L., Chen, T. T., Masselli, A., Hunton, I. C., & Wang, J. Y. (2002). Signal-dependent protection from apoptosis in mice expressing caspaseresistant rb. *Nature Cell Biology, 4*(10), 757-765. doi:10.1038/ncb853
- Chen, J., Wang, L., Matyunina, L. V., Hill, C. G., & McDonald, J. F. (2011). Overexpression of miR-429 induces mesenchymal-to-epithelial transition (MET) in metastatic ovarian cancer cells. *Gynecologic Oncology, 121*(1), 200-205. doi:10.1016/j.ygyno.2010.12.339

- Chen, J., Zhao, S., Nakada, K., Kuge, Y., Tamaki, N., Okada, F., Wang, J., Shindo, M., Higashino, F., Takeda, K., Asaka, M., Katoh, H., Sugiyama, T., Hosokawa, M., & Kobayashi, M. (2003). Dominant-negative hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha reduces tumorigenicity of pancreatic cancer cells through the suppression of glucose metabolism. *The American Journal of Pathology*, *16*2(4), 1283-1291.
- Chen, Y., Chen, P. L., Chen, C. F., Sharp, Z. D., & Lee, W. H. (1999). Thyroid hormone, T3-dependent phosphorylation and translocation of Trip230 from the golgi complex to the nucleus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 96(8), 4443-4448.
- Chi, J. T., Wang, Z., Nuyten, D. S., Rodriguez, E. H., Schaner, M. E., Salim, A., Wang, Y., Kristensen, G. B., Helland, A., Borrensen-Dale, A. L., Giaccia, A., Longaker, M.T., Hastie, T., Yang, G. P, van de Vijver, M. J., & Brown, P. O. (2006). Gene expression programs in response to hypoxia: Cell type specificity and prognostic significance in human cancers. *PLoS Medicine*, *3*(3), e47.
- Ciruna, B., & Rossant, J. (2001). FGF signaling regulates mesoderm cell fate specification and morphogenetic movement at the primitive streak. *Developmental Cell, 1*(1), 37-49.
- Clarke, A. R., Maandag, E. R., van Roon, M., van der Lugt, N. M., van der Valk, M., Hooper, M. L., Berns, A. & te Riele, H. (1992). Requirement for a functional rb-1 gene in murine development. *Nature, 359*(6393), 328-330.
- Cobrinik, D. (2005). Pocket proteins and cell cycle control. Oncogene, 24(17), 2796-2809.
- Comijn, J., Berx, G., Vermassen, P., Verschueren, K., van Grunsven, L., Bruyneel, E., Mareel, M., Huylebroeck, D., & van Roy, F. (2001). The two-handed E box binding zinc finger protein SIP1 down-regulates E-cadherin and induces invasion. *Molecular Cell, 7*(6), 1267-1278.
- Counter, C. M., Avilion, A. A., LeFeuvre, C. E., Stewart, N. G., Greider, C. W., Harley, C. B., & Bacchetti, S. (1992). Telomere shortening associated with chromosome instability is arrested in immortal cells which express telomerase activity. *The EMBO Journal*, *11*(5), 1921-1929.
- Covello, K. L., Kehler, J., Yu, H., Gordan, J. D., Arsham, A. M., Hu, C. J., Labosky, P. A., Simon, M. C., & Keith, B. (2006). HIF2alpha regulates oct-4: Effects of hypoxia on stem cell function, embryonic development, and tumor growth. *Genes & Development*, 20(5), 557-570.
- Curto, M., Cole, B. K., Lallemand, D., Liu, C. H., & McClatchey, A. I. (2007). Contactdependent inhibition of EGFR signaling by Nf2/Merlin. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 177(5), 893-903.
- Dowdy, S. F., Hinds, P. W., Louie, K., Reed, S. I., Arnold, A., & Weinberg, R. A. (1993). Physical interaction of the retinoblastoma protein with human D cyclins. *Cell*, *73*(3), 499-511.

- Du, W., & Pogoriler, J. (2006). Retinoblastoma family genes. Oncogene, 25(38), 5190-5200.
- Dunaief, J. L., King, A., Esumi, N., Eagen, M., Dentchev, T., Sung, C. H., Chen, S., & Zack, D. J. (2002). Protein phosphatase 1 binds strongly to the retinoblastoma protein but not to p107 or p130 in vitro and in vivo. *Current Eye Research, 24*(5), 392-396.
- Dunaief, J. L., Strober, B. E., Guha, S., Khavari, P. A., Alin, K., Luban, J., Begemann, M., Crabtree, G. R., & Goff, S. P. (1994). The retinoblastoma protein and BRG1 form a complex and cooperate to induce cell cycle arrest. *Cell*, *79*(1), 119-130.
- Ebos, J. M., Lee, C. R., Cruz-Munoz, W., Bjarnason, G. A., Christensen, J. G., & Kerbel, R. S. (2009). Accelerated metastasis after short-term treatment with a potent inhibitor of tumor angiogenesis. *Cancer Cell*, 15(3), 232-239.
- Elferink, C. J., Ge, N. L., & Levine A. (2001). Maximal aryl hydrocarbon receptor activity depends on an interaction with the retinoblastoma protein. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 59(4), 664-73.
- Elvert, G., Kappel, A., Heidenreich, R., Englmeier, U., Lanz, S., Acker, T., Rauter, M., Plate, K., Sieweke, M., Breier, G., & Flamme, I. (2003). Cooperative interaction of hypoxia-inducible factor-2alpha (HIF2alpha) and ets-1 in the transcriptional activation of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 (flk-1). *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(9), 7520-7530.
- Ema, M., Morita, M., Ikawa, S., Tanaka, M., Matsuda, Y., Gotoh, O., Saijoh, Y., Fujii, H., Hamada, H., Kikuchi, Y., & Fujii-Kuriyama, Y. (1996). Two new members of the murine sim gene family are transcriptional repressors and show different expression patterns during mouse embryogenesis. *Molecular and Cellular Biology, 16*(10), 5865-5875.
- Ema, M., Taya, S., Yokotani, N., Sogawa, K., Matsuda, Y., & Fujii-Kuriyama, Y. (1997). A novel bHLH-PAS factor with close sequence similarity to hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha regulates the VEGF expression and is potentially involved in lung and vascular development. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 94*(9), 4273-4278.
- Escher, N., Kob, R., Tenbaum, S. P., Eisold, M., Baniahmad, A., von Eggeling, F., & Melle, C. (2007). Various members of the E2F transcription factor family interact in vivo with the corepressor alien. *Journal of Proteome Research, 6*(3), 1158-1164.
- Esteban, M. A., Tran, M. G., Harten, S. K., Hill, P., Castellanos, M. C., Chandra, A., Raval, R., O'brien, T.S., & Maxwell, P. H. (2006). Regulation of E-cadherin expression by VHL and hypoxia-inducible factor. *Cancer Research*, 66(7), 3567-3575.

- Ferstenfeld, J. E., Schlueter, D. P., Rytel, M. W., & Molloy, R. P. (1975). Recognition and treatment of adult respiratroy distress syndrome secondary to viral interstitial pneumonia. *The American Journal of Medicine*, 58(5), 709-718.
- Fischer, B., & Bavister, B. D. (1993). Oxygen tension in the oviduct and uterus of rhesus monkeys, hamsters and rabbits. *Journal of Reproduction and Fertility, 99*(2), 673-679.
- Fischer, C., Jonckx, B., Mazzone, M., Zacchigna, S., Loges, S., Pattarini, L., Chorianopoulos, E., Liesenborghs, L., Koch, M., De Mol, M., Autiero, M., Wyns, S., Plaisance, S., Moon, L., van Rooijen, N., Giacca, M., Stassen, J. M., Dewerchin, M., Collen, D., & Carmeliet, P. (2007). Anti-PIGF inhibits growth of VEGF(R)-inhibitor-resistant tumors without affecting healthy vessels. *Cell*, 131(3), 463-475.
- Flugel, D., Gorlach, A., Michiels, C., & Kietzmann, T. (2007). Glycogen synthase kinase 3 phosphorylates hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha and mediates its destabilization in a VHL-independent manner. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 27(9), 3253-3265.
- Folkman, J. (1995). Angiogenesis in cancer, vascular, rheumatoid and other disease. *Nature Medicine*, *1*(1), 27-31.
- Folkman, J., Cole, P., & Zimmerman, S. (1966). Tumor behavior in isolated perfused organs: In vitro growth and metastases of biopsy material in rabbit thyroid and canine intestinal segment. *Annals of Surgery*, *164*(3), 491-502.
- Folkman, J., Watson, K., Ingber, D., & Hanahan, D. (1989). Induction of angiogenesis during the transition from hyperplasia to neoplasia. *Nature, 339*(6219), 58-61.
- Follit, J. A., San Agustin, J. T., Xu, F., Jonassen, J. A., Samtani, R., Lo, C. W., & Pazour, G. J. (2008). The golgin GMAP210/TRIP11 anchors IFT20 to the golgi complex. *PLoS Genetics*, 4(12), e1000315.
- Forough, R., Weylie, B., Collins, C., Parker, J. L., Zhu, J., Barhoumi, R., & Watson, D. K. (2006). Transcription factor ets-1 regulates fibroblast growth factor-1-mediated angiogenesis in vivo: Role of ets-1 in the regulation of the PI3K/AKT/MMP-1 pathway. *Journal of Vascular Research*, *43*(4), 327-337.
- Forster, H. V., Dempsey, J. A., Vidruk, E., & Do Pico, G. (1974). Evidence of altered regulation of ventilation during exposure to hypoxia. *Respiration Physiology*, 20(3), 379-392.
- Forsythe, J. A., Jiang, B. H., Iyer, N. V., Agani, F., Leung, S. W., Koos, R. D., & Semenza, G. L. (1996). Activation of vascular endothelial growth factor gene transcription by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *Molecular and Cellular Biology, 16*(9), 4604-4613.
- Fridell, Y. W., Villa, J., Jr, Attar, E. C., & Liu, E. T. (1998). GAS6 induces axl-mediated chemotaxis of vascular smooth muscle cells. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(12), 7123-7126.

- Friend, S. H., Bernards, R., Rogelj, S., Weinberg, R. A., Rapaport, J. M., Albert, D. M., & Dryja, T. P. (1986). A human DNA segment with properties of the gene that predisposes to retinoblastoma and osteosarcoma. *Nature*, 323(6089), 643-646.
- Fulton, A. M. (2009). The chemokine receptors CXCR4 and CXCR3 in cancer. *Current Oncology Reports, 11*(2), 125-131.
- Galanis, A., Pappa, A., Giannakakis, A., Lanitis, E., Dangaj, D., & Sandaltzopoulos, R. (2008). Reactive oxygen species and HIF1 signalling in cancer. *Cancer Letters*, 266(1), 12-20.
- Gao, C. F., Ren, S., Zhang, L., Nakajima, T., Ichinose, S., Hara, T., Koike, K., & Tsuchida, N. (2001). Caspase-dependent cytosolic release of cytochrome c and membrane translocation of bax in p53-induced apoptosis. *Experimental Cell Research, 265*(1), 145-151.
- Gerber, H. P., Condorelli, F., Park, J., & Ferrara, N. (1997). Differential transcriptional regulation of the two vascular endothelial growth factor receptor genes. flt-1, but not flk-1/KDR, is up-regulated by hypoxia. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(38), 23659-23667.
- Goda, N., Ryan, H. E., Khadivi, B., McNulty, W., Rickert, R. C., & Johnson, R. S. (2003). Hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha is essential for cell cycle arrest during hypoxia. *Molecular and Cellular Biology, 23*(1), 359-369.
- Gosavi, P., Kundu, S. T., Khapare, N., Sehgal, L., Karkhanis, M. S., & Dalal, S. N. (2011). E-cadherin and plakoglobin recruit plakophilin3 to the cell border to initiate desmosome assembly. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences : CMLS*, 68(8), 1439-1454.
- Graven, K. K., Yu, Q., Pan, D., Roncarati, J. S., & Farber, H. W. (1999). Identification of an oxygen responsive enhancer element in the glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase gene. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta, 1447*(2-3), 208-218.
- Grayson, W. L., Zhao, F., Izadpanah, R., Bunnell, B., & Ma, T. (2006). Effects of hypoxia on human mesenchymal stem cell expansion and plasticity in 3D constructs. *Journal of Cellular Physiology, 207*(2), 331-339.
- Gu, Y. Z., Moran, S. M., Hogenesch, J. B., Wartman, L., & Bradfield, C. A. (1998).
 Molecular characterization and chromosomal localization of a third alpha-class hypoxia inducible factor subunit, HIF3alpha. *Gene Expression*, 7(3), 205-213.
- Guo, Z., Yikang, S., Yoshida, H., Mak, T. W., & Zacksenhaus, E. (2001). Inactivation of the retinoblastoma tumor suppressor induces apoptosis protease-activating factor-1 dependent and independent apoptotic pathways during embryogenesis. *Cancer Research*, 61(23), 8395-8400.

Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2000). The hallmarks of cancer. Cell, 100(1), 57-70.

- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: The next generation. *Cell, 144*(5), 646-674.
- Hansson, L. O., Friedler, A., Freund, S., Rudiger, S., & Fersht, A. R. (2002). Two sequence motifs from HIF1alpha bind to the DNA-binding site of p53. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(16), 10305-10309.
- Harrington, E. A., Bruce, J. L., Harlow, E., & Dyson, N. (1998). pRB plays an essential role in cell cycle arrest induced by DNA damage. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *95*(20), 11945-11950.
- Hayflick, L. (1997). Mortality and immortality at the cellular level. A review. *Biochemistry.Biokhimiia*, 62(11), 1180-1190.
- Heikkila, M., Pasanen, A., Kivirikko, K. I., & Myllyharju, J. (2011). Roles of the human hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-3alpha variants in the hypoxia response. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences : CMLS, 68*(23), 3885-3901.
- Helin, K., Harlow, E., & Fattaey, A. (1993). Inhibition of E2F-1 transactivation by direct binding of the retinoblastoma protein. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 13(10), 6501-6508.
- Hellstrand, P., Jorup, C., & Lydrup, M. L. (1984). O2 consumption, aerobic glycolysis and tissue phosphagen content during activation of the Na+/K+ pump in rat portal vein. *Pflugers Archiv : European Journal of Physiology, 401*(2), 119-124.
- Hirakow, R. (1983). Development of the cardiac blood vessels in staged human embryos. *Acta Anatomica, 115*(3), 220-230.
- Hiratsuka, S., Nakamura, K., Iwai, S., Murakami, M., Itoh, T., Kijima, H., Shipley, J. M., Senior, R. M., & Shibuya, M. (2002). MMP9 induction by vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 is involved in lung-specific metastasis. *Cancer Cell, 2*(4), 289-300.
- Hirose, K., Morita, M., Ema, M., Mimura, J., Hamada, H., Fujii, H., Saijo, Y., Gotoh, O., Sogawa, K., & Fujii-Kuriyama, Y. (1996). cDNA cloning and tissue-specific expression of a novel basic helix-loop-helix/PAS factor (Arnt2) with close sequence similarity to the aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator (arnt). *Molecular and Cellular Biology, 16*(4), 1706-1713.
- Hitchon, C., Wong, K., Ma, G., Reed, J., Lyttle, D., & El-Gabalawy, H. (2002). Hypoxiainduced production of stromal cell-derived factor 1 (CXCL12) and vascular endothelial growth factor by synovial fibroblasts. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 46(10), 2587-2597.
- Hlubek, F., Jung, A., Kotzor, N., Kirchner, T., & Brabletz, T. (2001). Expression of the invasion factor laminin gamma2 in colorectal carcinomas is regulated by beta-catenin. *Cancer Research*, *61*(22), 8089-8093.

- Hochachka, P. W., Buck, L. T., Doll, C. J., & Land, S. C. (1996). Unifying theory of hypoxia tolerance: Molecular/metabolic defense and rescue mechanisms for surviving oxygen lack. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 93(18), 9493-9498.
- Hoffman, E. C., Reyes, H., Chu, F. F., Sander, F., Conley, L. H., Brooks, B. A., & Hankinson, O. (1991). Cloning of a factor required for activity of the ah (dioxin) receptor. *Science (New York, N.Y.), 252*(5008), 954-958.
- Hu, C. J., Sataur, A., Wang, L., Chen, H., & Simon, M. C. (2007). The N-terminal transactivation domain confers target gene specificity of hypoxia-inducible factors HIF1alpha and HIF2alpha. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 18(11), 4528-4542.
- Hu, C. J., Wang, L. Y., Chodosh, L. A., Keith, B., & Simon, M. C. (2003). Differential roles of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha (HIF1alpha) and HIF2alpha in hypoxic gene regulation. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 23(24), 9361-9374.
- Hu, N., Gutsmann, A., Herbert, D. C., Bradley, A., Lee, W. H., & Lee, E. Y. (1994). Heterozygous rb-1 delta 20/+mice are predisposed to tumors of the pituitary gland with a nearly complete penetrance. *Oncogene*, *9*(4), 1021-1027.
- Iavarone, A., King, E. R., Dai, X. M., Leone, G., Stanley, E. R., & Lasorella, A. (2004). Retinoblastoma promotes definitive erythropoiesis by repressing Id2 in fetal liver macrophages. *Nature*, 432(7020), 1040-1045.
- Imai, T., Horiuchi, A., Wang, C., Oka, K., Ohira, S., Nikaido, T., & Konishi, I. (2003). Hypoxia attenuates the expression of E-cadherin via up-regulation of SNAIL in ovarian carcinoma cells. *The American Journal of Pathology*, *163*(4), 1437-1447.
- Imhof, B., Vollmers, P., Goodman, S., and Birchmeier W. (1983). Cell-cell interaction and polarity of epithelial cells: specific perturbation using a monoclonal antibody. *Cell*, 35, 667-675.
- Infante, C., Ramos-Morales, F., Fedriani, C., Bornens, M., & Rios, R. M. (1999). GMAP-210, A cis-golgi network-associated protein, is a minus end microtubule-binding protein. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 145(1), 83-98.
- Ishikawa, F., Miyazono, K., Hellman, U., Drexler, H., Wernstedt, C., Hagiwara, K., Usuki, K., Takaku, F., Risau, W., & Heldin, C. H. (1989). Identification of angiogenic activity and the cloning and expression of platelet-derived endothelial cell growth factor. *Nature*, 338(6216), 557-562.
- Ivan, M., Kondo, K., Yang, H., Kim, W., Valiando, J., Ohh, M., Salic, A., Asara, J. M., Lane, W. S., & Kaelin, W. G., Jr. (2001). HIFalpha targeted for VHL-mediated destruction by proline hydroxylation: Implications for O2 sensing. *Science (New York, N.Y.), 292*(5516), 464-468.

- Iwai, K., Yamanaka, K., Kamura, T., Minato, N., Conaway, R. C., Conaway, J. W., Klausner, R. D., & Pause, A. (1999). Identification of the von hippel-lindau tumorsuppressor protein as part of an active E3 ubiquitin ligase complex. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 96(22), 12436-12441.
- Iyer, N. V., Kotch, L. E., Agani, F., Leung, S. W., Laughner, E., Wenger, R. H., Gassmann, M., Gearhart, J. D., Lawler, A. M., Yu, A. Y., & Semenza, G. L. (1998). Cellular and developmental control of O2 homeostasis by hypoxiainducible factor 1 alpha. *Genes & Development*, 12(2), 149-162.
- Izuishi, K., Kato, K., Ogura, T., Kinoshita, T., & Esumi, H. (2000). Remarkable tolerance of tumor cells to nutrient deprivation: Possible new biochemical target for cancer therapy. *Cancer Research*, 60(21), 6201-6207.
- Jaakkola, P., Mole, D. R., Tian, Y. M., Wilson, M. I., Gielbert, J., Gaskell, S. J., Kriegsheim, A., Hebestreit, H. F., Mukherji, M., Schofield, C. J., Maxwell, P. H. Pugh, C. W., & Ratcliffe, P. J. (2001). Targeting of HIF-alpha to the von hippellindau ubiquitylation complex by O2-regulated prolyl hydroxylation. *Science (New York, N.Y.), 292*(5516), 468-472.
- Jacks, T., Fazeli, A., Schmitt, E. M., Bronson, R. T., Goodell, M. A., & Weinberg, R. A. (1992). Effects of an rb mutation in the mouse. *Nature, 359*(6393), 295-300.
- Janda, E., Lehmann, K., Killisch, I., Jechlinger, M., Herzig, M., Downward, J., Beug, H., & Grunert, S. (2002). Ras and TGF[beta] cooperatively regulate epithelial cell plasticity and metastasis: Dissection of ras signaling pathways. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 156(2), 299-313.
- Jang, M. S., Park, J. E., Lee, J. A., Park, S. G., Myung, P. K., Lee, D. H., Park, B. C., & Cho, S. (2005). Binding and regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 by the inhibitory PAS proteins. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 337(1), 209-215.
- Jiang, B. H., Rue, E., Wang, G. L., Roe, R., & Semenza, G. L. (1996). Dimerization, DNA binding, and transactivation properties of hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(30), 17771-17778.
- Jiang, B. H., Semenza, G. L., Bauer, C., & Marti, H. H. (1996). Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 levels vary exponentially over a physiologically relevant range of O2 tension. *The American Journal of Physiology, 271*(4 Pt 1), C1172-80.
- Jones, C. E., Crowell, J. W., & Smith, E. E. (1968). A cause-effect relationship between oxygen deficit and irreversible hemorrhagic shock. *Surgery, Gynecology & Obstetrics, 127*(1), 93-96.
- Jong, H. S., Park, Y. I., Kim, S., Sohn, J. H., Kang, S. H., Song, S. H., Bang, Y. J., & Kim, N. K. (1999). Up-regulation of human telomerase catalytic subunit during gastric carcinogenesis. *Cancer*, 86(4), 559-565.

- Kalliomaki, T. M., McCallum, G., Lunt, S. J., Wells, P. G., & Hill, R. P. (2008). Analysis of the effects of exposure to acute hypoxia on oxidative lesions and tumour progression in a transgenic mouse breast cancer model. *BMC Cancer, 8*, 151.
- Kashiwagura, T., Wilson, D. F., & Erecinska, M. (1984). Oxygen dependence of cellular metabolism: The effect of O2 tension on gluconeogenesis and urea synthesis in isolated rat hepatocytes. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 120(1), 13-18.
- Kasuno, K., Takabuchi, S., Fukuda, K., Kizaka-Kondoh, S., Yodoi, J., Adachi, T.,
 Semenza, G. L., & Hirota, K. (2004). Nitric oxide induces hypoxia-inducible factor
 1 activation that is dependent on MAPK and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
 signaling. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(4), 2550-2558.
- Kehn, K., Fuente Cde, L., Strouss, K., Berro, R., Jiang, H., Brady, J., Mahieux, R., Pumfery, A., Bottazzi, M. E., & Kashanchi, F. (2005). The HTLV-I tax oncoprotein targets the retinoblastoma protein for proteasomal degdation. *Oncogene, 24*(4), 525-540.
- Kewley, R. J., Whitelaw, M. L., & Chapman-Smith, A. (2004). The mammalian basic helix-loop-helix/PAS family of transcriptional regulators. *The International Journal* of *Biochemistry & Cell Biology*, *36*(2), 189-204.
- Kim, J. W., Tchernyshyov, I., Semenza, G. L., & Dang, C. V. (2006). HIF1-mediated expression of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase: A metabolic switch required for cellular adaptation to hypoxia. *Cell Metabolism, 3*(3), 177-185.
- Kline, D. D., Peng, Y. J., Manalo, D. J., Semenza, G. L., & Prabhakar, N. R. (2002). Defective carotid body function and impaired ventilatory responses to chronic hypoxia in mice partially deficient for hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 99*(2), 821-826.
- Klymkowsky, M. W., & Savagner, P. (2009). Epithelial-mesenchymal transition: A cancer researcher's conceptual friend and foe. *The American Journal of Pathology*, *174*(5), 1588-1593.
- Knighton, D. R., Silver, I. A., & Hunt, T. K. (1981). Regulation of wound-healing angiogenesis-effect of oxygen gradients and inspired oxygen concentration. *Surgery*, *90*(2), 262-270.
- Knudsen, K. E., Booth, D., Naderi, S., Sever-Chroneos, Z., Fribourg, A. F., Hunton, I. C., Feramisco, J. R., Wang, J. Y., & Knudsen, E. S. (2000). RB-dependent S-phase response to DNA damage. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 20(20), 7751-7763.
- Kob, R., Baniahmad, A., Escher, N., von Eggeling, F., & Melle, C. (2007). Detection and identification of transcription factors as interaction partners of alien in vivo. *Cell Cycle (Georgetown, Tex.), 6*(8), 993-996.

- Kobayashi, A., Numayama-Tsuruta, K., Sogawa, K., & Fujii-Kuriyama, Y. (1997). CBP/p300 functions as a possible transcriptional coactivator of ah receptor nuclear translocator (arnt). *Journal of Biochemistry*, 122(4), 703-710.
- Koh, M. Y., Spivak-Kroizman, T., Venturini, S., Welsh, S., Williams, R. R., Kirkpatrick, D. L., & Powis, G. (2008). Molecular mechanisms for the activity of PX-478, an antitumor inhibitor of the hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 7(1), 90-100.
- Koivunen, P., Hirsila, M., Gunzler, V., Kivirikko, K. I., & Myllyharju, J. (2004). Catalytic properties of the asparaginyl hydroxylase (FIH) in the oxygen sensing pathway are distinct from those of its prolyl 4-hydroxylases. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 279*(11), 9899-9904.
- Kozak, K. R., Abbott, B., & Hankinson, O. (1997). ARNT-deficient mice and placental differentiation. *Developmental Biology*, 191(2), 297-305. doi:10.1006/dbio.1997.8758
- Krtolica, A., & Ludlow, J. W. (1996). Hypoxia arrests ovarian carcinoma cell cycle progression, but invasion is unaffected. *Cancer Research, 56*(5), 1168-1173.
- Lan, Z., Sever-Chroneos, Z., Strobeck, M. W., Park, C. H., Baskaran, R., Edelmann, W., Leone, G., & Knudsen, E. S. (2002). DNA damage invokes mismatch repairdependent cyclin D1 attenuation and retinoblastoma signaling pathways to inhibit CDK2. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(10), 8372-8381.
- Lando, D., Peet, D. J., Gorman, J. J., Whelan, D. A., Whitelaw, M. L., & Bruick, R. K. (2002). FIH-1 is an asparaginyl hydroxylase enzyme that regulates the transcriptional activity of hypoxia-inducible factor. *Genes & Development, 16*(12), 1466-1471.
- Lando, D., Peet, D. J., Whelan, D. A., Gorman, J. J., & Whitelaw, M. L. (2002). Asparagine hydroxylation of the HIF transactivation domain a hypoxic switch. *Science (New York, N.Y.), 295*(5556), 858-861.
- Lasorella, A., Rothschild, G., Yokota, Y., Russell, R. G., & Iavarone, A. (2005). Id2 mediates tumor initiation, proliferation, and angiogenesis in rb mutant mice. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, *25*(9), 3563-3574.
- Lee, J. W., Choi, H. S., Gyuris, J., Brent, R., & Moore, D. D. (1995). Two classes of proteins depenent on either the presence or absence of thyroid hormone for interaction with the thyroid hormone receptor. *Molecular Endocrinology*, 9(2), 243-254.
- Lee, Y. M., Jeong, C. H., Koo, S. Y., Son, M. J., Song, H. S., Bae, S. K., Raleigh, J. A., Chung, H. Y., Yoo, M. A., & Kim, K. W. (2001). Determination of hypoxic region by hypoxia marker in developing mouse embryos in vivo: A possible signal for vessel development. Developmental Dynamics : An Official Publication of the American Association of Anatomists, 220(2), 175-186.

- Lees, J. A., Buchkovich, K. J., Marshak, D. R., Anderson, C. W., & Harlow, E. (1991). The retinoblastoma protein is phosphorylated on multiple sites by human cdc2. *The EMBO Journal, 10*(13), 4279-4290.
- Lesske, J., Fletcher, E. C., Bao, G., & Unger, T. (1997). Hypertension caused by chronic intermittent hypoxia--influence of chemoreceptors and sympathetic nervous system. *Journal of Hypertension*, *15*(12 Pt 2), 1593-1603.
- Leung, D. W., Cachianes, G., Kuang, W. J., Goeddel, D. V., & Ferrara, N. (1989). Vascular endothelial growth factor is a secreted angiogenic mitogen. *Science* (*New York, N.Y.*), 246(4935), 1306-1309.
- Lewis-Tuffin, L. J., Rodriguez, F., Giannini, C., Scheithauer, B., Necela, B. M., Sarkaria, J. N., & Anastasiadis, P. Z. (2010). Misregulated E-cadherin expression associated with an aggressive brain tumor phenotype. *PloS One, 5*(10), e13665.
- Lim, B. J., Jung, S. S., Choi, S. Y., & Lee, C. S. (2010). Expression of metastasisassociated molecules in non-small cell lung cancer and their prognostic significance. *Molecular Medicine Reports*, 3(1), 43-49.
- Lin, E. Y., Li, J. F., Gnatovskiy, L., Deng, Y., Zhu, L., Grzesik, D. A., Qian, H., Xue, X. N., & Pollard, J. W. (2006). Macrophages regulate the angiogenic switch in a mouse model of breast cancer. *Cancer Research*, 66(23), 11238-11246.
- Lindebro, M. C., Poellinger, L., & Whitelaw, M. L. (1995). Protein-protein interaction via PAS domains: Role of the PAS domain in positive and negative regulation of the bHLH/PAS dioxin receptor-arnt transcription factor complex. *The EMBO Journal*, *14*(14), 3528-3539.
- Liu, Y. V., Baek, J. H., Zhang, H., Diez, R., Cole, R. N., & Semenza, G. L. (2007). RACK1 competes with HSP90 for binding to HIF1alpha and is required for O(2)independent and HSP90 inhibitor-induced degradation of HIF1alpha. *Molecular Cell*, 25(2), 207-217.
- Liu, Y. V., Hubbi, M. E., Pan, F., McDonald, K. R., Mansharamani, M., Cole, R. N., Liu, J. O., & Semenza, G. L. (2007). Calcineurin promotes hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha expression by dephosphorylating RACK1 and blocking RACK1 dimerization. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(51), 37064-37073.
- Lombaerts, M., van Wezel, T., Philippo, K., Dierssen, J. W., Zimmerman, R. M., Oosting, J., van Eijk, R., Eilers, P. H., van de Water, B., Cornelisse, C. J., & Cleton-Jansen, A. M. (2006). E-cadherin transcriptional down-regulation by promoter methylation but not mutation is related to epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in breast cancer cell lines. *British Journal of Cancer, 94*(5), 661-671.
- Lorusso, G., & Ruegg, C. (2008). The tumor microenvironment and its contribution to tumor evolution toward metastasis. *Histochemistry and Cell Biology, 130*(6), 1091-1103.

- Ludlow, J. W., Howell, R. L., & Smith, H. C. (1993). Hypoxic stress induces reversible hypophosphorylation of pRB and reduction in cyclin A abundance independent of cell cycle progression. *Oncogene, 8*(2), 331-339.
- Lundgren, K., Nordenskjold, B., & Landberg, G. (2009). Hypoxia, snail and incomplete epithelial-mesenchymal transition in breast cancer. *British Journal of Cancer*, *101*(10), 1769-1781.
- Magagnin, M. G., van den Beucken, T., Sergeant, K., Lambin, P., Koritzinsky, M., Devreese, B., & Wouters, B. G. (2008). The mTOR target 4E-BP1 contributes to differential protein expression during normoxia and hypoxia through changes in mRNA translation efficiency. *Proteomics, 8*(5), 1019-1028. doi:10.1002/pmic.200700551
- Maltepe, E., Schmidt, J. V., Baunoch, D., Bradfield, C. A., & Simon, M. C. (1997). Abnormal angiogenesis and responses to glucose and oxygen deprivation in mice lacking the protein ARNT. *Nature*, 386(6623), 403-407.
- Marino, S., Hoogervoorst, D., Brandner, S., & Berns, A. (2003). Rb and p107 are required for normal cerebellar development and granule cell survival but not for purkinje cell persistence. *Development (Cambridge, England), 130*(15), 3359-3368.
- Marino, S., Vooijs, M., van Der Gulden, H., Jonkers, J., & Berns, A. (2000). Induction of medulloblastomas in p53-null mutant mice by somatic inactivation of rb in the external granular layer cells of the cerebellum. *Genes & Development, 14*(8), 994-1004.
- Maxwell, P. H., Dachs, G. U., Gleadle, J. M., Nicholls, L. G., Harris, A. L., Stratford, I. J., Hankison, O., Pugh, C. W., & Ratcliffe, P. J. (1997). Hypoxia-inducible factor-1 modulates gene expression in solid tumors and influences both angiogenesis and tumor growth. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(15), 8104-8109.
- Maxwell, P. H., Wiesener, M. S., Chang, G. W., Clifford, S. C., Vaux, E. C., Cockman, M. E., Wykoff, C. C., Pugh, C. W., Maher, E. R., & Ratcliffe, P. J. (1999). The tumour suppressor protein VHL targets hypoxia-inducible factors for oxygen-dependent proteolysis. *Nature*, 399(6733), 271-275.
- Mayhew, C. N., Bosco, E. E., Fox, S. R., Okaya, T., Tarapore, P., Schwemberger, S. J., Babcock, G. F., Lentsch, A. B., Fukasawa, K., & Knudsen, E. S. (2005). Liverspecific pRB loss results in ectopic cell cycle entry and aberrant ploidy. *Cancer Research*, 65(11), 4568-4577.
- Maynard, M. A., Evans, A. J., Hosomi, T., Hara, S., Jewett, M. A., & Ohh, M. (2005). Human HIF3alpha4 is a dominant-negative regulator of HIF1 and is downregulated in renal cell carcinoma. *The FASEB Journal : Official Publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, 19*(11), 1396-1406.

- Maynard, M. A., Qi, H., Chung, J., Lee, E. H., Kondo, Y., Hara, S., Conaway, R. C., & Ohh, M. (2003). Multiple splice variants of the human HIF3 alpha locus are targets of the von hippel-lindau E3 ubiquitin ligase complex. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *278*(13), 11032-11040. doi:10.1074/jbc.M208681200
- Mendez, M. G., Kojima, S., & Goldman, R. D. (2010). vimentin induces changes in cell shape, motility, and adhesion during the epithelial to mesenchymal transition. *FASEB Journal : Official Publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, 24*(6), 1838-1851.
- Meuwissen, R., Linn, S. C., Linnoila, R. I., Zevenhoven, J., Mooi, W. J., & Berns, A. (2003). Induction of small cell lung cancer by somatic inactivation of both Trp53 and Rb1 in a conditional mouse model. *Cancer Cell*, *4*(3), 181-189.
- Mitchell, J. A., & Yochim, J. M. (1968). Intrauterine oxygen tension during the estrous cycle in the rat: Its relation to uterine respiration and vascular activity. *Endocrinology*, *83*(4), 701-705.
- Mizuno, S., Kurosawa, T., Matsumoto, K., Mizuno-Horikawa, Y., Okamoto, M., & Nakamura, T. (1998). Hepatocyte growth factor prevents renal fibrosis and dysfunction in a mouse model of chronic renal disease. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation, 101*(9), 1827-1834.
- Moll, R., Mitze, M., Frixen, U. H., & Birchmeier, W. (1993). Differential loss of E-cadherin expression in infiltrating ductal and lobular breast carcinomas. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 143(6), 1731-1742.
- Moran, E. (1993). Interaction of adenoviral proteins with pRB and p53. *FASEB Journal :* Official Publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, 7(10), 880-885.
- Morris, L., Allen, K. E., & La Thangue, N. B. (2000). Regulation of E2F transcription by cyclin E-Cdk2 kinase mediated through p300/CBP co-activators. *Nature Cell Biology*, 2(4), 232-239.
- Muller, A., Homey, B., Soto, H., Ge, N., Catron, D., Buchanan, M. E., McClanahan, T., Murphy, E., Yuan, W., Wagner, S. N., Barrera, J. L., Mohar, A., Verastegui, E., & Zlotnik, A. (2001). Involvement of chemokine receptors in breast cancer metastasis. *Nature, 410*(6824), 50-56.
- Murakami, J., Nagai, N., Ohama, K., Tahara, H., & Ide, T. (1997). Telomerase activity in ovarian tumors. *Cancer, 80*(6), 1085-1092.
- Nagy, J. A., Chang, S. H., Shih, S. C., Dvorak, A. M., & Dvorak, H. F. (2010). Heterogeneity of the tumor vasculature. *Seminars in Thrombosis and Hemostasis*, *36*(3), 321-331.

- Narita, M., Nunez, S., Heard, E., Narita, M., Lin, A. W., Hearn, S. A., Spector, D. L., Hannon, G. J., & Lowe, S. W. (2003). Rb-mediated heterochromatin formation and silencing of E2F target genes during cellular senescence. *Cell, 113*(6), 703-716.
- Nielsen, S. J., Schneider, R., Bauer, U. M., Bannister, A. J., Morrison, A., O'Carroll, D., Firestein, R., Clearly, M., Jenuwein, T., Herrera, R. E., & Kouzarides, T. (2001). Rb targets histone H3 methylation and HP1 to promoters. *Nature*, *412*(6846), 561-565.
- O'Byrne, K. J., & Dalgleish, A. G. (2001). Chronic immune activation and inflammation as the cause of malignancy. *British Journal of Cancer, 85*(4), 473-483.
- Oka, H., Shiozaki, H., Kobayashi, K., Inoue, M., Tahara, H., Kobayashi, T., Takatsuka, Y., Matsuyoshi, N., Hirano, S., Takeichi, M., & Mori, T. (1993). Expression of Ecadherin cell adhesion molecules in human breast cancer tissues and its relationship to metastasis. *Cancer Research*, *53*(7), 1696-1701.
- Okino, S. T., Chichester, C. H., & Whitlock, J. P., Jr. (1998). Hypoxia-inducible mammalian gene expression analyzed in vivo at a TATA-driven promoter and at an initiator-driven promoter. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *273*(37), 23837-23843.
- Osthus, S., Shim, H., Kim, S., Li, Q., Reddy, R., Mukherjee, M., Xu, Y., Wonsey, D., Lee, L. A., & Dang, C. V. (2000) Deregulation of glucose transporter 1 and glycolytic gene expression by c-Myc. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry.* 275, 21797-21800.
- Ozawa, M., & Kemler, R. (1992). Molecular organization of the uvomorulin-catenin complex. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, *116*(4), 989-996.
- Paez-Ribes, M., Allen, E., Hudock, J., Takeda, T., Okuyama, H., Vinals, F., Inoue, M., Berges, G., Hanahan, D., & Casanovas, O. (2009). Antiangiogenic therapy elicits malignant progression of tumors to increased local invasion and distant metastasis. *Cancer Cell*, 15(3), 220-231.
- Page-McCaw, A., Ewald, A. J., & Werb, Z. (2007). Matrix metalloproteinases and the regulation of tissue remodelling. *Nature Reviews.Molecular Cell Biology*, 8(3), 221-233.
- Pander, J., Heusinkveld, M., van der Straaten, T., Jordanova, E. S., Baak-Pablo, R., Gelderblom, H., Morreau, H., van der Burg, S. H., Guchelaar, H. J., & van Hall, T. (2011). Activation of tumor-promoting type 2 macrophages by EGFR-targeting antibody cetuximab. *Clinical Cancer Research : An Official Journal of the American Association for Cancer Research, 17*(17), 5668-5673.
- Parast, C. V., Mroczkowski, B., Pinko, C., Misialek, S., Khambatta, G., & Appelt, K. (1998). Characterization and kinetic mechanism of catalytic domain of human vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 tyrosine kinase (VEGFR2 TK), a key enzyme in angiogenesis. *Biochemistry*, *37*(47), 16788-16801.

- Partanen, J. I., Nieminen, A. I., & Klefstrom, J. (2009). 3D view to tumor suppression: Lkb1, polarity and the arrest of oncogenic c-myc. *Cell Cycle (Georgetown, Tex.), 8*(5), 716-724.
- Partch, C. L., Card, P. B., Amezcua, C. A., & Gardner, K. H. (2009). Molecular basis of coiled coil coactivator recruitment by the aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator (ARNT). *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 284(22), 15184-15192.
- Pepper, M. S. (2001). Role of the matrix metalloproteinase and plasminogen activatorplasmin systems in angiogenesis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 21*(7), 1104-1117.
- Perez-Moreno, M. A., Locascio, A., Rodrigo, I., Dhondt, G., Portillo, F., Nieto, M. A., & Cano, A. (2001). A new role for E12/E47 in the repression of E-cadherin expression and epithelial-mesenchymal transitions. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *276*(29), 27424-27431.
- Perl, A. K., Wilgenbus, P., Dahl, U., Semb, H., & Christofori, G. (1998). A causal role for E-cadherin in the transition from adenoma to carcinoma. *Nature*, 392(6672), 190-193.
- Pernet-Gallay, K., Antony, C., Johannes, L., Bornens, M., Goud, B., & Rios, R. M. (2002). The over-expression of GMAP-210 blocks anterograde and retrograde transport between the ER and the golgi apparatus. *Traffic (Copenhagen, Denmark), 3*(11), 822-832.
- Perona, R. (2006). Cell signalling: Growth factors and tyrosine kinase receptors. *Clinical* & *Translational Oncology : Official Publication of the Federation of Spanish Oncology Societies and of the National Cancer Institute of Mexico, 8*(2), 77-82.
- Pietilainen, T., Lipponen, P., Aaltomaa, S., Eskelinen, M., Kosma, V. M., & Syrjanen, K. (1995). Expression of retinoblastoma gene protein (rb) in breast cancer as related to established prognostic factors and survival. *European Journal of Cancer (Oxford, England : 1990), 31A*(3), 329-333.
- Puri, P. L., Iezzi, S., Stiegler, P., Chen, T. T., Schiltz, R. L., Muscat, G. E., Giordano, A., Kedes, L., Wang, J. Y., & Sartorelli, V. (2001). Class I histone deacetylases sequentially interact with MyoD and pRb during skeletal myogenesis. *Molecular Cell, 8*(4), 885-897.
- Rafii, S., Avecilla, S., Shmelkov, S., Shido, K., Tejada, R., Moore, M. A., Heissig, B., & Hattori, K. (2003). Angiogenic factors reconstitute hematopoiesis by recruiting stem cells from bone marrow microenvironment. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 996*, 49-60.
- Ramos-Morales, F., Vime, C., Bornens, M., Fedriani, C., & Rios, R. M. (2001). Two splice variants of golgi-microtubule-associated protein of 210 kDa (GMAP-210) differ in their binding to the cis-golgi network. *The Biochemical Journal, 357*(Pt 3), 699-708.

- Rasbridge, S. A., Gillett, C. E., Sampson, S. A., Walsh, F. S., & Millis, R. R. (1993). Epithelial (E-) and placental (P-) cadherin cell adhesion molecule expression in breast carcinoma. *The Journal of Pathology*, *169*(2), 245-250.
- Raval, R. R., Lau, K. W., Tran, M. G., Sowter, H. M., Mandriota, S. J., Li, J. L., Pugh, C. W., Maxwell, P. H., Harris, A. L., & Ratcliffe, P. J. (2005). Contrasting properties of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (HIF1) and HIF2 in von hippel-lindau-associated renal cell carcinoma. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 25(13), 5675-5686.
- Reiman, J. M., Knutson, K. L., & Radisky, D. C. (2010). Immune promotion of epithelialmesenchymal transition and generation of breast cancer stem cells. *Cancer Research, 70*(8), 3005-3008.
- Rhim, A. D., Mirek, E. T., Aiello, N. M., Maitra, A., Bailey, J. M., McAllister, F., Reichert, M., Beatty, G. L., Rustgi, A. K., Vonderheide, R. H., Leach, S. D., & Stanger, B. Z. (2012). EMT and dissemination precede pancreatic tumor formation. *Cell*, *148*(1-2), 349-361. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.11.025
- Rhodes, L. V., Antoon, J. W., Muir, S. E., Elliott, S., Beckman, B. S., & Burow, M. E. (2010). Effects of human mesenchymal stem cells on ER-positive human breast carcinoma cells mediated through ER-SDF-1/CXCR4 crosstalk. *Molecular Cancer, 9*, 295.
- Ribatti, D. (2009). Endogenous inhibitors of angiogenesis: A historical review. *Leukemia Research, 33*(5), 638-644.
- Riddle, S. R., Ahmad, A., Ahmad, S., Deeb, S. S., Malkki, M., Schneider, B. K., Allen, C. B, & White, C. W. (2000). Hypoxia induces hexokinase II gene expression in human lung cell line A549. *American Journal of Physiology.Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology*, 278(2), L407-16.
- Rios, R. M., Tassin, A. M., Celati, C., Antony, C., Boissier, M. C., Homberg, J. C., & Bornens, M. (1994). A peripheral protein associated with the cis-golgi network redistributes in the intermediate compartment upon brefeldin A treatment. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 125(5), 997-1013.
- Robertson, K. D., Ait-Si-Ali, S., Yokochi, T., Wade, P. A., Jones, P. L., & Wolffe, A. P. (2000). DNMT1 forms a complex with rb, E2F1 and HDAC1 and represses transcription from E2F-responsive promoters. *Nature Genetics*, *25*(3), 338-342.
- Rodriguez, J. L., Gelpi, C., Thomson, T. M., Real, F. J., & Fernandez, J. (1982). Antigolgi complex autoantibodies in a patient with sjogren syndrome and lymphoma. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology, 49*(3), 579-586.
- Rodriguez-Manzaneque, J. C., Lane, T. F., Ortega, M. A., Hynes, R. O., Lawler, J., & Iruela-Arispe, M. L. (2001). Thrombospondin-1 suppresses spontaneous tumor growth and inhibits activation of matrix metalloproteinase-9 and mobilization of vascular endothelial growth factor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 98*(22), 12485-12490.

- Rolfs, A., Kvietikova, I., Gassmann, M., & Wenger, R. H. (1997). Oxygen-regulated transferrin expression is mediated by hypoxia-inducible factor-1. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(32), 20055-20062.
- Romano, L. A., & Runyan, R. B. (2000). Slug is an essential target of TGFbeta2 signaling in the developing chicken heart. *Developmental Biology, 223*(1), 91-102.
- Ross, J. F., Liu, X., & Dynlacht, B. D. (1999). Mechanism of transcriptional repression of E2F by the retinoblastoma tumor suppressor protein. *Molecular Cell*, 3(2), 195-205.
- Ruijtenbeek, K., le Noble, F. A., Janssen, G. M., Kessels, C. G., Fazzi, G. E., Blanco, C. E., & De Mey, J. G. (2000). Chronic hypoxia stimulates periarterial sympathetic nerve development in chicken embryo. *Circulation, 102*(23), 2892-2897.
- Ryan, H. E., Lo, J., & Johnson, R. S. (1998). HIF1 alpha is required for solid tumor formation and embryonic vascularization. *The EMBO Journal*, *17*(11), 3005-3015.
- Santilli, G., Lamorte, G., Carlessi, L., Ferrari, D., Rota Nodari, L., Binda, E., Delia, D., Vescovi, A. L., & De Filippis, L. (2010). Mild hypoxia enhances proliferation and multipotency of human neural stem cells. *PloS One, 5*(1), e8575.
- Schuster, S. J., Wilson, J. H., Erslev, A. J., & Caro, J. (1987). Physiologic regulation and tissue localization of renal erythropoietin messenger RNA. *Blood, 70*(1), 316-318.
- Seim, J., Graff, P., Amellem, O., Landsverk, K. S., Stokke, T., & Pettersen, E. O. (2003). Hypoxia-induced irreversible S-phase arrest involves down-regulation of cyclin A. *Cell Proliferation*, 36(6), 321-332.
- Selvakumaran, M., Lin, H. K., Miyashita, T., Wang, H. G., Krajewski, S., Reed, J. C., Hoffman, B., & Liebermann, D. (1994). Immediate early up-regulation of bax expression by p53 but not TGF beta 1: A paradigm for distinct apoptotic pathways. *Oncogene*, 9(6), 1791-1798.
- Semenza, G. L. (1999). Regulation of mammalian O2 homeostasis by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology*, *15*, 551-578.
- Semenza, G. L., Jiang, B. H., Leung, S. W., Passantino, R., Concordet, J. P., Maire, P., & Giallongo, A. (1996). Hypoxia response elements in the aldolase A, enolase 1, and lactate dehydrogenase A gene promoters contain essential binding sites for hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(51), 32529-32537.
- Semenza, G. L., Roth, P. H., Fang, H. M., & Wang, G. L. (1994). Transcriptional regulation of genes encoding glycolytic enzymes by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 269(38), 23757-23763.

- Semenza, G. L., & Wang, G. L. (1992). A nuclear factor induced by hypoxia via de novo protein synthesis binds to the human erythropoietin gene enhancer at a site required for transcriptional activation. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 12(12), 5447-5454.
- Shim, J., Park, H. S., Kim, M. J., Park, J., Park, E., Cho, S. G., Eom, S. J., Lee, H. W., Joe, C. O., & Choi, E. J. (2000). Rb protein down-regulates the stress-activated signals through inhibiting c-jun N-terminal kinase/stress-activated protein kinase. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(19), 14107-14111.
- Shojaei, F., Wu, X., Zhong, C., Yu, L., Liang, X. H., Yao, J., Blanchard, D., Bais, C., Peale, F. V., van Bruggen, N., Ho, C., Ross, J., Tan, M., Carano, R. A., Meng, Y. G. & Ferrara, N. (2007). Bv8 regulates myeloid-cell-dependent tumour angiogenesis. *Nature*, 450(7171), 825-831.
- Shweiki, D., Itin, A., Soffer, D., & Keshet, E. (1992). Vascular endothelial growth factor induced by hypoxia may mediate hypoxia-initiated angiogenesis. *Nature*, 359(6398), 843-845.
- Simon, M. C., & Keith, B. (2008). The role of oxygen availability in embryonic development and stem cell function. *Nature Reviews.Molecular Cell Biology*, *9*(4), 285-296.
- Singh, M., Krajewski, M., Mikolajka, A., & Holak, T. A. (2005). Molecular determinants for the complex formation between the retinoblastoma protein and LXCXE sequences. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(45), 37868-37876.
- Singh, P., Coe, J., & Hong, W. (1995). A role for retinoblastoma protein in potentiating transcriptional activation by the glucocorticoid receptor. *Nature*, 374(6522), 562-565.
- Slack, R. S., El-Bizri, H., Wong, J., Belliveau, D. J., & Miller, F. D. (1998). A critical temporal requirement for the retinoblastoma protein family during neuronal determination. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 140(6), 1497-1509.
- Smith, E. J., Leone, G., & Nevins, J. R. (1998). Distinct mechanisms control the accumulation of the rb-related p107 and p130 proteins during cell growth. *Cell Growth & Differentiation : The Molecular Biology Journal of the American Association for Cancer Research*, 9(4), 297-303.
- Smits, P., Bolton, A. D., Funari, V., Hong, M., Boyden, E. D., Lu, L., Manning, D. K., Dwyer, N. D., Moran, J. L., Prysak, M., Merriman, B., Nelson, S. F., Bonafe, L., Superti-Furga, A., Ikegawa, S., Krakow, D., Cohn, D. H., Kirchhausen, T., Warman, M. L., & Beier, D. R. (2010). Lethal skeletal dysplasia in mice and humans lacking the golgin GMAP-210. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 362(3), 206-216.
- Sommerfeld, H. J., Meeker, A. K., Piatyszek, M. A., Bova, G. S., Shay, J. W., & Coffey, D. S. (1996). Telomerase activity: A prevalent marker of malignant human prostate tissue. *Cancer Research*, *56*(1), 218-222.

- Sowter, H. M., Ratcliffe, P. J., Watson, P., Greenberg, A. H., & Harris, A. L. (2001). HIF1-dependent regulation of hypoxic induction of the cell death factors BNIP3 and NIX in human tumors. *Cancer Research*, *61*(18), 6669-6673.
- Staller, P., Sulitkova, J., Lisztwan, J., Moch, H., Oakeley, E. J., & Krek, W. (2003). Chemokine receptor CXCR4 down-regulated by von hippel-lindau tumour suppressor pVHL. *Nature*, 425(6955), 307-311.
- Stanelle, J., Stiewe, T., Theseling, C. C., Peter, M., & Putzer, B. M. (2002). Gene expression changes in response to E2F1 activation. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 30(8), 1859-1867.
- Stead, E., White, J., Faast, R., Conn, S., Goldstone, S., Rathjen, J., Walker, D., & Dalton, S. (2002). Pluripotent cell division cycles are driven by ectopic Cdk2, cyclin A/E and E2F activities. *Oncogene*, 21(54), 8320-8333.
- Sudhakar, A., Sugimoto, H., Yang, C., Lively, J., Zeisberg, M., & Kalluri, R. (2003). Human tumstatin and human endostatin exhibit distinct antiangiogenic activities mediated by alpha v beta 3 and alpha 5 beta 1 integrins. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 100*(8), 4766-4771.
- Suri, C., McClain, J., Thurston, G., McDonald, D. M., Zhou, H., Oldmixon, E. H., Sato, T. N., & Yancopoulos, G. D. (1998). Increased vascularization in mice overexpressing angiopoietin-1. *Science (New York, N.Y.), 282*(5388), 468-471.
- Swanson, H. I., Chan, W. K., & Bradfield, C. A. (1995). DNA binding specificities and pairing rules of the ah receptor, ARNT, and SIM proteins. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 270(44), 26292-26302.
- Tacchini, L., Bianchi, L., Bernelli-Zazzera, A., & Cairo, G. (1999). Transferrin receptor induction by hypoxia. HIF1-mediated transcriptional activation and cell-specific post-transcriptional regulation. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(34), 24142-24146.
- Takahata, S., Sogawa, K., Kobayashi, A., Ema, M., Mimura, J., Ozaki, N., & Fujii-Kuriyama, Y. (1998). Transcriptionally active heterodimer formation of an arntlike PAS protein, Arnt3, with HIF1a, HLF, and clock. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 248*(3), 789-794.
- Talks, K. L., Turley, H., Gatter, K. C., Maxwell, P. H., Pugh, C. W., Ratcliffe, P. J., & Harris, A. L. (2000). The expression and distribution of the hypoxia-inducible factors HIF1alpha and HIF2alpha in normal human tissues, cancers, and tumor-associated macrophages. *The American Journal of Pathology*, *157*(2), 411-421.
- Tanaka, K., Hayashi, H., Hamada, C., Khoury, G., & Jay, G. (1986). Expression of major histocompatibility complex class I antigens as a strategy for the potentiation of immune recognition of tumor cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 83*(22), 8723-8727.

- Tannock, I. F. (1972). Oxygen diffusion and the distribution of cellular radiosensitivity in tumours. *The British Journal of Radiology, 45*(535), 515-524.
- Tenbaum, S. P., Juenemann, S., Schlitt, T., Bernal, J., Renkawitz, R., Munoz, A., & Baniahmad, A. (2003). Alien/CSN2 gene expression is regulated by thyroid hormone in rat brain. *Developmental Biology*, 254(1), 149-160.
- Tenbaum, S. P., Papaioannou, M., Reeb, C. A., Goeman, F., Escher, N., Kob, R., von Eggeling, F., Melle, C., & Baniahmad, A. (2007). Alien inhibits E2F1 gene expression and cell proliferation. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta*, *1773*(9), 1447-1454.
- Thiery, J. P. (2002). Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in tumour progression. *Nature Reviews.Cancer*, 2(6), 442-454.
- Thiery, J. P., & Sleeman, J. P. (2006). Complex networks orchestrate epithelialmesenchymal transitions. *Nature Reviews.Molecular Cell Biology*, 7(2), 131-142.
- Tian, H., McKnight, S. L., & Russell, D. W. (1997). Endothelial PAS domain protein 1 (EPAS1), a transcription factor selectively expressed in endothelial cells. *Genes* & *Development*, 11(1), 72-82.
- Tissot van Patot, M. C., Bendrick-Peart, J., Beckey, V. E., Serkova, N., & Zwerdlinger, L. (2004). Greater vascularity, lowered HIF1/DNA binding, and elevated GSH as markers of adaptation to in vivo chronic hypoxia. *American Journal of Physiology.Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology, 287*(3), L525-32.
- Tomita, S., Ueno, M., Sakamoto, M., Kitahama, Y., Ueki, M., Maekawa, N., Sakamoto, H., Gassmann, M., Kageyama, R., Udea, N., Gonzalez, F. J., & Takahama, Y. (2003). Defective brain development in mice lacking the HIF1alpha gene in neural cells. *Molecular and Cellular Biology, 23*(19), 6739-6749.
- Tzouvelekis, A., Harokopos, V., Paparountas, T., Oikonomou, N., Chatziioannou, A., Vilaras, G., . . . Aidinis, V. (2007). Comparative expression profiling in pulmonary fibrosis suggests a role of hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha in disease pathogenesis. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 176(11), 1108-1119.
- Vousden, K. (1993). Interactions of human papillomavirus transforming proteins with the products of tumor suppressor genes. *FASEB Journal : Official Publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, 7*(10), 872-879.
- Vuoriluoto, K., Haugen, H., Kiviluoto, S., Mpindi, J. P., Nevo, J., Gjerdrum, C., Tiron, C., Lorens, J. B., & Ivaska, J. (2011). vimentin regulates EMT induction by slug and oncogenic H-ras and migration by governing axl expression in breast cancer. *Oncogene, 30*(12), 1436-1448.

- Walkley, C. R., Qudsi, R., Sankaran, V. G., Perry, J. A., Gostissa, M., Roth, S. I., Rodda S. J., Snay, E., Dunning, P., Fahey, F. H., Alt, F. W., McMahon, A. P., & Orkin, S. H. (2008). Conditional mouse osteosarcoma, dependent on p53 loss and potentiated by loss of rb, mimics the human disease. *Genes & Development*, 22(12), 1662-1676.
- Wang, F., Shi, S., Zhang, R., & Hankinson, O. (2006). Identifying target genes of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator (arnt) using DNA microarray analysis. *Biological Chemistry*, 387(9), 1215-1218.
- Wang, F., Zhang, R., Beischlag, T. V., Muchardt, C., Yaniv, M., & Hankinson, O. (2004). Roles of brahma and Brahma/SWI2-related gene 1 in hypoxic induction of the erythropoietin gene. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(45), 46733-46741.
- Wang, F., Zhang, R., Wu, X., & Hankinson, O. (2010). Roles of coactivators in hypoxic induction of the erythropoietin gene. *PloS One, 5*(4), e10002.
- Wang, G. L., Jiang, B. H., Rue, E. A., & Semenza, G. L. (1995). Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 is a basic-helix-loop-helix-PAS heterodimer regulated by cellular O2 tension. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 92*(12), 5510-5514.
- Wang, G. L., & Semenza, G. L. (1993). General involvement of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 in transcriptional response to hypoxia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 90(9), 4304-4308.
- Wang, J., Sridurongrit, S., Dudas, M., Thomas, P., Nagy, A., Schneider, M. D., Epstein, J. A., & Kaartinen, V. (2005). Atrioventricular cushion transformation is mediated by ALK2 in the developing mouse heart. *Developmental Biology*, 286(1), 299-310.
- Wang, Y., Wan, C., Deng, L., Liu, X., Cao, X., Gilbert, S. R., Bouxsein, M. L., Faugere, M. C., Guldberg, R. E., Gerstenfeld, L. C., Haase, V. H., Johnson, R. S., Schipani, E., & Clemens, T. L. (2007). The hypoxia-inducible factor alpha pathway couples angiogenesis to osteogenesis during skeletal development. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *117*(6), 1616-1626.
- Weiskopf, R. B., Viele, M. K., Feiner, J., Kelley, S., Lieberman, J., Noorani, M., Leung, J. M., Fisher, D. M., Murray, W. R., Toy, P., & Moore, M. A. (1998). Human cardiovascular and metabolic response to acute, severe isovolemic anemia. *JAMA : The Journal of the American Medical Association, 279*(3), 217-221.
- Welsh, S., Williams, R., Kirkpatrick, L., Paine-Murrieta, G., & Powis, G. (2004). Antitumor activity and pharmacodynamic properties of PX-478, an inhibitor of hypoxiainducible factor-1alpha. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics, 3*(3), 233-244.
- Wenger, R. H., Stiehl, D. P., & Camenisch, G. (2005). Integration of oxygen signaling at the consensus HRE. Science's STKE : Signal Transduction Knowledge Environment, 2005(306), re12.

- White, J., Stead, E., Faast, R., Conn, S., Cartwright, P., & Dalton, S. (2005). Developmental activation of the rb-E2F pathway and establishment of cell cycleregulated cyclin-dependent kinase activity during embryonic stem cell differentiation. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 16(4), 2018-2027.
- Whitelaw, M. L., Gustafsson, J. A., & Poellinger, L. (1994). Identification of transactivation and repression functions of the dioxin receptor and its basic helixloop-helix/PAS partner factor arnt: Inducible versus constitutive modes of regulation. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 14(12), 8343-8355.
- Wiesener, M. S., Jurgensen, J. S., Rosenberger, C., Scholze, C. K., Horstrup, J. H., Warnecke, C., Mandriota, S., Bechmann, I., Frei, U. A., Pugh, C. W., Ratcliffe, P. J., Bachmann, S., Maxwell, P. H., & Eckardt, K. U. (2003). Widespread hypoxiainducible expression of HIF2alpha in distinct cell populations of different organs. *The FASEB Journal : Official Publication of the Federation of American Societies* for Experimental Biology, 17(2), 271-273.
- Yalcin, A., Telang, S., Clem, B., & Chesney, J. (2009). Regulation of glucose metabolism by 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase/fructose-2,6-bisphosphatases in cancer. *Experimental and molecular pathology*, 86, 174-179.
- Yamaguchi, T. P., Harpal, K., Henkemeyer, M., & Rossant, J. (1994). Fgfr-1 is required for embryonic growth and mesodermal patterning during mouse gastrulation. *Genes & Development, 8*(24), 3032-3044.
- Yang, M. H., Wu, M. Z., Chiou, S. H., Chen, P. M., Chang, S. Y., Liu, C. J., Teng, S. C., & Wu, K. J. (2008). Direct regulation of TWIST by HIF1alpha promotes metastasis. *Nature Cell Biology*, *10*(3), 295-305.
- Yoshida, D., Kim, K., Noha, M., & Teramoto, A. (2006). Hypoxia inducible factor 1-alpha regulates of platelet derived growth factor-B in human glioblastoma cells. *Journal of Neuro-Oncology*, *76*(1), 13-21.
- Yu, A. Y., Shimoda, L. A., Iyer, N. V., Huso, D. L., Sun, X., McWilliams, R., Beaty, T., Sham, J. S., Wiener, C. M., Sylvester, J. T., & Semenza, G. L. (1999). Impaired physiological responses to chronic hypoxia in mice partially deficient for hypoxiainducible factor 1alpha. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 103(5), 691-696.
- Zhang, H. S., Gavin, M., Dahiya, A., Postigo, A. A., Ma, D., Luo, R. X., Harbour, J. W., & Dean, D. C. (2000). Exit from G1 and S phase of the cell cycle is regulated by repressor complexes containing HDAC-rb-hSWI/SNF and rb-hSWI/SNF. *Cell*, 101(1), 79-89.
- Zhong, H., De Marzo, A. M., Laughner, E., Lim, M., Hilton, D. A., Zagzag, D., Buechler, P., Isaacs, W. B., Semenza, G. L., & Simons, J. W. (1999). Over-expression of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha in common human cancers and their metastases. *Cancer Research*, 59(22), 5830-5835.

- Zhou, Y. N., Xu, C. P., Han, B., Li, M., Qiao, L., Fang, D. C., & Yang, J. M. (2002). Expression of E-cadherin and beta-catenin in gastric carcinoma and its correlation with the clinicopathological features and patient survival. World Journal of Gastroenterology : WJG, 8(6), 987-993.
- Zhu, K., Chan, W., Heymach, J., Wilkinson, M., & McConkey, D. J. (2009). Control of HIF1alpha expression by eIF2 alpha phosphorylation-mediated translational repression. *Cancer Research*, 69(5), 1836-1843.
- Ziche, M., Maglione, D., Ribatti, D., Morbidelli, L., Lago, C. T., Battisti, M., Paoletti, I., Barra, A., Tucci, M., Parise, G., Vincenti, V., Granger, H. J., Viglietto, G., & Persico, M. G. (1997). Placenta growth factor-1 is chemotactic, mitogenic, and angiogenic. *Laboratory Investigation; a Journal of Technical Methods and Pathology, 76*(4), 517-531.
- Zondor, S. D., & Medina, P. J. (2004). Bevacizumab: An angiogenesis inhibitor with efficacy in colorectal and other malignancies. *The Annals of Pharmacotherapy*, *38*(7-8), 1258-1264.

Appendices

Appendix A.

Multiple cloning site of the pGEX-5X-1 vector.



Appendix B.

RB attenuates **TRIP230-mediated co-activation of ARNT-dependent transcriptional activity. (A)** A schematic of the TRIP230 Δ RB mutant. **(B)** RB-negative Hepa-1 cells and **(C)** RB-positive MCF7 cells were transfected with a hypoxia responsive 4xHRE-driven luciferase construct as a reporter and subjected to 1% O₂ for 24 h. Whole cell lysates were assayed for luciferase activity. *p<0.05. (This work was completed by other members of the Beischlag lab and used with permission from Dr. Timothy Beishclag)



С



Appendix C.

Loss of RB promotes hypoxia-dependent invasiveness in MCF7 cells in a matrigel invasion assay. MCF7 cells were transfected with siSCX or siRB as described in the Materials and Methods section. Twenty-four hours after siRNA transfection, the cells were trypsinized, resuspended and subjected to the matrigel invasion assay. The plates were incubated in normoxia (20%O₂) or hypoxia (2% O₂) at 37°C for 24 h (A) Photomicrographs of matrigel-embedded MCF7 cells and (B) numerical representation of relative invasion under varying conditions. (C) Knock-down of RB in MCF7 cells does not alter cell proliferation in response to hypoxia. Cells were transfected with siRNA as described above. Twenty-four h after transfection, cells were treated with vehicle or 100 μ M CoCl₂ to activate HIF1 α . * p < 0.01. (This work was completed by other members of the Beischlag lab and used with permission from Dr. Timothy Beishclag)



Appendix D.

HIF1 α , ARNT, TRIP230, RB and RB-associated repressor proteins occupy hypoxia responsive regulatory regions of HIF1-regulated genes is a hypoxia-dependent fashion. (A) A schematic of the VEGF proximal promoter and EPO enhancer and the placement of oligonucleotides used for PCR amplification. (B) The status of HIF1 α , ARNT, TRIP230, and RB at the VEGF promoter and EPO enhancer in MCF7 cells as assayed by chromatin immunoprecipitation assay (ChIP) and PCR. (C) Sequential ChIP of the proximal VEGF promoter and EPO enhancer using either anti-HIF1 α or anti-ARNT affinity purified antibodies followed by immunoprecipitation with anti-TRIP230 and anti-RB antibodies. (D) ChIP of RB-repressor complex proteins in MCF7 cells. (This work was completed by other members of the Beischlag lab and used with permission from Dr. Timothy Beishclag)



Appendix E.

An ARNT-interacting peptide inhibits siRB-mediated hypoxia-dependent invasiveness in MCF7 cells in a matrigel invasion assay. MCF7 cells were transfected with siSCX or siRB and the TRIP1584 ARNT-interacting peptide. Twenty-four hours after siRNA transfection, the cells were trypsinized, resuspended and subjected to the matrigel invasion assay. The plates were incubated in normoxia $(20\%O_2)$ or hypoxia $(2\% O_2)$ at 37° C for 24 h. The graph represents a numerical representation of relative invasion under varying conditions. (This work was completed by other members of the Beischlag lab and used with permission from Dr. Timothy Beishclag)

